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STATEMENT OF RESPONSIBILITY

This document contains accurate and complete information on the business development of Sociedad Minera El 
Brocal S.A.A. during 2016.

Without prejudice to the issuer’s liability, the undersigned assumes responsibility for the contents hereof in accordance 
with applicable legal provisions.

Gonzalo Eyzaguirre Tejeda
GENERAL MANAGER

Lima, February 14, 2017.
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El Brocal is a modern mining and metallurgical company that profitably operates its 
investments and has extensive resources and ore reserves to guarantee its medium- and 
long-term sustainability and growth based on new mining operations, all conducted with 
responsibility towards the environment and the communities where it operates.

Produce ore and metal concentrates while creating value for its shareholders.  Engage in 
exploration activities, ensuring continuity in the ore mining process and creating 
development opportunities for our associates and the communities in which we operate. 
Maintain our commitment to operate and develop our projects with innovation, 
effectiveness, safety, social and environmental responsibility, and good corporate 
governance.

VISION

MISSION
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OUR VALUES
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INTEGRITY 
To engage in our activities with moral rectitude and honesty.

RESPECT 
To build our relationship with stakeholders and ensure environmental conservation.

LOYALTY 
To strengthen our commitment to the company and its members.

HARD WORK 
To perform tasks diligently and go beyond what is indispensable, required or the minimum necessary.

HONESTY 
To act and communicate honestly and consistently, upholding justice and truth.

TRANSPARENCY
To report objectively and in a timely manner about our activities.

SOLIDARITY 
To contribute to the sustainable development of the communities where we operate.
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Pursuant to the Bylaws of Sociedad Minera El Brocal S.A.A., the Board of Directors is composed of fifteen members, 
elected by the shareholders at a General Shareholders Meeting for a period of two years.

CHAIRMAN
Ortiz de Zevallos, Felipe    

VICE-CHAIRMAN    
Morales Dasso, José Miguel   

DIRECTORS 
Arias López, Jesús Alberto   (Until 17/03/2016)

Benavides Ganoza, Raúl
Benavides Ganoza, Roque
Brazzini Diaz-Ufano, Alfonso
De Aliaga Fernandini, Agustín
De Aliaga de Iglesias, Iris
Fernandini Bohlin, Elías Petrus
Fernandini Valle-Riestra, Jorge Pablo
Gálvez Pinillos, Carlos Ernesto
Gonzáles Galindo, Igor Alcides                      
Hermoza Maraví, Alejandro   (Since 17/03/2016)

Olaechea Álvarez-Calderón, José Antonio
Rodrigo Prado, Luis Carlos
Rodriguez Calle, Humberto

In compliance with the provisions in the Corporate Bylaws, we hereby submit this Annual Report and the Financial 
Statements for the year 2016 to the consideration of the Board of Directors and the General Shareholders Meeting.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
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Dear Shareholders, 

During the year under review, Sociedad Minera El Brocal S.A.A. reached its 60th anniversary.  According to studies on 
company longevity, 40% of companies do not reach their first decade.  Turning sixty, then, denotes that our mission, our 
culture and our management and governance have proven to be valuable and that we have been able to face multiple 
challenges with imagination and perseverance.

The year 2016 was laden with surprising political events, both globally and domestically.  In the United States, the populist 
businessman Donald Trump was elected president; in England, a referendum determined its withdrawal from the European 
Union; still another referendum, this time in Colombia, rejected a peace plan to be signed by the government with guerrilla 
fighters.  And, in our country, in the second round of an embattled electoral process, and by barely 40,000 votes, Pedro Pablo 
Kuczynski was elected President of Peru.  In Congress, however, for the first time since 1995, an absolute majority of 
congressional seats were taken by the Fuerza Popular party.

The global economy did not improve much as compared to the previous year.  After Brexit, the IMF adjusted its expectations 
for global growth to 3.1%, forecasting an increase to 3.4% in 2017.  China, as a result of increased state intervention, 
recovered the declining stability of its annual growth rate, which amounted to 6.7%, high if compared to other countries, but 
its lowest in a quarter of a century.

The US economy started its tardy recovery in the third quarter of 2016, with an annual growth rate equal to 3.2%.  In the month 
of December, based on this development and the resulting improvement in employment, the Federal Reserve made good on 
raising its interest rates.

In contrast, the European economies – in a region politically affected by the refugee crisis – barely grew.  Very loose monetary 
policies that generated negative effective interest rates, did little to promote investment.  And political violence left its mark 
in attacks in Nice, Brussels and Berlin.

LETTER FROM THE CHAIRMAN
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The average growth rate in Latin America was impacted by bad results in Brazil and Venezuela.  Though the region as a whole 
went into recession, Peru´s growth was one of the best, at 3.9%.  During the year in review, there was a partial recovery of 
raw material prices.  For example, the price of copper increased since October.  Copper started the year at US$4,470/MT and 
ended the year at US$5,660/MT.  Silver prices also increased, but more during the first semester.  Silver started the year at 
US$14.26 per ounce and ended the year at US$17.16/oz.  Zinc underwent the highest comparative increase, from US$1,520 
to US$2,660 per metric ton during the fiscal year.  Lead also increased from US$ 1,650 to US$ 2,210 per TM.  Gold, on the 
other hand, started the year at US$1,100 per ounce and reached US$1,340 per ounce August, but started to decrease during 
the second semester, closing the year at US$ 1,160 per ounce.

Growth of the Peruvian economy was driven by new production from the Las Bambas copper project in Apurímac, and the 
Cerro Verde expansion in Arequipa.  In the exchange market, for the first time since 2012, the Peruvian sol appreciated with 
respect to the dollar.  Therefore, the exchange rate decreased by 1.7% in the course of the year and credit dollarization also 
decreased to less than 30% in November.  Despite said appreciation, the trade balance showed a surplus of US$667 million, 
after showing a deficit in the preceding two years.  However, formal employment failed to increase and private investment fell 
for the third consecutive year.  Credit barely grew by 4.6%, the lowest rate in the past 12 years.  On the other hand, the Lima 
Stock Exchange’s general index made it the second most profitable stock exchange in the world.

In the mining industry, as a result of the aforementioned projects, copper production increased by more than 30%.  Silver 
production stayed stable throughout the year, zinc increased by almost 10%, while lead decreased at a similar rate.  Gold 
production increased marginally.

In Peru, 2016 was marked by the election campaign and the political transition.  The first semester was rife with populist 
measures, characteristic of a government on its way out.  Regulations approved included allowing members of private 
Pension Fund Administrators (Administradoras de Fondos de Pensiones) to make early withdrawals, and raising the 
minimum salary to S/ 8.50. In the embattled campaign, two presidential candidates with high public opinion ratings were 
withdrawn due to irregularities.

During the second semester, relations between the new Executive and Legislative powers were irregular.  The executive 
obtained the vote of confirmation for its cabinet, presided by Prime Minister Fernando Zavala, which subsequently was 
granted legislative powers by Congress to apply a major administrative simplification reform.  However, by the end of the 
year, relations became strained as a result of the interpellation and no-confidence vote against the Minister of Education, 
Jaime Saavedra, the only minister carried over from the previous government.

Peru has major investment projects in the pipeline, but their implementation is hampered by too many formalities and many 
unresolved social conflicts in locations with very little government presence.  For them to productively materialize in 
competitive and timely terms requires imagination, firmness of resolve and consistency.

During the previous government, Peru was unnecessarily bureaucratized.  For example, in the World Bank’s Doing Business 
ranking, Peru fell back 4 positions in 2016 as compared to the previous year (in addition to the fifteen it fell in 2015), to the 54th 
place among a total of 190 countries.  The weakest areas identified were connected with ease to start a business, ease to 
comply with the tax system and facilities for cross-border trade.  In 2016, Colombia overtook Peru in this ranking. 

The year of our 60th anniversary was, internally, one of changing trends, where operating and financial management 
indicators showed quite a significant recovery.

Operations reached an average daily treatment volume of 16,700 dry metric tons (DMT), noting that in the third and fourth 
quarter production records of 18,200 and 18,700 DMT/day, respectively, were attained.  Fines production during 2016 was 
49,170 MT of copper, 57,385 MT of zinc, 12,860 MT of lead, as well as 2,634,739 ounces of silver and 23,511 ounces of gold, 
contained in the three types of concentrates produced.  Total ore treatment volume was 6,111,885 tons, representing a 21% 
growth as compared to 2015; 3,513,959 MT of lead and zinc ores (13% higher than in 2015) and 2,597,926 MT of copper ores 
(32% more tons than in the previous year) were treated.  Grades were 2.67%, 0.77% and 2.09%, in Zn, Pb and Cu, respectively. 
As a result of this higher treated volume, due to better recoveries than in the previous year, concentrates sold increased by 
28%, reaching 334,571 metric tons.  It should also be noted that since May 1, 2016, Buenaventura provides commercial 
management services to El Brocal, including negotiation and sale of its production.

Financial results show a marked favorable variation in the main indicators. Net sales reached US$ 230.6 million, a 35% increase 
as compared to 2015, resulting from the higher volume of produced and sold concentrates, helped by a partial recovery in lead 
and zinc average prices. Production costs, before depreciation and amortization, increased less than volume growth, reflecting 
a 7% improvement in cost per ton, resulting from more favorable costs negotiated with contractors and suppliers, and a more 
spread out fixed cost distribution. The EBITDA margin was 12% of earnings, reversing the negative margin in 2015. However, 
once depreciation and amortization are included, as well as financial expenses associated with the leaseback agreement with 
Banco de Crédito del Perú, annual profit and loss resulted in a net loss of US$ 32.8 million, representing a reduction of 57% as 
compared to the previous year.  It should be noted that in the last quarter, a net profit of US$ 3.4 million was obtained.
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During the year in review, shareholders made capital stock contributions in the amount of US$ 70 million, as approved at the 
General Shareholders Meeting held in November 2015.  Likewise, at the Compulsory Annual Shareholders Meeting held in 
March, a new Board of Directors was elected for the 2016-2018, incorporating Igor Gonzales and Alejandro Hermoza in 
replacement of Mercedes Benavides and Jesus Alberto Arias, respectively, who we thank for their valuable services to our 
company.

The immediate challenges ahead focus on increasing copper production capacity at the underground mine in order to reach 
an average production of 13,000 DMT/day, continue to improve production and operating costs, and accelerate conversion of 
resources to reserves.

In all of the above, we will continue to uphold our commitment to safety, the environment, and to the surrounding 
communities with programs to improve their quality of life, paying special attention to sustainable economic activities and 
jobs in the area. 

As to the San Gregorio Project, specifically, the Social Affairs team is engaged in an intensive campaign to establish a 
relationship with the community.  Social and job promotion programs have helped to reinforce our mutual trust.  At this time, 
there is a permanent information office in the main square of Vicco.  We trust that in 2017 we will be able to make progress 
towards restarting exploration activities.

Lastly, I would like to thank, on behalf of the Board of Directors, all of the company’s executives, officers, employees and 
workers for their hard work and collaboration, as well as our shareholders for the trust they have placed on us.

Sincerely,

Felipe Ortiz de Zevallos
CHAIRMAN OF THE BOARD
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GENERAL INFORMATION

SOCIEDAD MINERA EL BROCAL S.A.A.

Address: Av. Javier Prado Oeste No. 2173, San Isidro. Lima, Perú.
Phone:  (511) 611-3900 
Fax:  (511) 264-5373
Website:   www.elbrocal.pe

CORPORATE NAME

MAIN OFFICE
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Sociedad Minera El Brocal S.A.A. was incorporated on May 7, 1956, in the city of Lima, with an indefinite term of 
effectiveness. The document of public record was issued by Ricardo Ortiz de Zevallos, Notary Public in and for Lima. At 
the General Compulsory Shareholders Meeting held on February 20, 2003, it was unanimously agreed to convert the 
company into a Sociedad Anónima Abierta (publicly traded corporation). The last partial amendment to the Bylaws was 
carried out on November 11, 2016, issued by Aníbal Corvetto Romero, Notary Public in and for Lima, and registered 
under Entry B0007, Record 06002957, of the Registro de Personas Jurídicas (legal entity registry) of the Lima Registry 
Office.

On April 10, 2000, the company's shares of capital stock were certified for registration in the Securities Issues section 
of CONASEV (National Company and Securities Supervisory Commission), now the Securities Market 
Superintendence (SMV, Superintendencia del Mercado de Valores).

Sociedad Minera El Brocal S.A.A. (hereinafter "El Brocal") is a polymetallic mining Company engaged in extracting, 
concentrating and marketing silver, lead, zinc and copper ore. It conducts its operations in the Colquijirca Mining Unit 
and the Huaraucaca concentrating plan, located in the District of Tinyahuarco, Province of Pasco, Department and 
Region of Pasco.

According to the Uniform International Industrial Classification established by the United Nations, the Company's line 
of business comes under Division 07, Grouping 072 and Class 0729. It is classified as a medium mining Company and 
is governed by the Ley General de Minería (General Mining Law).

El Brocal operates two adjacent mines: Tajo Norte, an open pit mine producing silver, lead, zinc and copper ore; and 
Marcapunta Norte, an underground mine producing copper ore. Extracted ore is processed at two concentrating 
plants with a current installed treatment capacity of 18,000 metric tons/day.  El Brocal has all the required related 
infrastructure, including hydro plants, sub-stations, workshops, warehouses, tailings yards, acid water treatment 
plant, housing and administrative offices.

Operations are carried out in the Company’s mining concessions grouped under the following Administrative 
Economic Units: Colquijirca #1 and Colquijirca #2; metallurgical activities are carried out at the Hacienda de Beneficio 
de Huaraucaca concession. There are other ungrouped mining concessions, both in the District of Tinyahuarco, 
Province and Department of Pasco, and in the Province and Department of Huancavelica.

Competitiveness in the mining industry is characterized by the ability of mining operators to produce concentrates or 
metal at a low cost, since companies do not have any influence on sale prices. In this respect, El Brocal has significant 
competitive advantages, such as owning major mining deposits, access to infrastructure (energy, transportation, etc.), 
and qualified labor, among others.

El Brocal has a leaseback agreement with Banco de Crédito del Perú – with a balance of US$ 138,195,000 as of 
December 31, 2016 – whereby it has transferred machinery and equipment and placed in trust all other assets and 
mining concessions belonging to the Colquijirca Mining Unit, for a term ending on December 23, 2020.

At present, the company has 4 ongoing proceedings for alleged violations of environmental regulations with OEFA, 
Organismo de Evaluación y Fiscalización Ambiental (Environmental Assessment and Auditing Agency), and 8 ongoing 
proceedings for alleged violations of occupational safety and health regulations with OSINERGMIN, Organismo 
Supervisor de la Inversión Privada en Minería y Energía (Private Investment in Mining and Energy Supervisory Agency).

The Company also has ongoing legal proceedings for labor, civil and criminal claims at various levels of the court 
system.  These are evaluated according to their chances of success as follows: probable, possible and remote.

El Brocal’s business operations as a company with legal domicile in the country are subject to the General Tax System, 
and are not covered by any special arrangement, such as exemptions, concessions or similar others.

INCORPORATION

CORPORATE PURPOSE
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Financial profit/loss for the 2016 fiscal year reflects a positive change in relevant economic-financial indicators, thanks 
to the larger volume of concentrates sold due to an increase in production, together with a decrease in unit cost as a 
result of the improvement measures taken to face the low-price scenario.  The resulting net loss amounted to US$ 
32.8 million, while in 2015 there was US$ 76.2 million loss, a positive upturn by US$ 43.4 million.  EBITDA was US$ 28.6 
million, which represents a 12% EBITDA margin, reversing the -11% negative margin in 2015.  In addition to the higher 
volume, the fourth quarter was positively affected by the rise in market prices after the US presidential elections in 
November 2016, obtaining a net profit of US$ 3.4 million.

Concentrate revenues in 2016, before price adjustments and hedging operations, amounted to US$ 233.4 million, 
higher by 30% than concentrate revenues in 2015, which amounted to US$ 179.70 million, mainly due to the higher 
volume of copper sales.  Our operating strategy of focusing on copper ore and, in the last quarter, on zinc, allowed us 
to leverage the better margins offered by these products.  Net sales amounted to US$ 230.6 million, as compared to 
US$ 171.3 million in 2015, representing an increase of US$ 59.3 million or 35% over the previous year.

The 9% increase in production costs was 20% lower than the increase in treated volume (6.11 million DMT in 2016 vs. 
5.06 million DMT in 2015).  This productivity accounted for the improvement in profit/loss in 2016.

As a result of the erosion in our revenue due to the fall in ore prices in 2015, at the General Shareholders Meeting held 
on November 25, 2015, a capital injection program of US$ 70 million for 2016 was approved, and this amount was paid 
in through capital contributions.  This contribution was allocated to Capex and to service the leaseback debt incurred 
in previous years with Banco de Crédito del Perú (BCP) for the operations expansion project.

FINANCIAL PROFIT/LOSS

LIQUIDITY

ANNUAL
REPORT
2 0 1 6



17

Though EBITDA generated in the year under review amounted to US$ 28.6 million, the debt-coverage ratios required 
under the leaseback agreement, <2.5x and >1.3x respectively, were not met, but have the applicable exemption.  
However, the leverage ratio was met (<1).

The company has short-term loans (promissory notes) for US$ 40 million with BCP for working capital, in addition to 
a loan from our majority partner for US$ 3 million to cover margin calls on hedging operations effective as of 
December 2016.

In 2016, US$42.3 million in long-term investments were disbursed, including US$17.6 million in deferred overburden 
removal pursuant to IFRIC (CINIIF) 20.  Acquisitions focused mainly on designing and building the new acid water 
treatment plant (ARD), pumping system (Tajo Norte and tailings dams), installing 2 cone crushers, installing sacrificial 
belt conveyors in the Overland Belt and reinforcing its structures, including a drainage system in their foundations.

The 2016 period experienced marked volatility in basic metal prices, where copper was the most unstable.

During the first quarter, we witnessed a sharp fall in copper, zinc and lead prices which affected results for that period.  
In the second quarter, there was a slight rise in prices, extending to the end of October, until November, when they rose 
to unexpected levels, with a positive effect on end of year sales.

Business goals focused on i) maintaining cost reduction in the distribution logistics chain and ii) seeking new markets 
that would provide us with better business terms to counteract the low prices experienced for most of the year.  On the 
other hand, the increase in copper and zinc production benefitted us, contributing to an increase in sales as compared 
to the previous year.

COPPER
Copper concentrate sales amounted to US$ 127.7 million, 66% higher than in the previous year due to the increase in 
tonnage produced and sold.

INVESTMENTS (CAPEX)

CONCENTRATE SALES

Export
Local
TOTAL

70,027
152,290
222,317

57,667
139,713
197,380

US$ (000)DMT
2014

49,407
130,325
179,733

 78,226 
 182,727 
260,953

US$ (000)DMT
2015

102,557
130,835
233,392

145,693
188,936
334,629

US$ (000)DMT
2016

TOTAL ANNUAL SALES

Year-end adjustments to sales in the same period are considered.

Indicator
US$ * (Thousands)
DMT
Cu %
Ag Oz/mt 
Au Oz/mt

127,679
189,355

25.67
4.32
0.13

2016
76,785

119,703
25.96
6.94
0.09

2015
194,301
165,462

26.42
8.85
0.09

2014

COPPER CONCENTRATE ANNUAL SALES

* Sales figures do not include price adjustment provisions: embedded
derivative, previous year fiscal year-end adjustments and income from price 
hedging operations.
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ZINC
Zinc concentrate sales amounted to US$ 74.6 million, 21% higher than in the previous year due to the higher volume 
of concentrate produced and better silver and zinc prices than the previous year, which offset the fall in silver grade.

LEAD
Lead concentrate sales amounted to US$ 31.1 million, representing a 25% decrease with respect to the previous year, 
due to the lower volume of concentrate produced and the lower content of lead and silver in the concentrate.  

Sales cost in 2016 totaled US$ 231.9 million, 10% higher than in the previous year, which amounted to US$ 210.4 
million.  This was due to an increase in operating costs by US$ 14.4 million and an increase in depreciation by US$ 6.9 
million, both associated with the higher volume treated.  However, operating costs per treated ton were 10% lower, as 
a result of the cost reduction strategies implemented by management.

Indicator
US$ * (Thousands)
DMT
Zn%
Ag Oz/mt

74,612
117,500

49.63
6.85

2016
61,745

105,062
49.46
9.87

2015
15,746
18,465
52.24
12.37

2014

ZINC CONCENTRATE ANNUAL SALES

Indicator
US$ * (Thousands)
DMT
Pb%
Ag Oz/mt

31,101
27,774
46.93
36.12

2016
41,203
36,188
49.50
45.22

2015
7,124
5,442
46.40
47.81

2014

LEAD CONCENTRATE ANNUAL SALES

* Sales figures do not include price adjustment provisions: embedded
derivative, previous year fiscal year-end adjustments and income from price 
hedging operations.

* Sales figures do not include price adjustment provisions: embedded
derivative, previous year fiscal year-end adjustments and income from price 
hedging operations.

SALES COST

Operating Cost
Inventory Variation
Depreciation and Amortization
Total Sales Cost
Treated Ore (DMT)
Concentrate Produced (DMT)

162,807 
15,424 
53,637 

231,868 
6,111,885         

332,232

2016Sales Cost
148,428 
15,239 
46,733 

210,400 
5,064,478         

265,722

2015
132,252 

-4,299 
27,693 

155,646 
3,445,118         

197,018

2014

SALES COST US$ (000)

Lead-Zinc Ore
  Lead Concentrate
  Zinc Concentrate

Copper Ore
  Copper Concentrate
  Silver Concentrate

3,513,959
27,938

115,547
2,597,926

188,747
-

2016
3,101,851

38,804
106,374

1,962,627
120,545

-

2015
481,589

6,754
19,075

2,963,529
163,164

8,025

2014

TREATED ORE AND CONCENTRATES PRODUCED (DMT)
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In the 2016 fiscal year, due to aggressive operating cost optimization management and the higher treated volume, 
cash cost per processed metric ton was US$ 29.52, including stripping costs, representing an 8% decrease as 
compared to the previous year.

The largest cost reduction resulted from rate re-negotiations with the Tajo Norte and Marcapunta Norte mining 
contractors, optimization of supply usage, and operational efficiencies in the treatment plants.

Operating expenses in 2016 amounted to US$ 24.1 million, representing a US$ 2.5 million (9%) decrease as compared 
to the previous year. This was due to: a) lower administrative and labor costs as affected by exchange rates, fewer 
consulting services retained, lower exploration expenses and b) higher sales costs resulting from the increase in 
concentrates volume.

Non-operating expenses in 2016 decreased by US$ 2 million (14%) as compared to the previous year, since the 
Peruvian sol devaluation on our active domestic currency position that had occurred in 2015 as compared to 2014 did 
not repeat itself.

In the 2016 fiscal year, our loss before income tax was US$ 32.8 million.  This loss was reduced by US$ 5.1 million as a 
result of the following:

• Recognition of the US$ 2.7 million expense on account of the Special Tax on Mining and Mining Royalties.
• Recognition as book income of US$ 7.9 million in deferred income tax, determined mainly by the tax loss and the 

effect of maintaining the US dollar as the functional currency for accounting purposes and the Peruvian sol for tax 
purposes.

Net loss in 2016 was US$ 32.8 million. This increased to US$ 35.5 million due to the reasonable value of unrealized 
financial instruments, amounting to US$ 2.7 million as reflected in our net worth.

OPERATING COSTS*

OPERATING EXPENSES 

NON-OPERATING EXPENSES

PROFIT (LOSS) BEFORE INCOME TAX

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE PROFIT/LOSS

Third-party Services - Production
Inputs and Spare Parts
Labor
Deferred Overburden
CASH COST (US$ / DMT)
Depreciation and Amortization
TOTAL COST US$ / DMT

16.44
7.40
2.79
2.88

29.52
8.78

38.30

2016
US$ / DMT

Type of Expense

18.28
8.80
2.23
2.83

32.14
9.23

41.37

2015
US$ / DMT

26.95
8.90
2.54
9.54

47.93
8.04

55.97

2014
US$ / DMT

PRODUCTION COSTS US$ / ORE PROCESSED (DMT)

(*) Excludes administrative and sales expenses.
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During the 2016 period, a fatal accident regrettably occurred, causing the death of a contractor’s employee.  This event 
was duly reported to the authorities, pursuant to legal regulations, and the respective accident investigation process 
was carried out to identify root causes and corrective actions.

In general, preventive controls were thereupon reviewed to minimize accidents and incidents, performing the following 
activities:

Implementation of safety standards for the management system (32 standards).

Implementation of an SSO proactive performance indicator, based on performance of planned inspections, group 
meetings, and training according to regulatory requirements.

Implementation of preventive safety stoppages with the participation of the workers themselves.

Implementation of the Occupational Safety and Health Committee (CSST) as established by law.

Implementation of daily entrance controls by taking alcohol, marihuana and cocaine test samples.

Strengthening compliance with annual and retirement occupational medical exams.

Strengthening the Occupational Health Department.

Reinforcement of safety supervision in the Maintenance and Project areas.

Implementation of shelters from electrical storms.

Likewise, in 2016, recertification under the OHSAS 18001 and ISO 14001 standards was ratified.

HEALTH AND SAFETY
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Fatal Accidents
Disabling Accidents
Minor Accidents
Incidents
Lost Days
Man-Hours Worked (thousands)
Frequency Rate
Severity Rate
Accident Rate

1
15
53
72

6,305
6,778
2.21

930.14
2.06

2016
#
#
#
#

Days
MHW/month

#
#
#

U/MItem
0

13
32

129
955

465.19
2.33

171.08
0.40

2015
0

18
33
65

1,011
581.27

2.58
144.94

0.37

2014

ACCIDENT INDICATORS IN EL BROCAL’S OPERATIONS

During 2016, El Brocal committed to safeguarding the environment and, in this sense, we assumed the responsibility 
of acting proactively to protect the environment in connection with any negative impact our activities may create.  
Likewise, we saw to the protection of our associates, strategic partners and neighboring communities through our 
efforts to minimize emissions, effluents, and air, water and soil discharges, as well as waste and spills.  For this 
purpose, we are implementing clean technology and control and prevention programs to attain environmental 
compliance in our operations, in accordance with current legislation and environmental reference standards.  In order 
to comply with the commitments undertaken in the Environmental Management Instruments (EMI), environmental 
laws and regulations, and pursuant to our Safety, Occupational Health and Environment Policy, we have developed and 
implemented an Environmental Management System based on the ISO 14001: 2004 Standard, which undergoes 
continuous improvement.

WASTE MANAGEMENT
One of the main operational aspects in mining activities is solid waste management.  In this respect, during the fiscal 
year under review in this report, the 2016 solid waste management plan was approved, establishing implementation 
of the following activities for proper management:

• Sorting:  Several training courses were provided to both Company workers and specialized company workers in
order to improve the sorting or selection process at the source for each specific type of waste, considering its physical 
and chemical characteristics. Coded containers (metals, plastics, cardboard, organic, hazardous waste) were 
installed for this purpose.  This improved the initial waste management process, thereby contributing to reducing 
waste transported for final disposal.

• Internal Collection: Waste collection programs have been implemented, establishing duly identified collection
stations and locations in operating areas, as well as in neighboring communities.

• Storage: There is an intermediate waste (hazardous and non-hazardous) storage area, with signs identifying each  
type of waste, for reuse of the various wastes sorted in the initial stage of the process and storage.  The compacting 
system continues to be in use and the infrastructure has been improved, all of which has contributed, as mentioned, 
to reducing waste volume.  For waste storage, 15 square-meter mobile containers have been implemented, which in 
turn have improved loading times for transportation for final disposal.

• Final Disposal: An EPS-RS1 duly authorized by DIGESA removes the wastes from the unit and transports them to 
landfills (non-hazardous waste) or hazardous waste landfills, as applicable.  An EC-RS2, duly authorized by DIGESA, 
is also used to collect, store and transport reusable waste (including metal residues, cardboard, clean pipes and 
clean plastics).

ENVIRONMENTAL MATTERS 

1. EPS-RS: Empresa Prestadora de Servicios-Residuos Sólidos (Service Provider Company-Solid Waste)
2. EC-RS: Empresa Comercializadora - Residuos Sólidos (Sales Company-Solid Waste)
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During the period under review, special attention was given to adapting our effluents to ensure compliance with 
Supreme Decrees D.S.N°010-2010-MINAM, “Maximum Allowable Limits for Discharge of Liquid Effluents from 
Mining and Metallurgic Activities”, and D.S.N°003-2010-MINAM, “Maximum Allowable Limits for Effluents from a 
Domestic or Municipal Wastewater Treatment Plant”.  In addition, improvements were made to the water treatment 
process for human use and the natural tributaries of the Huachuacaja ravine were channeled towards the east and 
west bypass channels, thereby contributing to recovery of the Andacancha River’s water quality.

In every case, processes and effluents comply with the industry’s environmental regulations.  The most important are 
listed below:

• Water Treatment Plant for Human Use:  We have a centrifugal separation / filtration / ultraviolet system that
produces a total of 3.30 m3/h of product water and is fed to the Staff Camp, plus the treatment plant implemented at 
the camp (Pavilion G), which uses a pre-chlorination / filtration / post-chlorination system producing a total of 1.80 
m3/h of product water.  This maintains relevant contaminant parameters under control and below the maximum 
levels as required by current regulations.

The equipment for both plants has been selected based on their performance under average operating conditions at 
an altitude of 4200 meters above sea level and an average temperature of 12 °C.

• Domestic Wastewater Treatment: Treatment of domestic wastewater from the camp and the Colquijirca community 
continued, using oxidation ponds and subsequent monitoring.

The domestic wastewater treatment plant for the Huaraucaca offices is a simple solution to the problem of domestic 
wastewater treatment in small locations.  It operates under the principle of activated sludge with extended aeration 
and with an anaerobic pre-chamber, and effectively ensures reduction of BOD (Biochemical Oxygen Demand) and 
TSS (Total Suspended Solids) present in wastewater.  The pre-chamber is made of metal sheets with the necessary 
reinforcements to withstand normal hydrostatic loads.  The layout of the equipment and controls allows the operator 
to easily carry out the required maintenance.  The plant has an average flow rate of 58 m3/day (equal to a supply of 
290 liters/person/day for 200 persons).

• Industrial Wastewater Treatment Plant:  Treatment capacity was increased from 58 liters/sec to 157 liters/sec, using
calcium hydroxide and flocculation for the neutralization process.  During 2016, projects for expansion to 1000 
liters/sec were carried out as amended by the Environmental Impact Study of the 18,000 - DMT Expansion Project 
which is currently underway.

This program involves monitoring stations to track environmental performance in a representative and timely manner, 
and to produce information used to assess environmental conditions affected by mining activities.

The program provides the necessary information to create an environmental database of project development 
activities, an essential tool for organizing and developing the reports to be submitted to authorities and other entities.  
The program includes quality control of mining effluents (physical and chemical parameters), surface water and 
underground water (physical and chemical parameters), emissions and air quality (PM2.5, PM10 and others), 
environmental noise (day and night), vibrations, and biological and hydro-biological monitoring of the area.

In 2016, El Brocal filed the necessary documentation with the Decentralized Cultural Bureau – Pasco (DDC, Dirección 
Desconcentrada de Cultura - Pasco) and the Ministry of Culture: archaeological monitoring activities in our operations’ 
area of influence, and those approved under CIRA # 099-0056 were resumed; in November, resolution R.D. N° 
000106-2016/DDC PAS/MC was obtained, whereby the archaeological monitoring plan for a total area of 169.56 
hectares was approved for a 14-month period, as well as the Declaration of Intangibility and recognition as “Cultural 
Heritage of the Nation” of the Markapunta Archaeological Complex.  Likewise, two lithic material pieces were rescued 
in the Condorcayan area for cleaning and recognition and subsequent delivery to the Pasco DDC.

WATER TREATMENT

ENVIRONMENTAL MONITORING PROGRAM

ARCHAEOLOGICAL MONITORING PLAN
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The progressive and final closure program for the established items continues, as detailed below: 

MINE CLOSURE PLAN

Closure at 25 %

Closure at 100 %

Closure at 10 %

Closure at 100 %

Closure at 100 %

Closure at 100 %

Progress 2016
Remediation - Progressive 

Closure (physical and 
geochemical stabilization)
Maintenance - Progressive 

Closure
Remediation - Progressive 

Closure
Remediation - Progressive 

Closure
Social Program – Progressive 

Closure
Social Program – Progressive 

Closure

Closure Stage
Metallurgical 

Processes 

Metallurgical 
Processes   

Waste Management 
Facilities

Huaraucaca Quarries 
and Accesses   
Environmental 
Education Plan 

Grassland 
Improvement and 

Genetic Improvement

Area
Tailings Dam N°04  

Tailings Dams N°01 & 
N°02  

South Landfill

Accesses and Quarries

Social Program  

Social Program

Items
(R.D. 243-2012-MEM-

DGAAM)

SUMMARY OF ITEMS APPROVED FOR THE MCP

Solid Waste Management                 
Environmental Monitoring and Control                
Water Treatment                        
Closure Plan                                      
Environmental Effects Monitoring               
Environmental Auditing                        
Others                                                   
TOTAL

622
172
447
639

0
777
970

3,627

2015
564
439
494

4,086
0

241
913

6,737

2016Activities
2,308
1,431
4,863
4,183

599
1,155
2,368

16,907

1998-2014
3,494
2,042
5,804
8,908

599
2,173
4,251

27,271

TOTAL

INVESTMENTS IN THE ENVIRONMENTAL MANAGEMENT PROGRAM (THOUSANDS OF US$)
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Mining operations in 2016 focused mainly on the Chocayoc and La Llave flanks, and, to a lesser degree, on the 
Principal and Mercedes flanks, and to a very small degree on the La Pampa flank, where 8,554,141 BCM of onsite 
sterile material were extracted. 2,625,098 DMT of ore were discovered and extracted.

OPEN PIT MINING OPERATIONS: TAJO NORTE

2016UnitFlank 2015 2014

ORE PRODUCTION INDICATORS: LEAD, ZINC AND COPPER

Mercedes Norte
Ore
Ag
Pb
Zn

Principal T-III
Ore
Ag
Pb
Zn

Principal T-II
Ore
Ag
Pb
Zn
Cu

Principal T-I
Ore
Ag
Pb
Zn
Cu

La Pampa
Ore
Ag
Pb
Zn

Chocayoc
Ore
Ag
Pb
Zn

La Llave
Ore
Ag
Pb
Zn

Extracted Ore

178,895
0.39
0.38
2.74

 
183,291

0.64
0.50
1.55

 

 

 
37,123

0.25
0.57
2.49

1,208,184
1.19
0.86
2.81

 
1,017,605

0.87
1.03
3.54

2,625,098

DMT
Oz/MT

%
%
 

DMT
Oz/MT

%
%
 

DMT
Oz/MT

%
%
%
 

DMT
Oz/MT

%
%
%
 

DMT
Oz/MT

%
%
 

DMT
Oz/MT

%
%
 

DMT
Oz/MT

%
%

DMT

331,102
0.98
1.00
2.45

 
548,106

1.68
1.30
3.47

 

 
165,789

3.04
0.24
0.49
1.51

 
8,007
1.01
1.44
2.48

 
1,353,848

1.54
1.30
2.92

 
169,308

1.28
1.15
3.90

2,576,160

3,000
0.08
0.32
1.80

 
733,268

1.54
1.22
3.28

 
1,551
7.11
0.51
0.22
0.08

 
505,465

2.62
0.25
0.46
1.47

 

 
122,379

1.71
1.50
3.22

 

1,365,663

Overburden
Ore

20,914,874
2,625,098

7.97

2016
DMT
DMT

UnitMaterial

Stripping Ratio

13,504,000
2,576,160

5.24

2015
18,576,970
1,365,663

13.60

2014

OVERBURDEN-ORE RATIO

%PbAg Oz/tDMTOre %Zn %Cu

CLASSIFIED-STORED ORE

TYPE III      0.64       1.40805,960      1.96      0.17
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Since the year 2010, the Marcapunta Norte deposit is mined using the sub-level stoping method, which allows for bulk 
production.

UNDERGROUND MINING: MARCAPUNTA NORTE

Ore
Grade: Ag
 Cu
 Au
 As

2,606,258
0.51
2.18
0.50
0.71

2016

DMT
Oz/MT

%
Gr/MT

% 

UnitItem
Marcapunta Norte

1,760,630
0.55
2.20
0.45
0.67

2015

2’276,379
0.54
2.09
0.44
0.67

2014

ORE PRODUCTION INDICATORS: COPPER

ANNUAL
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ORE CONCENTRATION
The Huaraucaca metallurgic complex produced a total of 6,111,885 DMT of ore: 57.5% came from lead-zinc ore (Tajo 
Norte), and 42.5% from copper ore (Marcapunta Norte/Type I).

METALLURGICAL PROCESSES

2016UnitProduct

Lead Concentrate

Zinc Concentrate

2015 2014

LEAD-ZINC CIRCUIT METALLURGICAL BALANCE

Head Ore
Production
Grade: Ag

 Pb
 Zn
 Cu

Production
Grade: Ag

 Pb
 Zn
 Cu

Recovery
 Ag
 Pb
 Zn

Production
Grade: Ag

 Pb
 Zn
 Cu

Recovery
 Ag
 Pb
 Zn

3,513,959
0.88
0.77
2.67
0.04

27,938
37.55
46.03
5.25
1.71

34.04
47.61
1.56

115,547
6.80
2.66

49.66
0.29

25.51
11.37
61.13

DMT
Oz/MT

%
%
%
 

DMT
Oz/MT

%
%
%

%
%
%
 

DMT
Oz/MT

%
%
%

%
%
%

3,101,851 
1.37 
1.06 
2.82 
0.08 

 
38,804            
45.22 
48.67 
7.03 
3.21 

41.26 
57.58 
3.12 

 
106,374 

9.95 
3.49 

50.12 
0.43 

24.90 
11.31              
61.01 

481,589
1.84
1.13
3.01
0.15

 
6,754
48.84
48.38
7.54
4.49

36.09
58.03
3.40

 
19,075
12.92
2.26

51.46
1.06

27.47
7.81

66.67

2016UnitProduct

Copper Concentrate

Head Ore
2015 2014

COPPER CIRCUIT METALLURGICAL BALANCE

Production
Grade: Ag

 Cu
 As
 Au

Production
Grade: Ag

 Cu
 As
 Au

Recovery
 Ag
 Cu
 Au

2,597,926
0.49
2.09
0.67
0.48

188,747
4.24

26.05
8.54
3.87

62.24
90.36
58.91

DMT
Oz/MT

%
%

Gr/MT

DMT
Oz/MT

%
%

Gr/MT

%
%
%

1,962,627 
0.74 
1.87 
0.56 
0.35 

 
120,545 

7.10 
26.59 
8.14 
2.91 

58.96 
87.17 
51.54

2´773,738
0.84
1.76
0.51
0.31

 
163,134

8.94
26.45
7.94
2.72

62.69
88.21
52.26
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The El Brocal electric power system has an installed capacity of 60 MVA at 138/22.9/10.5 Kw, based on the operations 
energy demand, for a treatment capacity of 18,000 MTD.

The installed system helps to improve electric power continuity and reliability.  Power to the operation is carried from 
the national interconnected system along a distance of 40 kilometers on transmission lines L-1703, L-1708 and 
L-1709, with a 138 Kw voltage level.  This is a ring-type line between the Carhuamayo sub-station and the Paragsha II 
sub-station, with a PI type branch at structure 42, feeding the Cinco Manantiales sub-station located in the community 
of Huaraucaca through a 10-kilometer-long line. This sub-station has a 60/36/24 MVA-ONAF transformer at 
138/22.9/10.5 Kw and a safety and control valve yard.  The system supplying energy from the Paragsha II sub-station 
also supplies energy to the 15 MVA Óxidos sub-station, owned by the Cerro S.A.C. management company.

Internal distribution to the various mining unit processes is carried through the 4.16, 10.5, 22.9 and 50 Kw 
medium-voltage distribution power lines, through power and distribution sub-stations.

The mining unit has two hydro plants, Jupayragra and Río Blanco, with installed power capacities of 1.92 MW and 1.42 
MW, respectively. These generators are interconnected to the Cinco Manantiales sub-station at a 10.5 Kw voltage level.  
They currently provide 3% of energy usage to the power system through self-generated energy and are considered 
alternative power sources in the event of contingencies in the interconnected system.

To provide the power system with greater reliability, preventive maintenance was carried out on the Carhuamayo – 
Cinco Manantiales 1703 line. Maintenance tasks involved replacing insulators in direction change and alignment 
structures, reinforcing wood structures, and eliminating minimum safety distances in structures # 6 and # 7.

As to maintenance of the 10.5 Kw medium-voltage protection panels and cells, since electric power facilities such as 
sub-stations are undergoing a standardization process, skid-mounted unit sub-stations and low-voltage protection 
cells, with NEMA 3R enclosures for outdoor use, have been acquired.

A MicroSCADA SYS600 system currently helps with managing the 138 Kw high-voltage electrical system and 
transmitting real-time signals to COES-SINAC. Availability of signal transmission in 2016 was 99%. Implementation of 
ABB’s SCADA System 800xA EMS (Electrical Management System) is being completed to enable providing reliable 
power supply to consumers and monitoring, managing and improving transmission and electrical distribution in real 
time, as well as to ensure continuity, reliability and safety of the power system.

During 2016, the maintenance area has developed various methodologies to enhance maintenance management and 
ensure equipment availability and reliability.

SERVICES, POWER AND MAINTENANCE

2016Indicator 2014

POWER GENERATION, PURCHASE AND USE

6,111,885
 

6,235,944
4,549,510

10,785,454

267,699,390
267,699,390
278,484,844

45.56
39.74

DMT
 

Kwh.
Kwh.

 
Kwh.
Kwh.

Kwh/DMT
Kwh/DMT

5,064,479
 

11,420,778
8,313,803

19,734,581
 

44,976,137
168,911,949
213,888,086
233,622,667

     46.13
   40.92

3,445,118
 

10,602,694
8,677,699

19,280,393
 

138,862,513
27,819,050

166,681,563
185,961,956

 53.98
 41.26

Treated Ore
Self-generation

H.P. Jupayragra
H.P. Rio Blanco
Sub-total
Purchased Power

San Gabán
Huanza
Sub-total
Sum Total
General Use Factor
Plant Use Factor

Unit 2015

MAINTENANCE MANAGEMENT
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For planning management, the SYSMAN (Computerized Maintenance Management System) software, which enables 
systematizing information and preventive, predictive and lubrication planning, was enhanced with the following:

• Asset data integration and input in the system has permitted developing reports for material control and 
maintenance management.

• Performance management has been progressively integrated, since the system is receiving feedback from work
order reports to SYSMAN, allowing for improved planning and data history, and obtaining accurate information for 
failure analysis and the applicable action plans.

• With respect to lubrication, systematic routes have been developed in SYSMAN and are daily monitored.

For predictive management, measurements have been defined using vibration, thermography, ultrasound and oil 
testing techniques, which have contributed to prevention of equipment failure and provided medium- and long-term 
views for critical components and maintenance programs.

As to reliability management, maintenance indicators are monitored daily, recording availability, mean time to repair 
(MTTR), medium time between failures (MTBF), preventive maintenance compliance, man hours (MH), work order 
backlog, and predictive reports.  This has enabled control and reduction of failures and anomalies, optimizing costs as 
a result of plan stability.

100
95
90
85
80
75
70
65
60
55
50
45
40
35

Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec

ANNUAL CRUSHING AVAILABILITY PB/ZN

36.00

65.00

56.36
59.39

63.36

77.61

71.70
73.44

70.04

79.78

51.13

64.47

69.87

100

95

90

85

80

75
Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec

ANNUAL CRUSHING AVAILABILITY CU

84.00
85.00

82.36
83.79

85.65

82.82

90.93

86.01

91.50
89.83

83.17

86.04

87.24

100

95

90

85

80

75
Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec

ANNUAL PLANT AVAILABILITY CU

93.00

96.1496.78

88.52

97.5497.17

93.94

91.15

95.82
97.67

88.26

94.37
96.30

100
95
90
85
80
75
70
65
60
55
50
45
40
35

Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec

ANNUAL PLANT AVAILABILITY PB/ZN

67.00
72.00

92.66

87.08

95.7893.38
88.78

97.55

81.68

96.82

88.54

88.16

95.57

Current AvailabilityCurrent Annual Availability Current AvailabilityCurrent Annual Availability

Current AvailabilityCurrent Annual Availability Current AvailabilityCurrent Annual Availability



31



32



33

EXPLORATIONS, RESERVES AND
RESOURCES

ANNUAL
REPORT
2 0 1 6



34

El Brocal entrusted the consulting firm BISA with calculation of the Tajo Norte-Smelter ore resources.  For this 
purpose, said consulting firm used the international JORC (Australian Joint Ore Reserves Committee) standard, a 
benchmark used by financial consultants to estimate resource and reserve prices.  The topography as of December 
31, 2016, was used in this report to calculate resources and reserves.

RESOURCES
This table shows Measured, Indicated and Inferred Resources broken down by type of Zn/Pb/Ag and Cu/Ag ore, 
respectively.

RESERVES
BISA estimated reserves using the resources calculated in the table above, without considering inferred resources.  
For estimating reserves, operating costs provided by El Brocal were used, as well as the metallurgical recoveries 
obtained from the concentrating plant. The following table shows the results obtained:

RESOURCES
BISA updated ore resources for the year 2017.   There is diamond drilling information from the southern portion of the 
deposit that should be included to update the model.  El Brocal has entrusted said consulting firm with updating the 
resource model.

ORE RESERVES AND RESOURCES

TAJO NORTE - SMELTER

Pb (%)DMT (thousands)Categories Cu (%)
Measured
Indicated
Inferred
Sub-Total
Measured
Indicated
Inferred
Sub-Total

Zn-Pb-Ag Ore

Cu-Ag Ore

TOTAL

Ag (Oz/MT)
0.73
0.85
0.19
0.73
0.64
0.41
0.18 
0.53
0.61

0.73
0.60
0.12 
0.72
0.12
0.07
0.07
0.10
0.34

Zn (%)
2.30
1.97
1.67
2.28
0.16
0.07
0.05   
0.12
0.95

40,629
2,608

28 
43,265
37,676
29,574
2,116

69,366
112,631

0.03
0.08
0.00
0.03 
1.33
1.32
1.42
1.33
0.83

Pb (%)DMT (thousands)Categories Cu (%)
Proven
Probable
Sub-Total
Proven
Probable
Sub-Total

Zn-Pb-Ag Ore

Cu-Ag Ore

TOTAL

Ag (Oz/MT)
1.08
1.46 
1.10  

          0.60
0.42 
0.53  
0.72

          0.96
0.85 
0.96

          0.11
0.07 
0.09

          0.39

Zn (%)
          2.61

2.26 
2.59

            0.13
0.06
0.11
0.95

     23,773 
1,267 

25,040
      28,726 

20,155
48,881
73,921

          0.10
0.17
0.10

          1.41
1.41  
1.41
0.97

Au (Gr/MT)DMT (thousands)Categories As (%)
Measured
Indicated
Inferred

Cu-As Ore

TOTAL

Cu (%)
          1.33

1.00
0.92
1.18

          0.37
0.32
0.29

          0.34

Ag (Oz/MT)
          0.42

0.33
0.25
0.37

      37,076
24,363
5,464

66,903

        0.35
0.18
0.08
0.26

MARCAPUNTA - NORTE

Note: Under the international standard used, resources include the ore reserves detailed below.

Note: Under the international standard used, resources include the ore reserves detailed below.

RESOURCES (DECEMBER 31, 2016)

RESERVES (DECEMBER 31, 2016)

RESOURCES (DECEMBER 31, 2016)
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RESERVES
BISA updated ore reserves for 2017 based on the resource estimate and taking into account only measured + indicated 
resources.  El Brocal provided the economic parameters, as well as the financial assumptions.

The Marcapunta Oeste Project is a stratabound deposit of Cu-Au-As, made up of horizontal to sub-horizontal ore 
bodies and irregular breccia bodies confined within a prospecting horizon, with thicknesses ranging from 20 m to over 
100 m, located between Mitu Group sediments at the base and dacitic volcanic rock above.  This horizon shows 
enargite-pyrite mineralization, grading to covellite-chalcopyrite-digenite-chalcocite and a quartz-alunite gangue, 
starting approximately at an elevation of 4,082 m.a.s.l., continuing in depth.  According to the geological model, it 
should reach to an elevation of approximately 3,900 m.a.s.l.

Up to 2012, various exploration campaigns were carried out, resulting in a total of 3,837 meters of underground 
exploration, of which 2,180 m are access works (ramp) and 1,657 m are exploration galleries, with 105,029.20 m of 
diamond bit drilling.

RESOURCES
With all of this information, El Brocal made an ore resource inventory reviewed by AMEC (in 2009) following the JORC 
(Australian Joint Ore Reserves Committee) Code, which is still effective and is as follows:

During 2014, re-logging of diamond drilling samples was started in order to confirm and reinterpret the Marcapunta 
Oeste geological model, differentiating between the three types of mineralization existing in the area.

During 2015, re-logging and reinterpretation of existing drill holes continued, mainly seeking to confirm non-arsenical 
copper ore areas close to existing mining operations, in order to determine the possibility of a mining plan. Initial 
results indicate that most of the ore must be considered mixed ore, with localized non-arsenical copper.  The 
possibilities for finding major clean copper areas will continue to be studied.

No exploration work was done in the 2016 fiscal year.  The resource inventory included 138 drill holes with a total length 
of 37,907 and 24,039 assayed meters.

RESOURCES

In 2016, no exploration work was performed in this area because priority was given to resources for operating areas.

MARCAPUNTA - OESTE

SAN GREGORIO PROJECT

HUANCAVELICA PROJECT

Au (Gr/MT)DMT (thousands)Reserves As (%)
Proven
Probable

Cu-As Ore

TOTAL

Cu (%)
2.04
1.65
1.88

0.50
0.18
0.37

Ag (Oz/MT)
0.60
0.20
0.44

9,413
6,498

15,911

0.60
0.14
0.41

Au (Gr/MT)DMT (thousands)Type As (%)
Chalcocite Area
Enargite Area
Mixed Area

Cu Ore

TOTAL

Cu (%)
          1.45

1.24
1.12
1.25  

          0.34
0.74
0.59

          0.60

      17,671.20
31,304.10
26,705.00
75,680.30

          0.059
0.379
0.152       
0.224

Pb (%)DMT (thousands) Categories Zn (%)
Zn ResourcesZn-Pb Ore

Ag (Oz/MT)
         0.308           1.528      79,933.80           5.223

Note: Resources were calculated with a 0.5% Cu cut-off.

RESERVES (DECEMBER 31, 2016)
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During this year, projects were started that helped to strengthen the reliability, stability and efficiency of certain critical 
process equipment.  The most important were:

1. Installation of sacrificial belt conveyors at the three transfer points between Overland belts 2, 2A, 2B and 3 to reduce   
ore falling height by half and the resulting impact on the main belts.

2. Change in control approach and topology of the PLC and its Control System components for these same Overland 
belts. The findings from the technical audit carried out with Conveyor Dynamics Inc. (CDI) were: data congestion due 
to a concentration of signals in a single port, and power distribution and motor torques were uneven and 
unsynchronized, causing additional stress on the belts. These faults were corrected, obtaining smoother-running 
belts.

3. Refurbishing the rainwater drainage system throughout the Overland 2A, 2B and 3 belts.  Accumulated moisture
and saturation were making the belt bases subside.

4. Installation of two parallel secondary Metso HP6 cone crushers in the Lead-Zinc circuit as backup for the Sandvic 
hybrid crusher to obtain better feed size to the HPGR roller mills and greater mechanical availability.  Adjustments 
continue to be made jointly with the manufacturer based on the material’s moisture.

5. Supply and installation of a fines Hopper (C3) in the lead-zinc fines warehouse building, as backup in the event of 
failures in the PHEB scraper.  This has provided feed continuity and consistency to the Plant 2 mill.

6. Separation of discharge pumps at the 20x30 mill.  These pumps had only one discharge through the three-way valve  
and there were frequent stoppages due to obstruction of said valve.

PROJECTS

ANNUAL
REPORT
2 0 1 6
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MINING OPERATIONS FLEET MANAGEMENT SYSTEM
In 2016, the mining operations fleet management system (Dispatch) was implemented with the main goal of improving 
concentrate productivity and quality.  This improvement is based on geospatial control of each equipment, automatic 
control of production cycle activities, automatic and real-time assignment of trucks to loading equipment, monitoring 
equipment status, and remote supervision using hardware and software technology to maximize production.

Dispatch has also helped to optimize the use of mining loading and hauling equipment, increasing production and 
efficiency and also improving mine safety by continuous monitoring.

This solution also provided other benefits, including increase in production by identifying operational opportunities in 
real time, greater confidence on the part of supervisors to make decisions based on consistent data, and mining plans 
with improved costs.

PI SYSTEM 
In order to prevent production process issues, the need to have quality information available for plant operations was 
identified. This led to implementation of the PI System to perform analysis and obtain trends for each process, 
identifying unexpected events that would put the production process at risk. This translates into improved 
management efficiency to prevent and correct fortuitous events that may directly impact the process.  We have made 
70% progress in this project, and expect to complete its implementation in March 2017.

TECHNOLOGICAL INNOVATION



40



41

LOGISTICS
ANNUAL

REPORT
2 0 1 6



42

Purchase orders for goods and services in 2016 amounted to a total of US$248.9 million, lower by 7% than in the 
previous year. This decrease was basically due to improved purchasing for the operation, negotiations with suppliers, 
and reducing the project acquisitions budget.

In addition, we note that during the year in review, 97% of our purchases were sourced from Peruvian companies, 10% 
of which were purchased from companies in our direct and indirect areas of influence.

The value of material and supply stocks at the close of 2016 amounted to US$17 million, an amount higher by 62% than 
in 2015.  This increase is due to a value adjustment on account of exchange rate differences resulting from developing 
a dollarized inventory, as well as to the purchase of mechanical spare parts and electrical and various other supplies 
to support the gradual  expansion of operations. 

PURCHASES

INVENTORIES

215,369,182
71,823,533

287,192,715

202,480,002
64,723,714

267,203,716

20142015
Amount in US$

220,500,061
27,766,616

248,266,677

Operations
Projects 
SUM TOTAL

 2016
Type of Purchase

EVOLUTION OF GOODS AND SERVICES PURCHASES BY TYPE OF PURCHASE

4,443,502
260,269,525
22,479,688

287,192,715

3,487,466
238,470,113
25,246,137

267,203,716

20142015
Amount in US$

7,797,008
215,245,784
25,223,886

248,266,678

Foreign
Domestic
Local
SUM TOTAL

 2016
Origin of Purchase

EVOLUTION OF GOODS AND SERVICES PURCHASES BY ORIGIN
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For the 2016 fiscal year, El Brocal set the goal to sustainably maintain a daily average production of 18,000 metric tons, 
focusing on refining all of its operational processes. Thus, Human Resources Management focused on developing 
plans aligned with this strategic objective, particularly on the change management process for improving the 
performance of all of our employees.

To this end, the following strategy aligned with the business objective was developed:

• Strengthen the skill-based management model so as to define the employee profile required by El Brocal, stressing
good performance aligned with the business strategy.

 
• Implement Human Resource management focused on growth and performance improvement in all of the 

employees. 

• Gear the labor force towards a common objective consistent with the Company’s vision. 

Absenteeism: The absenteeism rate by the end of 2016 was 3.5%, a significant reduction compared to the 4.5% 
absenteeism rate at the beginning of the year.

Turnover: Average turnover in 2016 was 1.5%, representing stable growth with low turnover for the Company.

Overtime: On average, overtime during the year amounted to 5%, mainly on account of operational work resulting 
from growth of plant operations and maintenance work.

Population:

ORGANIZATION:

BY GENDERBY LEVELS

Strategists
Managers
Professionals 
and Technicians
Operations 
Specialists

Women
Men

          6%

94%                     338,  43%

          376,  48%

          63,  8%

9,  1%
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People are the key to making El Brocal competitive at a global scale and be recognized for having highly standardized 
operations and the best talent in our industry.

Based on our corporate vision, Human Resource Management, through its Talent Management area, implemented 
the CrECE + High Performance Program, which seeks to improve the performance of El Brocal employees.

To start this macro program, the “Conociendo Nuestro Desempeño 2016” (Knowing Our Performance 2016) 
measurement program was established. In addition, based on the results of a diagnostic process, organizational 
needs were identified and the following sub-programs have been put forth to chart the course for human resource 
management.

TRAINING
367 people were trained, averaging 8 training hours/person.

Training provided during 2016 mainly included:

• Training for Quality Circle leaders

• Crane operator training and certification

• Knowing Our Performance

• Jksimmet software training

• Third International Mining Management Congress

• Geotechnical modeling with mining applications

• Feedback Workshop

• Maintenance, troubleshooting and commissioning of PowerFlex 7000 drive family

• Programming training, relay configuration for REF54X, REM54X, REF61X

TALENT MANAGEMENT

KNOWING OUR PERFORMANCE 
2016

BETTER
PROFESSIONALS, 
BETTER TEAMS
Training plans for high
performance teams

MAXIMIZING 
POTENTIAL
Professional development program for 
high potential personnel

LIDES
Effective leadership program 
for supervisors

RECOGNIZING 
AND GROWING
Recognition program for 
good performance

CRECE
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PERFORMANCE MANAGEMENT
Two performance measurement processes were carried out:

Performance Assessment Process by Objectives: Uses the Balanced Scorecard (BSC) methodology for 
Strategist and Manager function groups.  In 2016, the 2015 BSC was reviewed and the BSCs 2016 for each 
management area were defined, with specific indicators and goals aligned with the 2016 strategic objective.

Performance Assessment Process by Skills: For professionals, technicians and operations specialists.  In 2016, 
the skills-based performance system was strengthened and the “Conociendo Nuestro Desempeño 2016” 
(Knowing Our Performance 2016) program was created.  This program included workshops for the whole line of 
organizational leaders in order to standardize goals, concepts, indicators, behaviors and specific skills the 
company has defined as part of the profile of each and every El Brocal employee.  As part of this training, they were 
provided with training and key tools to properly carry out the feedback process, a new phase included as part of 
the performance system.

By focusing on the performance management system and improving our process, we have been able to continue 
growing and improving, as reflected in our employees’ performance results, where our employees with good 
performance have increased by 20%.

EL BROCAL TRAINING AND DEVELOPMENT CENTER 
The force that drives development at El Brocal is its people. That is why we seek to make a difference to become a 
globally competitive company, recognized for working professionally, efficiently and safely.  

Towards this goal, in 2016 the El Brocal Training and Development Center was formed - a training space created with 
the purpose of accelerating learning and development of our associates in order to reach the company’s strategic 
objectives efficiently and safely, thereby creating development opportunities for all of our associates.

The program underway has the following structure:

• Lectures

• Hands-on operational classes

• Evaluations on modules developed in class
 
The first graduating class in 2016 from the Crushing Superintendence worked on and developed the following 
technical and soft skills:

• Identifying each of the ore processing stages

• Operating machinery, equipment and components of the ore transportation system

• Operating and controlling ore transfer systems

• Operating control and automatic / semi-automatic safety systems in the conveyor belt circuit 

WORKSHOP PARTICIPANTS

                       54,  43%

          62,  50%

     9,  7%

Strategists
Managers
Professionals 
and Technicians
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• Inspecting electromagnet or metal detector operation in a conveyor belt circuit

• Operating and acting safely

QUALITY CIRCLES
The main purpose of the Quality Circles Program is to involve associates from all areas in seeking solutions and/or 
improvements in the various company processes.

In this first 2016 Quality Circles Program, 10 teams from the Maintenance, Mine and Processes areas have taken part.

• This first Quality Circles Program experience has successfully shown us that our associates have made good use of  
this space to express and specify their ideas for improvement in the various company processes, as we seek to 
become an efficient and globally competitive company.

• The work environment has been improved by providing spaces for participation and discussion, where employees
can take part in finding solutions for issues arising in the company.

• Improvement of horizontal and vertical communication within the organization.

• Strengthen employee leadership.

• Raise awareness across the whole company about the need for developing quality improvement actions.

This consisted of:

• Identifying improvement opportunities in work areas, setting up the quality circles, developing analysis and 
proposing a solution.
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COMPENSATION

INTERNAL COMMUNICATIONS

• Training and providing guidance to the quality circles during the whole program: 
- Learning the DMAIC methodology actions
- Guidance on project development by an expert consultant
- Recognition of team efforts

VARIABLE COMPENSATION SYSTEM
In order to maintain internal and external parity, and taking care to keep the El Brocal compensation scale within the 
median of the mining market, a variable compensation policy was maintained in 2016.

• Annual Bonus: For strategists and managers, an annual monetary bonus based on performance assessments by
objectives (BSC), in recognition of our leaders’ individual performance and commitment according to corporate 
results.

• Quarterly Bonus: A performance bonus for Professionals, Technicians and Operations Specialists, based on  results
of performance assessments by skills, considering indicators including production levels and occupational health 
and safety goals, among others.

The internal communication strategy seeks to provide company-wide support to complement overall company management.

In 2015, El Brocal’s corporate management program was the Ruta 18 Program, which evolved into Ruta 18+ in 2016.  
In addition to achieving an average production of 18,000 metric tons, this program sought to concentrate the greatest 
effort in maximizing ore recovery from mining fines, from which high-quality ore is obtained.

Ruta 18+, like its predecessor, is managed based on 5 pillars:

a. Us: Covers all actions within the organization related to human resources, people management, and occupational  
health and safety.

b. Ore: Considers everything connected with mining activities, ore control, reserves, etc. 

c. Machinery: Connects actions, practices and activities that enable maximizing the use of machinery to ensure 
production goals.

d. Environment: Gathers activities directed to ensuring a suitable relationship with the operation’s immediate 
surroundings (environment and communities).

e. Best Practices: Includes activities, processes, policies and guidelines supporting improvement and efficiency in 
management of the organization.

As part of its communications and organizational-level support, the Internal Communications area implemented 
roll-out and complementary campaigns for distribution of the main messages consistent with our business strategy.  
These were transmitted to all of our employees through our implemented interpersonal, physical and virtual 
communication channels, as revised and improved in the 2016 fiscal year.

2015 2016
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The Human Resource and Administration Management, through its General Services area, carried out the following 
improvements in favor of our employees:

• Change of food vendor to a new company, GISER, achieving substantial improvements in meal services to our   
employees in the Huaraucaca dining hall.

• Equipping the kitchen area with a 40-foot refrigerator for frozen products, thereby ensuring 100% quality of meat 
products.

• Signal placement, construction and milestone painting in lands owned by the company.

GENERAL SERVICES

Publication providing information on the main progress achieved within in each Route 18 
Pillar, as reflected in the spirit of El Brocal’s associates.

Brief publication informing on weekly production and weekly highlights.

Daily posts on company events, internal area activities, communications, invitations, and 
summons in general through our private group.

Meetings aiming to close the integration breach existing in the organization, mainly between 
senior management, middle management and workers.

This is a space for informing and answering questions on main subjects related to Human 
Resource area management and other points of interest to the associates of Sociedad 
Minera El Brocal.

INTERNAL COMMUNICATIONS

Quarterly bulletin

Weekly bulletin

Facebook Group

Cascade meetings

Informational talks

ORE MACHINERY ENVIRONMENT US BEST
PRACTICES

CAMP SERVICES

Seeking to provide suitable facilities for our associates in order to achieve a good balance between their work and 
personal life, we provide them the following services directly and at no cost: 

a. Lodging in modules appropriate for the climate  
b. Laundry 
c.  Recreation room with game room and cable TV 
d.  Internet access in rooms
e.  Cable TV  
f.  Soccer field with artificial grass
g. Internal transportation for personnel and transportation to and from Lima and Colquijirca
h. Infrastructure for appropriate meal services with high catering standards

In 2016, the following was implemented:  

i.  Personal training service in the staff camp gym with a sports professional
j. “Toma una pausa” (Take a Break): Free evening coffee service for all associates in the Huaraucaca office modules
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In its continuous improvement efforts, the Human Resources and Administration Management, through its Internal 
Security department, implemented a series of actions and procedures to help to strengthen security in operations and 
the camp. These include:

• Implementation of the investigation and information analysis area.

• Acquisition of entry control equipment in the various control points for access to operations in order to check and 
ensure that persons entering the operations area are duly authorized.

• Implementation of additional electrical storm shelters for security personnel at various operational points.

• The emergency response unit was equipped with satellite communication equipment.

We have continued to coordinate with the 3 labor organizations in the company throughout 2016 to ensure and 
maintain a healthy working environment for all of our associates. 

The main actions that have furthered this relationship were:

• Effective and working communication: a culture of dialogue was promoted, suitably responding to concerns and
giving timely answers to all requests submitted by labor organizations, as well as reviewing the large amount of 
documents presented by the labor unions and addressing their concerns.

• Meetings with labor unions: scheduled periodically in order to jointly validate compliance with labor obligations, as  
well to support work carried out in the operating areas so as to prevent conflicts.

• Assertive, patient and firm actions: led the unions to not proceed with a strike scheduled to start on December 16,
2016.

• Collective bargaining: satisfactory completion of collective bargaining for 2015-2016 with 3 labor organizations. By 
the end of December, the 3 labor unions provided their list of demands to start collective bargaining for 2016-2017.

Within the framework of our human resource policy through the Social Wellness area, programs have been developed, 
designed and implemented seeking to create, maintain and improve conditions in order to foster overall employee 
development in their social, personal and professional environments, improving quality of life for both employees and 
their families.

We highlight the following activities in the 2016 period:

• Implementation of breast-feeding rooms: In both headquarters, the Huaraucaca mine and the Lima offices, in order 
to ensure access to an appropriate breast-feeding area for nursing mothers.

• First Childrens’ Drawing Competition: Held in the mine headquarters, with the participation of the children of  
employees, fostering creativity, innovation and a safety culture.

 
• Christmas cuisine workshops: For the wives of our employees, carried out in the mine headquarters with the 

purpose of providing techniques and knowledge about Christmas cuisine.

INTERNAL SECURITY

LABOR RELATIONS

SOCIAL WELLNESS



53

ANNUAL
REPORT
2 0 1 6



54



55

SOCIAL AFFAIRS
ANNUAL

REPORT
2 0 1 6



56

Today, the goal of mining operations is to have not only social license, but to have legitimacy.  For this purpose, the 
Social Affairs team is committed to creating relationships of trust among the various social actors in our operations, 
thereby enabling us to continue to develop our production activities without disruptions.

Likewise, given the global economic juncture of low metal prices and the company’s situation in particular, it has been 
important to raise awareness of this reality among the main social actors through direct communication at each of the 
meetings we have held in order to minimize the welfarist requests and expectations to which they were accustomed.

At the same time, using very basic and understandable presentations for all levels of community members, we have 
shown them El Brocal’s projects and risks, so that we can all work towards maintaining our operation, not just in the 
present, but also thinking ahead towards the future.

On the other hand, the process of transferring public services to the District Municipality of Fundición de Tinyahuarco 
has continued.  Likewise, the advantage of using the approach of work for taxes for construction projects when the 
company is in a better financial situation has been explored.

It should be noted that the change of contractor in the Tajo Norte operation had complex operational, contractual, labor 
and social implications.  Activities were paralyzed as a result of uncertainty with respect to hiring workers employed 
under the previous contractor.  This stoppage did not affect other El Brocal operational activities, and was solved 
through dialogue and plans to improve employability and training for the residents of Colquijirca.

As part of our social responsibility, El Brocal, as a player in the Cerro de Pasco Region, has been contributing to the 
development of the region and, above all, in the communities in the direct area of influence of our operations.

In compliance with the commitments we have undertaken, various projects were carried out, including:

a) Starting construction of an elementary school in the new Smelter rural community village, under the framework 
agreement entered into for this purpose with this community and the district municipality.

b) Water supply through an HDPE line from the fresh water reservoirs of the Colquijirca mining unit to the water tanks  
of the Colquijirca village, to service that village and the new Smelter village.

c) Repair of the 7-kilometer unsurfaced road for the Sacra Familia community, in coordination with the authorities of 
that community.

d) Rubble filling 12 kilometers of road from Colquijirca to Huaraucaca to support the communities and as agreed with
the Tinyahuarco District Municipality.

e) Recovery of 2 kilometers of the Hualmay River, located in the Lancari community, which flows into Lake Punrun;  
this lake supplies the Pilanco reservoir and Cinco Manantiales, from where water is pumped for use by the 
communities of Huaraucaca, Smelter, Vicco and Colquijirca.

 
f) Reinforcement of the Unish Bridge, located in the Villa de Pasco community, which is used by the communities of  

Huaraucaca, Colquijirca, Vicco, Sacra Familia and private transportation carriers.

MAINTAINING LEGITIMACY AND SOCIAL LICENSE

ANNUAL
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An important value provided by El Brocal has been the creation of working community enterprises.  This has 
channeled the entrepreneurial spirit of the community towards a single community representative, so that having 
countless business initiatives within the same community no longer creates an unmanageable situation, which is the 
source of latent conflict in many mining operations in Peru.  These community businesses provide competitive 
services to our operations, creating value and strategically contributing to maintaining the social viability and 
legitimacy of our activities:

Ecosem Huaraucaca, founded on January 14, 2004, has been gradually growing as a business and is diversifying its 
lines of business. It currently has 350 employees and provides the following services to El Brocal operations:

- Camp maintenance
- Operational services, including:

· Plant electrical maintenance
· Plant mechanical maintenance
· Plant processes
· Mechanical process
· Ore transportation (Concentrate)
· Area remediation (Environment)
· Civil works
· Transportation of personnel in the operations area

STRENGTHENING COMMUNITY ENTERPRISES
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· Meal service for workers
· Hotel (contractor employees)

- Transportation of personnel to and from El Brocal Colquijirca - Lima - Colquijirca
- Inter-provincial passenger transportation Lima - Cerro de Pasco - Lima

Ecosem Smelter, founded on June 2, 2003, at present with 186 employees, an El Brocal partner providing the following 
services:

- Copper ore transportation
- Rehandling of the Marcapunta Norte transfer yard to the concentrating plant transfer yard
- Ore feeding to the primary crusher
- Various civil works, such as thermo-fusion, sewage works, among others

Empresa Comunal Santa Rosa de Colquijirca – ECOSARC, founded on March 14, 2004, in 2016 it reached 50 employees 
and presently has 10 employees, providing the following services:

- Environmental remediation
- Civil works
- Heavy machinery rental

Empresa Comunal Inmaculada Concepción de Smelter, founded on December 8, 2008, has 54 employees providing 
various services to El Brocal as required, including:

- Cleaning and maintenance of the Colquijirca camp
- Temporary workers for the contractor JRC
- Collection and transportation of solid waste
- Civil works services

Ecoserm Vicco, founded on October 26, 2010, provides the following services to the Company:

- Civil works
- Gutter/drainage channel cleaning and area remediation

It currently has 52 employees and has been providing services to El Brocal in the Vicco community, within the good 
relations that have resumed in order to promote the development of the San Gregorio Project.

The company respects and participates in activities related to celebration of civic festivities that contribute to the 
preservation of age-old community culture and customs.  Consequently, during the year it has participated in activities 
both in the districts of Tinyahuarco and Vicco, and in neighboring communities.

As part of our social support to the Colquijirca community, we have started the repair of fifteen homes that were in 
critical condition – it has been suggested that as a result of blasting at Tajo Norte.  However, it has been demonstrated 
that their condition was mainly due to building defects and high moisture, mostly from rainwater drainage channels. 

Under the EIS and Mine Closure commitments made by El Brocal to the Peruvian government, the following programs 
were undertaken:

• Health drives for children and adults living in our areas of influence (1,305 patients serviced and healthcare provided 
to 6,836 patients)

• Vocational counseling campaigns for students (105 beneficiaries)

• Deworming and hydatidosis prevention campaigns for animals (cattle, sheep, Andean camelids [llamas, alpacas]
and dogs) 

 
• Handcrafting project with mothers of the Colquijirca and Shelby communities, with the participation of 186 mothers 

• Handcrafting project for Christmas items in the Santa Rosa de Colquijirca rural community, benefitting 70 mothers 

SOCIAL SUPPORT AND RESPECT FOR CULTURE AND CUSTOMS
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Lastly, and as the Company does every year, children from eleven rural communities were hosted for Christmas 
festivities, sharing hot chocolate and panettone (traditional Christmas sweet bread), in addition to a children’s show and 
distribution of gifts to more than 2,579 children from the Smelter, Sacra Familia, Vicco, Shelby, Cochamarca, Villa de 
Pasco, Ucrucancha, Racracancha, Lancari and Colquijirca communities.

In Peru, mining companies face conflicts with neighboring communities resulting from failing to know how to handle 
over-expectations and, above all, not providing job and business opportunities to residents.  Therefore:

• Local residents feel excluded and continuously seek to create conflicts.

• They do not feel benefitted and balk at providing access to their properties for operations.

• They feel the mining company is a threat (creating various impacts, interpreted as contamination), among others.

The inability to understand how to coexist and maintain good relations with communities has led to damaging 
consequences for some operations in Peru, in some cases, even stopping the whole operation.  Relations have not 
been re-established, despite government intervention.

For El Brocal, modern mining means contributing to the development of local communities, and access to job 
opportunities is a strategic guideline to maintain the viability of our operations.  In 2016, in coordination with other 
areas of El Brocal, a local labor hiring procedure was developed that gives local residents access to job opportunities 
in an equitable manner and according to their profiles, and also better organizes such access to job opportunities to 
give priority to local labor. This procedure was distributed among the various areas of the operating unit, contractors 
and stakeholders in our area of influence.

The following table provides a snapshot of the work force in our operations:

The table shows that 34% of total labor in the operation (skilled, semi-skilled and unskilled) is local and 66% is 
non-local. Also, Colquijirca has the highest number of workers (15%) of total employees.

EMPLOYMENT PROMOTION

66
15.84
8.86
4.52
1.23
1.69
1.33
0.81
0.05
0.05
0.03
100

2,291
553
309
158
43
59
47
28
2
2
1

3,493

2,193
548
323
161
74
57
45
32
6
2
1

3,442

2,304
512
302
131
59
58
49
33

2
1

3,451

2,170
509
288
123
35
57
39
31

2
1

3,255

2,680
621
293
175
55
70
46
31

1
1

3,973

2,670
612
296
185
44
70
46
30

1
1

3,955

2,460
607
289
173
43
68
47
28

1
1

3,717

2,336
589
339
160
35
63
52
26
4
2
1

3,607

2,192
578
331
147
35
61
52
26
4
2
1

3,429

1,883
409
323
150
30
36
42
24
3
2
1

2,903

1,588
408
317
142
29
33
40
24
3
2
1

2,587

ORIGIN JAN. FEB. MAR. APR. MAY. JUN. JUL. AUG. SEP. OCT. NOV. DEC. Nº
AVERAGE 2016

%
Non-local
Colquijirca Community
Huaraucaca
Smelter
Vicco
Santa Rosa Community
Villa de Pasco
Sacra Familia
Quiulacocha
Jupayragra Community
Racracancha Community

TOTALS

SKILLED LABOR, SEMI-SKILLED LABOR AND UNSKILLED LABOR IN THE OPERATION

Source: Damon Consulting 2016 Annual Report

2,515
633
288
173
39
69
47
27

1
1

3,793

2,498
614
323
173
38
66
53
28
3
1
1

3,798
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The table shows semi-skilled and unskilled labor by type of company working permanently in the operation.

El Brocal is the employer who hires the highest number of local workers. In 2016, 81.56% of semi-skilled and unskilled 
workers in its operations were local.

Note that community enterprises (ECOSEM Huaraucaca, E&M Smelter and Ecosem Smelter) are the employers with 
the second largest number of local workers, equal to a total of 66.67% of its semi-skilled and unskilled workers.

The main companies hiring local labor can be seen in the above table, where the community enterprises Ecosem 
Smelter (84.06%), E&M Smelter (62.36%) and Ecosem Huaraucaca (61.88%) stand out.  However, MUY-WY was the 
third-party contractor that hired 76.47% of its semi-skilled and unskilled workers locally.

65.77
34.23

100
33.35
66.65

100
18.06
81.94

100
78.15
21.85

100

675
352

1,027
152
304
456
51

230
281
88
25

113

727
405

1,132
150
295
445
50

236
286
47
40
87

763
373

1,136
139
239
378
50

236
286
112
36

148

747
385

1,132
117
207
324
50

237
287
67
8

75

726
411

1,137
135
291
426
43

230
273
146
40

186

710
398

1,108
143
319
462
45

235
280
145
23

168

635
394

1,029
143
309
452
47

231
278
108
18

126

668
391

1,059
138
302
440
47

232
279
129
33

162

658
386

1,044
174
331
505
52

228
280
102
30

132

648
359

1,007
174
328
502
55

241
296
77
28

105

696
365

1,061
166
314
480
59

238
297
66
18
84

595
178
773
171
353
524
55

204
259
30
12
42

532
174
706
173
355
528
55

211
266
26
9

35

TYPE OF BUSINESS ORIGIN JAN. FEB. MAR. APR. MAY. JUN. JUL. AUG. SEP. OCT. NOV. DEC. Nº
AVERAGE 2016

%
CONTRACTOR

COMMUNITY 
ENTERPRISE

MAIN ENTERPRISE

SUB-CONTRACTOR

Non-local
Local
TOTALS
Non-local
Local
TOTALS
Non-local
Local
TOTALS
Non-local
Local
TOTALS

SEMI-SKILLED AND UNSKILLED LABOR IN THE OPERATION’S DIRECT AREA OF INFLUENCE (DAI)

Source: Damon Consulting 2016 Annual Report

15.94
84.06

100
38.12
61.88

100
37.64
62.36

100
15.34
84.66

100
83.50
16.50

100
23.53
76.47

100

9
48
57
91

147
238
46
77

123
2

12
14

330
65

395
65

212
277

17
48
65
78

147
225
54
76

130

6
6

375
72

447
83

255
338

9
23
32
78

132
210
51
66

117
1

13
14

350
66

416
74

233
307

6
18
24
68

115
183
40
59
99
2

13
15

326
63

389
82

254
336

12
48
60
69

127
196
41
71

112
3

11
14

326
65

391
70

252
322

8
63
71
77

134
211
44
77

121
2

11
13

308
64

372
70

245
315

8
56
64
76

132
208
45
77

122
2

11
13

286
62

348
70

246
316

7
56
63
74

129
203
44
71

115
2

11
13

325
64

389
63

245
308

9
57
66

114
163
277
47
79

126
3

11
14

329
64

393
63

240
303

9
57
66

115
161
276
46
79

125
3

11
14

321
63

384
68

231
299

8
49
57

113
161
274
44
79

123
3

13
16

343
65

408
68

229
297

8
50
58

112
182
294
50
93

143
2

13
15

337
65

402
42
60

102

8
50
58

114
183
297
50
94

144
2

14
16

331
69

400
30
54
84

MAIN CONTRACTORS ORIGIN JAN. FEB. MAR. APR. MAY. JUN. JUL. AUG. SEP. OCT. NOV. DEC. Nº
AVERAGE 2016

%
E&M SMELTER

ECOSEM HCCA

ECOSEM SMELTER

EXSA

JRC

MUR-WY

Non-local
Local
TOTALS
Non-local
Local
TOTALS
Non-local
Local
TOTALS
Non-local
Local
TOTALS
Non-local
Local
TOTALS
Non-local
Local
TOTALS

SEMI-SKILLED AND UNSKILLED LABOR IN THE AREA OF INFLUENCE HIRED BY MAIN CONTRACTORS
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During the first months of 2016, the task force named “Dialogue, Negotiation and Development Committee”, created 
under Ministerial Resolution 106-2015-PCM issued by the Office of the Presidency of the Council of Ministers (PCM), 
sought to continue conversations with the community. However, after two meetings, ongoing internal problems within 
the community led the community assembly to disavow said commission.

For that reason, during 2016 the Social Affairs team has dedicated itself to an intensive campaign to build our 
relationship with the community through actions including:

• Meetings with stakeholders

• Social programs:
· First health drive 2016 (October 12 and 13)
· Second health drive 2016 (November 13 and 14)
· Genetic improvement and grassland management in the Vicco community
· Vocational training program
· Christmas program
· Environmental education program

• Employment promotion

All of these actions have built trust in El Brocal and at this time there is a permanent company information office in the 
main square of Vicco.  On October 16, we participated in a community assembly where the company demonstrated to 
attendees its good will to carry through an equitable and fair negotiation process.

SAN GREGORIO PROJECT
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At the General Shareholders Meeting held on November 25, 2015, it was agreed to increase the Company’s capital 
stock by US$ 35,000,000, of which US$ 18,713,000 were paid in January 2016 (US$ 13,072,000 as an increase in capital 
stock, US$ 5,640,000 as issue premium on capital stock, and US$ 1,000 due to an increase in investment shares), 
which resulted in the issue of 6,402,315 common shares (S/ 44,816,205) and 367 investment shares (S/ 2,569).

A new US$ 26,000,000 increase in capital stock was approved in the General Shareholders Meeting held on March 17, 
2016, paying in US $26,002,000 in the months of April and May (US$2 6,000,000 as capital stock increase and US$ 2,000 
as investment shares increase), which resulted in the issue of 12,535,714 common shares (S/ 87,749,998) and 1,036 
investment shares (S/ 7,252).

Finally, in the board of directors meeting held on June 28, 2016, a US$ 25,286,000 capital stock increase was approved, 
paying in US$ 25,285,000 in the months of July and August as capital stock increase and US$ 853 as investment 
shares, resulting in the issue of 11,996,222 common shares (S/ 83,973,554) and 405 investment shares (S/ 2,835).

SHAREHOLDERS AND ECONOMIC GROUP

SHAREHOLDING STRUCTURE AFTER CAPITAL STOCK INCREASE

Common Investment

Before subscription
Total capital stock contributions
 After subscription

Registered
amount

S/
45,670,954

12,656
45,683,610

#
Shares
6,524,422

1,808         
6,526,230

Registered
amount

S/
875,260,225
216,539,757

1,091,799,982

#
Shares

125,037,175
30,934,251  

155,971,426

ANNUAL
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As of December 31, 2016, the company has a capital stock of S/1,091,799,982.00 (one thousand ninety-one million 
seven hundred ninety-nine thousand nine hundred eighty-two and 00/100 Peruvian soles), fully subscribed and paid in, 
represented by 155,971,426 (one hundred fifty-five million nine hundred seventy-one thousand four hundred 
twenty-six) common shares with a face value of S/ 7.00 Peruvian soles each.

The investment shares account amounts to S/ 45,683,610.00 (forty-five million six hundred eighty-three thousand six 
hundred ten and 00/100 Peruvian soles), fully subscribed and paid in, represented by 6,526,230 (six million five hundred 
twenty-six thousand two hundred thirty) investment shares with a par value of S/ 7.00 (seven and 00/100 Peruvian 
soles) each.

El Brocal has two registered securities in the Public Register of the Lima Stock Exchange: common stock (Brocal C1) 
and investment stock (Brocal I1).

As of December 31, 2016, the shares had a market value of S/ 6.70 per common share, with a 66.67 percent negotiation 
frequency, and S/ 3.00 per investment share, with a negotiation frequency of 23.81 percent.

Compañía de Minas Buenaventura S.A.A. owns directly or indirectly 99.999996% of the capital stock of Inversiones 
Colquijirca S.A., which in turn owns 58.25% of representative shares of El Brocal’s capital stock.  Compañía de Minas 
Buenaventura S.A.A. held a direct and indirect equity interest of 61.33% in El Brocal as of December 31, 2016. 

SHAREHOLDER STRUCTURE
At the close of the fiscal year, the total number of common stock shareholders of the Company was 2,988, of which 88 
are non-residents, representing 8.2% of the Company’s common stock.

Inversiones Colquijirca S.A.
Elías Petrus Fernandini Bohlin

Full Name / Company Name
58.25%
6.48%

% Equity Interest

SHAREHOLDERS WITH AN EQUITY INTEREST ABOVE 5%

Peruvian
Peruvian

Nationality

Common Shares Held % Equity Interest

SHAREHOLDING STRUCTURE

Number of Shareholders
Less than 1%
Between 1% and 5%
Between 5% and 10%
More than 10%
TOTAL

11.72
23.55
06.48
58.25

100.00

2,976
10
1
1

2,988

Investment Shares Held % Equity InterestNumber of Shareholders
Less than 1%
Between 1% and 5%
Between 5% and 10%
More than 10%
TOTAL

26.70
36.83
16.75
19.72

100.00

1,185
15
3
1

1,204
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STOCK PRICES

TRADED VOLUME

DIVIDEND PAYMENT

COMMON SHARES
BROCALC1

2016

Average
S/

5.88
4.93
5.95
6.11
6.10
5.59
6.01
6.20
6.43
6.39
6.81
6.99

Low
S/

4.80
4.80
5.75
5.90
5.90
5.50
5.40
6.10

--
6.25
6.05
6.70

Close
S/

5.22
5.07
6.00
6.40
6.00
5.60
6.20
6.30

--
6.25
7.13
6.70

Month
January
February
March
April
May
June
July
August
September
October
November
December

High
S/

6.35
5.07
6.01
6.50
6.40
5.80
6.40
6.30

--
6.43
7.18
7.18

Open
S/

4.80
4.80
5.75
5.90
6.40
5.50
5.40
6.20

--
6.30
6.05
7.10

INVESTMENT SHARES
BROCALI1

2016

Average
S/

--
--

4.26 
-- 
-- 
-- 
-- 

3.70 
-- 

3.15 
3.10 
3.20

Low
S/

--
--

4.26 
-- 
-- 
-- 
-- 

3.70 
-- 

3.15 
3.10 
3.00

Close
S/

--
--

4.26 
-- 
-- 
-- 
-- 

3.70 
 -- 

3.15 
3.10 
3.00 

Month
January
February
March
April
May
June
July
August
September
October
November
December

High
S/

--
--

4.26 
-- 
-- 
-- 
-- 

3.70 
-- 

3.15 
3.10 
3.57

Open
S/

--
--

4.26 
-- 
-- 
-- 
-- 

3.70 
-- 

3.15 
3.10 
3.57

During the year, the volume traded at the Lima Stock Exchange was 1,699,554 common shares, representing S/ 10.1 
million soles, and 335,085 investment shares, representing S/ 1.2 million soles.

At the Shareholders Meeting held on August 21, 2006, the Company approved the following dividend distribution policy:

“The company’s Dividend Policy establishes a payment of no less than 20% of the distributable profit obtained by the company 
in the preceding year, to be paid to the company shareholders through dividends after the Annual Compulsory Shareholders 
Meeting has passed the applicable resolutions and subject to prior agreement by the Board of Directors of the company.

Without prejudice to the above, the Board of Directors, after a partial balance sheet has been prepared and the profit for the 
period applicable to that balance sheet has been calculated, is empowered to authorize advance payments on dividends in 
an amount not to exceed 20% of the profit for the fiscal year period to which such partial balance sheet applies.”



67

A financial leaseback agreement with a local financial institution remains in effect, according to which the company 
must abstain from paying dividends without prior written authorization from the Bank, unless each and every one of 
the following requirements are met: 

• The outstanding payment balance is below US$120,000,000.

• Compliance with the agreed financial ratios.

• A debt ratio below 2.0x.

Consequently, the Company did not pay dividends in 2016.

ANNUAL
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CHANGES IN PARTIES RESPONSIBLE FOR PREPARING AND REVIEWING FINANCIAL INFORMATION IN THE PAST 
TWO YEARS

On July 31, 2015, the General Accountant, Edilfonso Cáceres Cáceres, presented his resignation due to retirement, and 
the position has since been held by Rosario Ocampo Oviedo.

For the past two years, no resignations or removals of the Chief Internal Auditing Officer have occurred.  

Likewise, there has been no change in external auditors during the specified period.

The opinions on the financial statements have been unqualified.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT AUDITORS

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of Sociedad Minera El Brocal S.A.A.

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Sociedad Minera El Brocal S.A.A. (a Peruvian corporation, 
subsidiary of Inversiones Colquijirca S.A.) (hereinafter “the Company”), which comprise the statement of financial 
position as of December 31, 2016 and 2015, and the related statements of profit or loss, comprehensive income, 
changes in shareholders’ equity and cash flows for the periods then ended, and a summary of significant accounting 
policies and other explanatory notes.

Management’s responsibility for the financial statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance with 
the International Financial Reporting Standards and for such internal control as Management determines is 
necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error.

Auditors’ responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in 
conformity with International Auditing Standards approved in Peru by the Board of Deans of the Peruvian Charter of 
Accounts. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and that we plan and perform the audit 
to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial 
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment, including the assessment of the risks of 
material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, 
the auditor considers the internal control relevant to the Company in the preparation and fair presentation of the 
financial statements, in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the 
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal control. An audit also includes evaluating 
the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by 
Management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit 
opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Sociedad Minera 
El Brocal S.A.A. as of December 31, 2016 and 2015; and its financial performance and cash flows for the years then 
ended, in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as issued by the International Accounting 
Standars Board (“IASB”).

Lima, Peru,
February 14, 2017

Countersigned by:

Víctor Burga
C.P.C.A. Register No.14859
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Statement of financial position

As of December 31, 2016 and 2015

Assets
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Trade and other receivable, net
Inventories, net
Income tax credit
Prepaid expenses

Non - current assets
Trade and other receivable, net
Long-term inventories
Property, plant and equipment, net
Deferred income tax asset, net
Participation in joint venture

Total assets

Liabilities and shareholders  ́equity
Current liabilities
Bank loans
Trade and other payables
Hedge derivative financial instruments 
Embedded derivative for sales of concentrates, net
Provisions
Financial obligations

No- current liabilities
Provisions
Financial obligations
Deferred income tax liability, net

Total liabilities

Shareholders’ equity, net
Capital stock
Additional capital stock
Investment shares
Additional investment shares
Others capital reserves
Others equity reserves 
Retained earnings

Total shareholders’ equity, net

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity, net

4,389
49,545
23,590
9,812

340_________

87,676_________

1,997
26,029

621,234
-

2,937_________

652,197_________

739,873________

38,469
99,375
1,121

696
2,266

24,497_________

166,424_________

53,069
136,827

7,867_________

197,763_________

364,187_________

265,229
17,272
13,455

254
7,169

14
72,293_________

375,686_________

739,873________

5,326
81,132
25,030
5,950
2,854_________

120,292_________

4,631
12,535

621,385
1,350
2,888_________

642,789_________

763,081________

40,000
109,218

3,863
506

3,122
27,615_________

184,324_________

56,219
112,370

-_________

168,589_________

352,913_________

329,586
22,912
13,459

254
7,169

(2,723)
39,511_________

410,168_________

763,081________

6
7
8

7
8
9
14

10
11
26

26(c)
12
13

12
13
14

15

2015
US$(000)

2016
US$(000)

Note
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Statement of profit or loss

For the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015

Operating income
Net sales

Total operating income

Operating costs
Cost of sales, excluding depreciation and amortization
Depreciation and amortization
 
Total operating costs

Gross (loss) profit

Operating expenses
Administrative expenses
Selling expenses
Exploration in non-operating areas
Other income (expense), net

Total operating expenses, net

Operating (loss) profit

Other income (expenses), net 
Update of present value of the provision for closure of mining units
Participation in joint ventures
Finance costs, net
Loss from exchange difference, net

Total expenses, net

(Loss) profit before income tax

Income tax
Current
Deferred

Net loss

Net loss per share, basic and diluted, stated in U.S. dollars

Weighted average number of shares outstanding (in units)

171,294_________

171,294_________

(163,667)
(46,733)_________

(210,400)_________

(39,106)_________

(14,374)
(9,056)
(2,366)

(803)_________

(26,599)_________

(65,705)_________

135
(804)

(10,077)
(3,847)_________

(14,593)_________

(80,298)

(1,595)
5,704_________

(76,189)________

(0.579)_________

131,561,597_________

230,611_________

230,611_________

(178,231)
(53,637)_________

(231,868)_________

(1,257)_________

(11,802)
(10,650)
(1,940)

309_________

(24,083)_________

(25,340)_________

(1,834)
(50)

(10,413)
(270)_________

(12,567)_________

(37,907)

(2,726)
7,851_________

(32,782)________

(0.202)_________

162,497,656_________

17

18

19
20
21
22

12(b)

13(d)

14

23

2015
US$(000)

2016
US$(000)

Note
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Statement of changes in shareholders’ equity

For the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015

454,346

(76,189)

(2,471)_______

(78,660)_______

-_______

375,686

(32,782)

(2,737)_______

(35,519)_______

70,001_______

410,168______

Total
US$(000)

149,233

(76,189)

-_______

(76,189)_______

(751)_______

72,293

(32,782)

-_______

(32,782)_______

-_______

39,511______

Retained
earnings
US$(000)

2,485

-

(2,471)_______

(2,471)_______

-_______

14

-

(2,737)_______

(2,737)_______

-_______

(2,723)______

Other 
equity 

reserves
US$(000)

254

-

-_______

-_______

-_______

254

-

-_______

-_______

-_______

254______

Additional 
investment 

shares
US$(000)

13,455

-

-_______

-_______

-_______

13,455

-

-_______

-_______

4_______

13,459______

Investment 
shares

US$(000)

17,272

-

-_______

-_______

-_______

17,272

-

-_______

-_______

5,640_______

22,912______

Additional 
capital 
stock

US$(000)

265,229

-

-_______

-_______

-_______

265,229

-

-_______

-_______

64,357_______

329,586______

Balance as of January 1, 
2015

Net loss 
Net change in unrealized 

gain on hedge derivative 
financial instruments

Comprehensive income 
of the year

Capitalization, note 15(c)

Balance as of December
31, 2015

Net loss
Net change in unrealized 

loss on hedge derivative 
financial instruments, 
note 26(a)

Comprehensive income
of the year

Capital Contribution, 
note 15 (a)

Balance as of December
31, 2016

Capital 
stock

US$(000)

6,418

-

-_______

-_______

751_______

7,169

-

-_______

-_______

-_______

7,169______

Other 
capital 

reserves
US$(000)
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Statement of comprehensive income

For the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015

Net loss

Other comprehensive income of the period:

Other comprehensive income to be reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent
periods:

Net change in unrealized results on hedge derivative financial instruments
Income tax

Total comprehensive results of the period, net of income tax

(76,189)________

(3,278)
807________

(2,471)________

(78,660)_______

(32,782)________

(4,273)
1,536________

(2,737)________

(35,519)_______

26(a)

2015
US$(000)

2016
US$(000)

Nota



Statement of cash flows 

For the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015

Operating activities
Proceeds from sales
Income tax credit recovered
Payments to suppliers and others
Payments to employees
Interest payments on financial obligations
Income tax and mining taxes payments
Other collections (payments) of operations, net

Net cash and cash equivalents provided by (used in) operating activities

Investing activities
Proceeds from sales of property, plant and equipment
Purchase of property, plant and equipment
Disbursements for stripping costs

Net cash and cash equivalents used in investing activities 

Financing activities
Capital contributions
Proceeds from bank loans
Proceeds from related party loans
Bank loan payments
Proceeds from financial obligations
Payments of related loans
Payments of financial obligations

Net cash and cash equivalents provided by financing activities

Increase in cash and cash equivalents in the year, net
Exchange difference, net
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year

Cash and cash equivalents at year-end

Transactions that do not generate cash flows:
Changes in mine closure plan

183,746
5,390

(154,895)
(16,842)
(8,918)
(4,506)
(3,005)_________

970_________

1,000
(17,526)
(14,342)_________

(30,868)_________

-
35,000
5,000

-
227

-
(8,360)_________

31,867_________

1,969
(31)

2,451_________

4,389________

17,502

192,530
6,828

(171,385)
(22,977)
(9,974)
(4,825)

652_________

(9,151)_________

4,386
(24,688)
(17,633)_________

(37,935)_________

70,001
25,000
3,000

(25,000)
-

(5,000)
(19,980)_________

48,021_________

935
2

4,389_________

5,326________

3,037

2015
US$(000)

2016
US$(000)
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9

15
10
24
10

24

6

6

9 y  12(b)

Note



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

As of December 31, 2016 and 2015

1. Company´s identification and business activity
(a) Identification -

Sociedad Minera El Brocal S.A.A. (hereafter “the Company”) is a publicly traded corporation incorporated in Peru 
in 1956. Compañía de Minas Buenaventura S.A.A. owns direct and indirectly the 61.33 percent of Inversiones 
Colquijirca S.A.’s which owns 58.25 percent of its common shares. The Company’s legal address is Av. Javier 
Prado Oeste 2173, San Isidro, Lima, Peru.

(b) Economic activity -
The Company is engaged in the extraction, concentration and commercialization of polymetallic ores, mainly 
zinc, silver, lead and copper, and carries out its operations at the Colquijirca mining unit (which comprises the 
Colquijirca mine and the Huaraucaca plant) located in the district of Tinyahuarco, province of Cerro de Pasco, 
department of Pasco, Peru. 

During the years 2016 and 2015 the Company generated net losses of US $ 32,782,000 and US $ 76,189,000, 
respectively. During these years the Company's Management is focused on reducing and optimizing costs to a 
level that will support the low prices of the minerals it markets, as well as establishing a renewed base of 
operational management that will allow a recovery of the profitability of the investment. In this sense, it has been 
carrying out the following actions: improvements in operational processes, increased production through the use 
of maximum plant capacity, reduction of mining costs through contractor change, improvements in the Control 
System and protection of the ore conveyor belts, among other actions.

As of December 31, 2016 and 2015, in the opinion of the Management and its shareholders, there are no 
significant uncertainties that could cast doubt on the normal operation of the Company, nor do they present 
issues of non-compliance with the going concern principle.

(c) Financial statements approval -
The financial statements as of December 31, 2016 and for the year then ended were approved by the Company’s 
Management on February 14, 2017 and, in its opinion, will be approved without modifications in the Board of 
Directors and Shareholders’ Meetings within the terms established by law.

The financial statements as of December 31, 2015 were approved in a Board of Directors meeting held on 
February 11, 2016 and Shareholders ‘meeting held on March 17, 2016.

2. Basis of preparation and accounting policies Basis of preparation, presentation and changes in accounting policies
2.1. Basis of preparation -

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the International Financial Reporting 
Standards (hereinafter “IFRS”), as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (hereinafter “IASB”).

The financial statements of the Company have been prepared on a historical cost basis, except for financial 
assets and liabilities at fair value with change in results, that include derivative financial instruments. 

The financial statements are presented in U.S. dollars and all values are rounded to the nearest thousands, 
except when otherwise indicated.

The preparation of financial statements require that Management use judgments, estimates and assumptions, 
as detailed on the following note 3.

These financial statements provide comparative information in respect of prior periods.
 

2.2. Changes in accounting policies and disclosure - 
The Company applied for the first time certain standards and amendments, which have come into effect for 
annual periods beginning on or after January 1st 2016. The Company has not early adopted any standard, 
interpretation or amendment issued, which is not effective.

2.3. Summary of significant accounting policies -
(a) Foreign currency transactions -

The financial statements are presented in US dollars, which is the functional currency of the Company.  
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Transactions and balance 
Transactions in foreign currency (a currency other than the functional currency) are initially recorded by the 
Company at the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions, published by the Superintendence 
of Banking and Insurance and Pension Fund Administrators (AFP for its acronym in Spanish). 

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated into the functional currency 
using the exchange rates prevailing at the reporting date. Gains or losses from exchange differences arising 
from the settlement or translation of monetary assets and liabilities are recognized in the statement of profit 
or loss. 

Non-monetary assets and liabilities recognized in terms of historical cost are translated using the exchange 
rates prevailing at the dates of the original transactions. 

(b) Financial instruments: Initial recognition and subsequent measurement -
A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity and a financial liability 
or equity instrument of another entity. 

(i) Financial assets -  
Initial recognition and measurement -
Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, 
loans and receivables, held-to-maturity investments, available-for-sale financial assets, or derivatives 
designated as hedging instruments in an effective hedge, as appropriate. All financial assets are 
recognized initially at fair value plus, in the case of financial assets not recorded at fair value through profit 
or loss, transaction costs that are attributable to the acquisition of the financial asset. 

 
Subsequent measurement -
The subsequent measurement of financial assets is classified into four categories:
- Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss. 
- Loans and receivables. 
- Held-to-maturity investments.
- Available-for-sales financial investments

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss -
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss include financial assets held for trading and financial 
assets designated upon initial recognition at fair value through profit or loss. Financial assets are classified 
as held for trading if they are acquired for the purpose of selling or repurchasing in the near term. 
Derivatives, including separated embedded derivatives, are also classified as held for trading unless they 
are designated as effective hedging instruments, as defined by IAS 39. 

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried in the statement of financial position at fair 
value with net changes in fair value presented as finance costs (negative net changes) or finance income 
(positive changes) in the statement of profit or loss. 

Derivatives embedded in host contracts are accounted for as separate derivatives and recorded at fair 
value if their economic characteristics and risks are not closely related to those of the host contracts and 
the host contracts are not held for trading or designated at fair value though profit or loss. These 
embedded derivatives are measured at fair value, with changes in fair value recognized in profit or loss.

This category includes the hedge derivative financial instruments for metal quotation price and exchange 
rate and the embedded derivatives for sales of concentrate.

Loans and receivables -
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not 
quoted in an active market. After initial measurement, such financial assets are subsequently measured 
at amortized cost using the effective interest rate method, less impairment. The losses arising from 
impairment are recognized in the statement of profit or loss.

This category generally applies to trade and other receivables.

Held-to-maturity investments -
Held-to-maturity investments are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and 
fixed maturities that the Company’s Management has the positive intention and ability to hold to maturity. 
The Company did not maintain any held-to-maturity investment as of December 31, 2016 and 2015. 
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Available-for-sale financial investments –
The available-for-sale financial investments include investments in shares and debt securities. Equity 
investments classified as available for sale are those which are not classified as held for trading or are 
designated as at fair value through profit or loss. Debt securities in this category are those that are thought 
to have for an indefinite period of time and may be sold in response to liquidity requirements or changes in 
market conditions. The Company does not have these financial assets at December 31, 2016 and 2015.

Derecognition of financial assets -
A financial asset (or, where applicable a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar financial 
assets) is derecognized when:

- The rights to receive cash flows from such asset have expired.
- The Company has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset or has assumed an

obligation to pay the received cash flows to a third party under a pass-through arrangement; and (a) the 
Company has transferred substantially all of the risks and rewards of the asset or, (b) not having 
transferred or retained substantially all of the risks and rewards of the asset, it has transferred its 
control.

When the Company transfers its rights to receive cash flows from an asset or signs a transfer agreement, 
assesses whether and to what extent it has retained the risks and rewards of ownership. When has neither 
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred control of the 
asset, the asset is recognized to the extent that the Company will continue involvement with the asset. In 
this case, the Company also recognizes the associated liability. The transferred asset and the associated 
liability are measured on a basis that reflects the rights and obligations that the Company has retained.
 
Impairment of financial assets -
The Company assesses at the end of each period whether there is objective evidence of impairment of a 
financial asset or group of financial assets. A decline if one or more events that have occurred since the 
initial recognition of the asset ("loss event") has an impact on the estimated cash flows of the financial 
asset future cash or a group of financial assets and can be reliably estimated .

Evidence of impairment may include indications that the debtors or a group of debtors is experiencing 
significant financial difficulty, non-payment or delays in payment of interest or principal, likely to enter 
bankruptcy or other financial reorganization and other information indicating that there a significant 
decrease in the estimated future cash flows, such as changes in economic conditions that may cause 
failures.

For financial assets held at amortized cost, the Company first assesses whether objective evidence of 
impairment exists for financial assets that are individually significant, or collectively for financial assets 
that are individually insignificant.

The amount of any identified impairment loss is measured as the difference between the carrying amount 
of the asset and the present value of estimated future cash flows. This value is discounted using the 
original effective interest rate of the financial asset.

The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an allowance account and the loss is 
recognized in the statement of profit or loss. Interest income (recorded as revenue in the statement of 
profit or loss) continues to be accrued, using the interest rate used to discount future cash flows for the 
purpose of measuring the impairment loss. Loans and the related allowance are written off when there is 
no realistic expectation of a future recovery and all collateral has been realized or has been transferred to 
the Company. If, in a subsequent period the estimated impairment loss increases or decreases the 
amount due to an event occurring after the impairment was recognized, the impairment loss previously 
recognized value is increased or decreased by adjusting the allowance account. If an allowance is reversed 
subsequently, the recovery is credited as the financial cost in the statement of profit or loss.

(ii) Financial liabilities –
Initial recognition and measurement -
Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as financial liabilities at fair value through profit or 
loss, loans and borrowings, or as derivatives designated as hedging instruments in an effective hedge, as 
appropriate. 

All financial liabilities are recognized initially at fair value and, in the case of accounts payable and financial 
obligation, net of directly attributable transaction costs.
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The Company´s financial liabilities include trade and other payables, bank payable, financial obligations, 
hedge derivative financial instruments and embedded derivatives for sales of concentrates.

Subsequent measurement -
The measurement of financial liabilities depends on their classification as described below:

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss -
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss include financial liabilities held for trading and 
financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition as at fair value through profit or loss. 

Financial liabilities are classified as held for trading if they are acquired for the purpose of selling in the 
near term. This category includes derivative financial instruments entered into by the Company that are 
not designated as hedging instruments in hedge relationships as defined by IAS 39. Separated embedded 
derivatives are also classified as held for trading unless they are designated as hedging instruments.

Gains or losses on liabilities held for trading are recognized in the statement of profit or loss.  

This category includes the hedge derivative financial instruments for metal quotation price and exchange 
rate and the embedded derivatives for sales of concentrate.

Interest-bearing loans and borrowing -
After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowing are measured at amortized cost using the 
effective interest rate method. Any profit or loss is recognized in the statement of profit and cost when the 
liability is terminated, as well as through the process of amortizing the effective interest rate.

Amortized costs are calculated taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and fees or 
costs that are an integral part of the effective interest rate. Amortization of the effective interest rate is 
included in financial cost in the statement of profit or loss.

Derecognition of financial liabilities -
A financial liability is derecognized when the associated obligation is discharged or cancelled or expires. 

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different 
terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is 
treated as the derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of a new liability. The difference in 
the respective carrying amounts is recognized in the statement of profit or loss.

(iii) Offsetting of financial instruments -
Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset, and the net amount is reported in the statement of 
financial position if there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognized amounts and there 
is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to realize the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.

(c) Cash and cash equivalents -
Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of financial position comprise cash at banks and on time 
deposits.

For the purposes of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and short-term 
deposits with a maturity of three months or less, which are subject to an insignificant risk of change in value.

(d) Inventories -
Finished goods and products in process are valued at the lower of average cost or net realizable value. 

Cost is determined using the average method. In the case of finished goods and work in progress, cost 
includes the cost of materials and direct labor and a portion of indirect manufacturing expenses, excluding 
financing costs.

The current portion of the inventories is determined based on the expect amounts to be processed within the 
next twelve months. Inventories not expectect to be processed within the next twelve months are classified 
as long term.

The net realizable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less the estimated 
costs of completion and the estimated costs necessary to make the sale. 
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Allowance for obsolescence
The estimation for losses on the net realizable value are calculated based on a specific analysis conducted 
annually by the Management and is charged to profit or loss in the period in which it determines the need for 
the provision (reversal).

Classified mineral
The classified mineral is placed in stockpiles to be processed in the mid-term until the expansion project of 
the Company's operations is completed and generally contain lower grade ore than the average mineral 
currently treated. In this sense, the mineral is available to continue with the recovery process of minerals and 
concentrates.

According to the mine plan, classified mineral will be treated during 2017 and 2018. As consequence, the 
mineral is accounted for as non-current inventory and measured at the lower of cost and net realizable 
value. Annually, the Company’s Management assess the net realizable value of its non-current inventory 
based on the cash-flow projections obtained by the production and sales of the low grade ore stockpiled 
considering to: (i) the forward copper price at the year that to be expected to process the low grade ore, (ii) the 
future costs of processing (considering inflation rates, technological changes and other significant aspects 
would change), and (iii) the discount rate.

(e) Participation in joint venture
A joint venture is a type of joint arrangement in which the parties with joint control of the arrangement have 
rights to the net assets of the arrangement. Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing of control of an 
arrangement, which exists only when decisions about the relevant activities require unanimous consent of 
the parties sharing control.

The considerations made in determining significant influence or joint control is similar to those necessary to 
determine control over affiliates. The Company’s investments in joint venture are accounted using the equity 
method. Under the equity method, the investment in a joint venture is initially recognized at cost. The carrying 
amount of the investment is adjusted to recognize changes in the Company’s share of net assets of the 
associate or joint venture since the acquisition date.

The statement of profit or loss reflects the Company’s share of the results of operations of joint venture. In 
addition, when there has been a change recognized directly in the equity of the joint venture, the Company 
recognizes its share of any changes, when applicable, in the statement of changes in shareholders’ equity.

The Company’s share of profit or loss of a joint venture is shown separately on the statement of profit and loss 
and represents profit or loss after tax in the joint venture.

After application of the equity method, the Company determines whether it is necessary to recognize an 
impairment loss on its investment in joint venture. 

At each reporting date, the Company determines whether there is objective evidence that the investment in 
the joint venture is impaired. If there is such evidence, the Company calculates the amount of impairment as 
the difference between the recoverable amount of the joint venture and its carrying value, and recognizes the 
loss in the statement of profit or loss.

Upon loss of joint control over the joint venture, the Company measures and recognizes any retained 
investment at its fair value. Any difference between the carrying amount of the joint venture upon loss of joint 
control and the fair value of the retained investment and proceeds from disposal is recognized in profit or 
loss.

(f) Property, plant and equipment -
Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost, net of accumulated depreciation and accumulated 
impairment losses, if any. 

The initial cost of an asset comprises its purchase price or construction cost, any costs directly attributable to 
bringing the asset into operation, the initial estimate of the rehabilitation obligation, and borrowing costs for 
qualifying assets. The capitalized value of a finance lease is also included in property, plant and equipment.

When significant parts of property, plant and equipment are required to be replaced at intervals, the Company 
depreciates them separately based on their specific useful lives. Also, when a major inspection is performed, 
its cost is recognized in the carrying amount of plant and equipment as a replacement if the recognition 
criteria are satisfied. All other maintenance and repair costs are recognized in profit or loss as incurred.
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Depreciation -  
Units-of-production method:
Depreciation of an asset directly related to the operation of the mine, whose useful life is greater than that of 
the mining unit, is calculated using units of production method, which is based on economically recoverable 
reserves of the mining unit. Other assets related to the mining unit are depreciated using the straight-line 
method with the useful lives detailed in the following paragraph.

Straight-line method:
Depreciation of assets whose useful life is less than the mining unit life is calculated under the straight-line 
method of accounting considering the lower of estimated useful lives of the asset or useful life of the mining 
unit. The useful lives are the following:

The asset’s residual value, useful lives and methods of depreciation of property, plant and equipment are 
reviewed and adjusted prospectively, if appropriate, at each financial year end.

Disposal of assets - 
An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognized upon disposal or when no future economic 
benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss arising from derecognizing an asset 
(calculated as the difference between the proceeds from the sale and the book value of the asset) is included 
in the statement of profit or loss in the year the asset is derecognized.

(g) Leases -
The determination of whether an arrangement is, or contains, a lease is based on the substance of the 
arrangement at the date of inception. The arrangement is assessed to determine whether fulfilment is 
dependent on the use of a specific asset (or assets) and the arrangement conveys a right to use the asset (or 
assets), even if that right is not explicitly specified in an arrangement.

The Company as a lessee - 
Finance leases, which transfer to the Company substantially all of the risks and benefits incidental to 
ownership of the leased item to the Company, are capitalized at the commencement of the lease at the fair 
value of the leased property or, if lower, at the present value of the minimum lease payments. Lease 
payments are apportioned between finance charges and reduction of the lease liability to achieve a constant 
rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability. Finance charges are recognized in finance costs in the 
statement of profit or loss.

A leased asset is depreciated over the useful life of the asset. However, if there is no reasonable certainty that 
the Company will obtain ownership by the end of the lease term, the asset is depreciated over the shorter of 
the estimated useful life of the asset and the lease term.

Operating lease payments are recognized as operating expenses in the statement of profit or loss on a 
straight-line basis over the lease term.

(h) Exploration and mine development costs – 
Exploration expenditure –
Exploration costs are expensed as incurred. These costs primarily include materials and fuels used, 
surveying costs, drilling costs and payments made to the contractors.  

Exploration activity includes: 

- Researching and analyzing historical exploration data.
- Increasing gathering exploration data through geophysical studies.
- Exploratory drilling and sampling.
- Determining and examining the volume and grade of the resource.
- Surveying transportation and infrastructure requirements.
- Conducting market and finance studies.

Buildings, construction and other
Machinery and equipment
Transportation units
Furniture and fixtures
Other equipment
Computer equipment

20
Between 10 and 20

5
6

Between 5 and 6
4

Years
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Development costs –
When the Company’s Management approves the feasibility of the conceptual study of a project, the costs 
incurred to develop such property, including additional costs to delineate the ore body and remove impurities 
it contains, are capitalized as development costs under the caption of property, plant and equipment, net. 
These costs are amortized when production begins, on the units-of-production basis over the proven and 
probable reserves.

The development costs include:

- Metallurgical and engineering studies.
- Drilling and other costs necessary to delineate ore body.
- Removal of the initial clearing related to an ore body.

Development costs necessary to maintain production are expensed as incurred.

(i) Stripping (waste removal) costs -
As part of its mining operations, the Company incurs stripping (waste removal) costs both during the 
development phase and production phase of its operations. Stripping costs incurred in the development 
phase of a mine, before the production phase commences (development stripping), are capitalized as part of 
the cost of constructing the mine and subsequently amortized over its useful life using units of production 
method. The capitalization of development stripping costs ceases when the mine starts production.

Stripping costs incurred during the production phase are generally considered to create two benefits, being 
either the production of inventory or improved access to the ore to be mined in the future. Where the benefits 
are realized in the form of inventory produced in the period, the production stripping costs are accounted for 
as part of the cost of producing those inventories. Where the benefits are realized in the form of improved 
access to ore to be mined in the future, the costs are recognized as a non-current asset, referred to as a 
stripping activity asset, if the following criteria are met:

- Future economic benefits are probable.
- The component of the ore body for which access will be improved can be accurately identified.
- The costs associated with the improved access can be reliably measured.

If any of the criteria are not fulfilled, the production extraction costs are charged to the result as operating 
costs to the extent they are incurred.

To identify components of deposit, the Company works closely with the operating personnel to analyze the 
mine plans. Mostly, a reservoir can have several components. The mine plans, and therefore the 
identification of components can vary between mines for diverse reasons.

The stripping activity asset is initially measured at cost, which surges from an accumulation of costs directly 
incurred during the stripping activity. 

The cost of production is subsequently clearing depreciated using the units of production method taking into 
account the life of the component identified in the reservoir that is more accessible as a result of the stripping 
activity. This cost is stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses, if any.

(j) Impairment of non-financial assets -
The Company assesses, at each reporting date, whether there is an indication that an asset may be impaired. 
If any indication exists, or when annual impairment testing for an asset is required, the Company estimates 
the asset recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s or cash generating unit 
(hereinafter CGU) fair value less costs of disposal and its value in use. The recoverable amount is determined 
for an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those 
from other assets or groups of assets. Where the carrying amount of an asset or CGU exceeds its recoverable 
amount, the asset is considered impaired and is written down to its recoverable amount. 

In calculating value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a 
pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks 
specific to the asset. In determining Fair value less cost of disposal, recent market transactions (where 
available) are taken into account. If no such transactions can be identified, an appropriate valuation model is 
used.

Impairment losses of continuing operations, including impairment of inventories, are recognized in the
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statement of profit or loss in those expense categories consistent with the function of the impaired asset. 

For assets an assessment is made at each reporting date to determine whether there is an indication that 
previously recognized impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. If such indication 
exists, the Company estimates the asset’s or CGU recoverable amount. A previously recognized impairment 
loss is reversed only if there has been a change in the assumptions used to determine the assets/CGU’s 
recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was recognized. The reversal is limited so that the 
carrying amount of the asset does not exceed either its recoverable amount, or the carrying amount that 
would have been determined, net of depreciation, had no impairment loss been recognized for the asset in 
prior years. Such a reversal is recognized in the statement of profit or loss.

(k) Provisions -
General -
Provisions are recognized when the Company has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a 
past event, it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle 
the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. When they are significant, 
provisions are discounted using a current rate that reflects, where appropriate, the risks specific to the 
liability. When discounting is used, the increase in the provision due to the passage of time is recognized as a 
financial expense.

Provision for closure of mining units -
When the provision is initially recognized, the present value of the estimated costs is capitalized by increasing 
the carrying amount of the long – life assets (property, plant and equipment). Subsequently, the provision 
increases in each period to reflect the cost of interest considered in the initial estimate of fair value and, in 
addition, the capitalized cost is depreciated and/or amortized based on the useful life of the asset. To settle the 
obligation, the Company records in profit or loss any resulting gain or loss.

Changes in the fair value of the obligation or the useful life of the related assets arising from the review of the 
initial estimates are recorded as an increase or decrease in the carrying amount of the obligation and the 
related asset. 

Any reduction in a provision for mine closure and, therefore, any deduction from the asset to which it relates, 
may not exceed the carrying amount of that asset. If it does, any excess over that carrying amount is taken 
immediately to the statement of profit or loss. 

If the change in estimate results in an increase in the provision and, therefore, an increase in the carrying 
value of the asset, the Company considers whether this is an indication of impairment of the asset as a whole, 
and if so, tests for impairment according to IAS 36 “Impairment of assets”.

In the case of closed mines, the changes in estimates are recorded in the statement of profit or loss.

(l) Revenue recognition -   
Revenue is recognized to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Company 
and can be reliably measurement, regardless of when the payment is being made. Revenue is measured at 
the fair value of the consideration received, excluding right and taxes. The following specific recognition 
criteria must also be met before revenue is recognized:

Sales of concentrates -
Revenues from sales of concentrates, are recognized when the significant risks and rewards of ownership of 
the goods have passed to the buyer, usually on delivery of the goods.

Contract terms for the Company’s sale of concentrate allow for a price adjustment based on final assay 
results of the metal in concentrate to determine the final content. With respect to the measurement of 
concentrates sales, at sales recognition date, the Company recognizes the revenue at a provisional value 
according to quotation prices at that date. The period of quotation correspond to the prices at a future specific 
date (date of the final liquidation), after the date of the delivery (date of the provisional liquidation). The period 
between provisional invoicing and final settlement can be between one and six months.

Sales contracts for metal in concentrate that have provisional pricing features are considered to contain an 
embedded derivative, which is required to be separated from the host contract for accounting purposes. The 
host contract is the sale of metals in concentrate, and the embedded derivative is the forward contract for 
which the provisional sale is subsequently adjusted with final liquidations. The embedded derivative is 
originated by the fluctuation of metal prices since the provisional liquidation until the date of final liquidation. 
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The embedded derivative, which does not qualify for hedge accounting, is initially recognize at fair value, with 
subsequent changes in the fair value recognized in the statement of profit or loss, and presented in the net 
sales. Changes in fair value over the quotation period and up until final settlement are estimated by reference 
to forward market commodity prices.

Interest revenue -
For all financial instruments measured at amortized cost and interest-bearing financial assets classified as 
available for-sale, interest income or expense is recorded using the EIR, which is the rate that exactly 
discounts the estimated future cash payments or receipts through the expected life of the financial 
instrument or a shorter period, where appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the financial asset or 
liability. Interest revenue is included in finance revenue in the statement of profit or loss.

(m) Borrowing costs -
Costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset are capitalized as 
finance part of the cost of an asset. A qualifying asset is one whose value is greater than US$5 million and 
requires a construction period of more than 12 months to get ready for its intended use. All other borrowing 
costs are recognized in the statement of profit and loss in the period in which they are incurred. Borrowing 
costs include interest and other costs that the Company incurs in obtaining financing. 

(n) Taxes –
Current income tax -
Assets and liabilities for current income tax are measured at the amount expected to be recovered from or 
paid or the tax authority. The tax rates and tax laws used to compute the amount are those that are in effect 
at the close of the reporting period under review.

Management periodically evaluates positions taken in tax returns with respect to situations in which 
applicable tax regulations are subject to interpretation and establishes provisions when appropriate. 

Deferred income tax -
The income tax, mining royalties and special mining tax for future periods are recognized using the liability 
method, considering the temporary differences between the taxes and accounting bases of assets and 
liabilities as of the date of the statement of financial position.

Liabilities for deferred income taxes are recognized for all taxable temporary differences.

The deferred income tax assets are recognized for all deductible temporary differences, and the future 
compensation of tax credits and tax loss carryforwards utilized, to the extent that the existence of future 
taxable income against which it probably is can offset these deductible temporary differences, and/or they 
can use those tax credits and tax loss carryforwards. 

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date and reduced to the extent that 
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax 
asset to be utilized. Unrecognized deferred tax assets are re-assessed at each reporting date and are 
recognized to the extent that it has become probable that future taxable profits will allow the deferred tax 
asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the year when 
the asset is realized or the liability is settled, based on tax rates and tax rules that have been enacted or 
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The deferred income tax is recognized in relation to the item that originates it, either in results or directly in 
equity.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset, if a legal enforceable right exists to set off current tax assets 
against current tax liabilities, and the deferred income taxes relate to the same taxable entity and the same 
taxation authority.

Mining Royalties and Special Mining Tax -
Mining royalties and special mining tax are accounted for in accordance with IAS 12 “Income tax” because 
they have the characteristics of an income tax. This is to be the case when they are imposed under 
government authority and the amount payable is based on taxable income – rather than physical quantities 
produced or a percentage of revenue – after adjustment for temporary differences. Legal rules and rates 
used to calculate the amounts payable are those in effect on the date of the statement of financial position.
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Therefore, payments made by the Company to government authority as Mining Royalties and Special 
Mining Tax are in the scope of IAS 12 and are considered as income tax. Both, Mining Royalties and Special 
Mining Tax generate deferred assets and liabilities which are measured using average rates expected to be 
applied to operating profits in the quarters in which the Company expects to reverse the temporary 
differences.

Sales tax –
Revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities are recognized net of the amount of sales tax except:

(i) Where the sales tax incurred on a purchase of assets or services is not recoverable from the taxation
authority, in which case the sales tax is recognized as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part 
of the expense item, as applicable;

(ii) When receivables and payables are stated with the amount of sales tax included.

The net amount of sales tax recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included as part of 
receivables or payables in the statement of financial position, as applicable.
 

(o) Fair value measurement
The Company measures derivatives at fair value at each balance-sheet date. 

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly 
transaction between market participants at the measurement date. The fair value measurement is based on 
the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either:

- In the principal market for the asset or liability.
- In the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability.

The Company uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient 
data are available to measure fair value, maximizing the use of relevant observable inputs and minimizing 
the use of unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements are 
categorized within the fair value hierarchy, described, as follows, based on the lowest-level input that is 
significant to the fair value measurement as a whole:

- Level 1 - Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.
- Level 2 - Valuation techniques for which the lowest-level input that is significant to the fair value 
- Level 3 - Valuation techniques for which the lowest-level input that is significant to the fair value measurement

is unobservable.

For assets and liabilities that are recognized in the financial statements on a recurring basis, the Company 
determines whether transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by reassessing categorization 
(based on the lowest-level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of 
each reporting period.

The Company´s Management determines the policies and procedures for both recurring fair value 
measurement, such as derivatives, and non-recurring measurement, such as impairment tests. At each 
reporting date, management analyzes the movements in the values of assets and liabilities which are 
required to be remeasured or re–assessed as per the Company´s accounting policies.
 
For the purpose of fair value disclosures, the Company has determined classes of assets and liabilities 
based on the nature, characteristics and risks of the asset or liability and the level of the fair value hierarchy 
as explained above.

(p) Derivative financial instruments -
Initial recognition and subsequent measurement –
The Company uses derivative instruments to manage its exposure to changes in metal prices and exchange 
rate risk (exchange rate forward contract). Such derivative instruments are initially recognized at fair value in 
force on the date on which the derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently restated at fair value. 
Derivatives are presented as financial assets when the fair value is positive and as liabilities when fair value 
is negative.
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At the inception date of the hedge relation, the Company formally documents hedge relation for which will 
apply the hedge accounting, the objective and the strategy to be taken to carry out the hedging. 

The documentation includes identification of the hedging instrument, the asset covered, the nature of the 
risk being hedged and how the entity will assess the effectiveness of changes in the fair value of the hedging 
instrument in offsetting the exposure to changes in flows cash attributable to the hedged risk. Hedges are 
expected to be highly effective in offsetting changes in cash flow hedges and are constantly evaluated to 
determine if they are really being highly effective for financial reporting periods for which they have been 
designated as such.

All of the Company hedges are classified as cash flows. The effective portion of gain or loss on the hedging 
instrument is initially recognized in the statement of changes in equity, under the caption "other equity 
reserves", while the ineffective portion is recognized immediately in the statement of profit or loss under the 
“financial cost” caption.

(q) Benefits to employees -
Salaries and wages, bonuses, post-employment benefits and vacations are calculated in accordance with 
IAS 19, "Employee Benefits" and are calculated in accordance with current Peruvian legislation based on the 
accrual basis.

(r) Segments -
An operating segment is a component of an entity that: (i) engages in business activities from which it may 
earn revenues and incur expenses (including revenues and expenses related to transactions with other 
components of the same entity), (ii) Are regularly reviewed by Management to make decisions about the 
resources to be allocated to the segment and to evaluate their performance and (iii) for which confidential 
financial information is available.

The Board is responsible for making operational decisions of the Company, authorizing the allocation of 
resources and evaluating its performance as an operating entity whose main activity is the investment in 
companies that are developed in different sectors of the economy. In this way, the Company has organized its 
operating segments in the different activities it carries out, the same ones that are presented, in accordance 
with international financial reporting standards, in its financial statements.

 3. Judgments, estimates and assumptions significant accounting -
The preparation of the Company´s financial statements requires Management to make judgments, estimates and 
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and the accompanying 
disclosures, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities at the date of the financial statements. Estimates and 
assumptions are continually evaluated and are based on management’s experience and other factors, including 
expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. Uncertainty about these 
assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that require a material adjustment to the carrying amount of 
assets or liabilities affected in future periods. Below is information about each of these areas and the impact on the 
financial statements and accounting policies of the Company for the implementation of the judgments, estimates 
and significant accounting assumptions that have been used are presented below, as well as in the notes to the 
statements Respective financial statements.

3.1. Judgments 
In the process of applying the Company´s accounting policies, Management has made the following judgments, 
which have the most significant effect on the amounts recognized in the financial statements: 

(a) Contingencies -     
By their nature, contingencies will only be resolved when one or more future events occur or fail to occur. 
Assessing the existence and potential amount of contingencies inherently involves the exercise of significant 
judgment and the use of estimates about the outcome of future events.

(b) Stripping costs -  
The Company incurs waste removal costs (stripping costs) during the development and production phases 
of its surface mining operations. During the production phase, stripping costs (production stripping costs) 
can be incurred both in relation to the production of inventory in that period and the creation of improved 
access and mining flexibility in relation to ore to be mined in the future. The former are included as part of the 
costs of inventory, while the latter are capitalized as a stripping activity asset, where certain criteria are met. 
Significant judgment is required to distinguish between development stripping and production stripping and 
to distinguish between the production stripping that relates to the extraction of inventory and what relates to 
the creation of a stripping activity asset.
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Once the Company has identified its production stripping for each surface mining operation, it identifies the 
separate components of the ore bodies for each of its mining operations. An identifiable component is a 
specific volume of the ore body that is made more accessible by the stripping activity. Significant judgment is 
required to identify and define these components, and also to determine the expected volumes (e.g., in tons) 
of waste to be stripped and ore to be mined in each of these components.  

(c) Production start date -
The Company assesses the stage of each mine under development to determine when a mine moves into 
the production phase. The criteria used to assess the start date are determined based on the unique nature 
of each mining project, such as the complexity of the project and its location. The Company considers various 
relevant criteria to assess when the production phase is considered to have commenced. Some of the 
criteria used to identify the production start date include, but are not limited to:

- Level of capital expenditure incurred compared to the original construction cost estimates.
- Completion of a reasonable period of testing of the mine plant and equipment.
- Ability to produce metal in saleable form (within specifications).
- Ability to sustain ongoing production of metal.

When a mine development /construction project moves into the production phase, the capitalization of 
certain mine development costs ceases and costs are either regarded as forming part of the cost of inventory 
or expensed, except for costs that qualify for capitalization relating to mining asset additions or 
improvements. It is also at this point that depreciation or amortization commences.

3.2. Estimates and assumptions
The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the reporting 
date that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and 
liabilities within the next financial year, are described below. The Company based its assumptions and 
estimates on parameters available when the financial statements were prepared. Existing circumstances and 
assumptions about future developments, however, may change due to market change or circumstances 
arising beyond the control of the Company. Such changes are reflected in the assumptions when they occur.

(a) Determination of mineral reserves and resources -
The following are key future-related assumptions and other key sources of uncertainty estimates as of the 
date of the financial statements and which carry a high risk of significant adjustments to the carrying 
amounts of assets and liabilities during the year. Next period. The Company has based its estimates and 
assumptions on the basis of the parameters available at the time of preparation of these financial 
statements. However, current circumstances and assumptions about future events may change due to 
changes in the market and new circumstances that may arise beyond the control of the Company. The 
changes are reflected in the assumptions at the time of occurrence.

The process of estimating the amount of reserves is complex and requires making subjective decisions at 
the time of evaluating all the geologic, geophysical, engineering and economic information that is available. 
Revisions could occur in estimated reserves due to, among other things, revisions of the geologic data or 
assumptions, changes in assumed prices, production costs and the results of exploration activities. 

Changes in estimated reserves could affect mainly the book value of property, plant and equipment; charges 
of depreciation and amortization, and the book value of the provision form mine closing. 

(b) Unit-of-production depreciation - 
Reserves are used in determining the depreciation and amortization of mine specific assets. This results in 
a depreciation or amortization charge proportional to the depletion of the anticipated remaining life of mine. 
Each item’s life is assessed annually considering its physical life limitations, and present assessments of 
economically recoverable reserves of the mine property. These calculations require the use of estimates and 
assumptions, including the amount of recoverable reserves. Changes are recorded prospectively.

(c) Provision for closure of mining units - 
The Company assesses its provision for closure of mining units annually. Significant estimates and 
assumptions are made in determining this provision, as there are numerous factors that will affect the 
ultimate liability. These factors include estimates of the extent and costs of rehabilitation activities, 
technological changes, regulations changes, costs increases as compared to the inflation rates and changes 
in the discount rates. These uncertainties may result in future actual expenditure differing from the amounts 
currently provided. The provision at reporting date represents Management́ s best estimate of the present 
value of future rehabilitation costs required. 
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(d) Inventories - 
Inventories are classified in short and long term in accordance with the time that Management estimates 
will start the production of the concentrate extracted from the mining unit. 

Net realizable value tests are performed at each reporting date and represent the estimated future sales 
price of the product the entity expects to realize when the product is processed and sold, less estimated costs 
to complete production and bring the product to sale. 

The deposits of low-grade ore mined from the Colquijirca mining unit are measured by estimating the 
number of tons added and removed, the number of tons of concentrates content is based on measurements 
of test samples obtained by drilling. The recovery percentages of copper, lead and zinc mineral deposits are 
determined by qualified metallurgical sampling. The recovery of copper, lead and zinc mineral deposits, 
once in the production process, could be quickly converted in mineral concentrate.

(e) Impairment of non-financial asset -
The Company assesses in each reporting period to determine whether any indication of impairment exists. 
Where an indicator of impairment exists, a formal estimate of the recoverable amount is made, which is 
considered to be the higher of the fair value less costs of disposal (FVLCD) and value in use (VIU). The 
assessments require the use of estimates and assumptions such as long-term commodity prices, discount 
rates, operating costs, and others. These estimates and assumptions are subject to risk and uncertainty.

The recoverable amount of mining assets is generally determined by the present value of future cash flows 
arising from the continued use of the asset, which includes estimates as the cost of future expansion plans, 
using assumptions that a third party could consider. The cash flows are discounted to their present value 
using a discount rate that reflects the current assessment of the value of money over time market and 
specific risks of the asset or cash-generating unit. 

(f) Taxes –
Deferred tax assets are recognized for unused tax losses to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit 
will be available against which the losses can be utilized. Significant Management judgment is required to 
determine the amount of deferred tax assets that can be recognized, based upon the likely timing and the 
level of future taxable profits together with future tax planning strategies.

4. Standards issued but not effective
The relevant standards and interpretations that are issued, but not yet effective, up to the date of issuance of the 
Company’s financial statements are disclosed below. The Company intends to adopt these standards, if applicable, 
when they become effective.

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments -
In July 2014, the IASB issued the final version of IFRS 9 Financial Instruments which reflects all phases of the 
financial instruments project and replaces IAS 39 and all previous versions of IFRS 9. IFRS 9 brings together all three 
aspects of the accounting for financial instruments project: classification and measurement, impairment and hedge 
accounting. IFRS 9 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018, with early application 
permitted. Except for hedge accounting, retrospective application is required, but the provision of comparative 
information is not compulsory. For hedge accounting, the requirements are generally applied prospectively, with 
some limited exceptions.

The adoption of IFRS 9 will have an effect on the classification and measurement of the Company's financial assets, 
but no impact on the classification and measurement of its financial liabilities. It is expected that the adoption of IFRS 
9 will not have a significant effect on the classification and measurement of the financial assets and financial 
liabilities of the Company.

IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers -
IFRS 15 was issued in May 2014 and establishes a new five-step model that will apply to revenue arising from 
contracts with customers. Under IFRS 15, revenue is recognized at an amount that reflects the consideration to 
which an entity expects to be entitled in exchange for transferring goods or services to a customer. The principles in 
IFRS 15 provide a more structured approach to measuring and recognizing revenue. The new revenue standard is 
applicable to all entities and will supersede all current revenue recognition requirements under IFRS. Either a full 
retrospective application or a modified retrospective application is required for annual periods beginning on or after 
January 1, 2018. Early adoption is permitted.

The Company is currently in the process of diagnosing and evaluating the effects that the adoption of this standard 
will have on its processes and financial statements, including the new disclosure requirements; So, to date, the
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impact that it may have on internal processes and financial statements has not yet been estimated.

IFRS 16 “Leases”
IFRS 16 sets out the principles for the recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure of leases and 
requires lessees to account for all leases under a single on-balance sheet model similar to the accounting for 
finance leases under IAS 17. The standard includes two recognition exemptions for lessees: leases of ’low-value’ 
assets and short-term leases. It is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2019, with early 
application permitted. The Company is currently evaluating the impact of the IFRS 16 in its consolidated financial 
statements and expects to adopt this new standard at the date required by the effective date.

At the date of a lease contract, the lessee will recognize a liability for the present value of the lease payments that 
were not paid on that date and an asset for the right to use the asset during the lease term. The lessees shall 
separately recognize the interest expense on the liability for the lease and the depreciation expense on the right to 
use the asset.

Lessees will also be required to revalue the lease liability at certain events (for example, a change in the lease term, 
a change in future lease payments that result from a change in the index or the rate used for determine such 
payments). The lessee will recognize the amount of this valuation of the liability as an adjustment in the 
corresponding right of use of the asset.

Accounting for lessors under IFRS 16 does not change substantially from current accounting in accordance with IAS 
17. Lessors will continue to classify all leases using the same classification principle as in IAS 17 and distinguish two 
leases: operational and financial.

IFRS 16 also requires lessees and lessors makes disclosures of information more extensive than those required by 
IAS 17.

IFRS 16 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2019. Advance application is permitted but 
not before the entity applies IFRS 15. The lessee may choose to apply the standard using a complete retrospective 
approach or modify it. The transitional provisions of the standard allow certain facilities.

Considering the effective date of the standard and the expect of not adopt it in advance, the Company evaluate the 
schedule for the analysis of this standard and the quantification of the potential effect in its financial statements.

IAS 7 Disclosure Initiative – Amendments to IAS 7
The amendments to IAS 7, Statement of Cash Flows, are part of the IASB’s Disclosure Initiative and require an entity 
to provide disclosures that enable users of financial statements to evaluate changes in liabilities arising from 
financing activities, including both changes arising from cash flows and non-cash changes. On initial application of 
the amendment, entities are not required to provide comparative information for preceding periods. These 
amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2017, with early application permitted. 
Application of the amendments will result in additional disclosures provided by the Company.

IAS 12 Recognition of Deferred Tax Assets for Unrealized Losses - Amendments to IAS 12
The amendments clarify that an entity needs to consider whether tax law restricts the sources of taxable profits 
against which it may make deductions on the reversal of that deductible temporary difference. Furthermore, the 
amendments provide guidance on how an entity should determine future taxable profits and explain the 
circumstances in which taxable profit may include the recovery of some assets for more than their carrying amount.

Entities are required to apply the amendments retrospectively. However, on initial application of the amendments, 
the change in the opening equity of the earliest comparative period may be recognized in the opening retained 
earnings (or in another component of equity, as appropriate), without allocating the change between opening 
retained earnings and other components of equity. Entities applying this relief must disclose that fact. 

These amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2017 with early application 
permitted. If an entity applies the amendments for an earlier period, it must disclose that fact. These amendments 
are not expected to have any impact on the Company.

5. Transactions in foreign currency
Transactions in foreign currency are completed using exchange rates published by the Superintendent of Banks, 
Insurance and AFP. As of December 31, 2016, the exchange rates for U.S. dollars published by this Institution were 
US$0.2983 for buying and US$0.2976 for selling (US$0.2934 for buying and US$0.2930 for selling as of December 
31, 2015) and have been applied for the assets and liabilities accounts, respectively.
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Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Trade and other receivables, net

Liabilities
Trade and other payables
Banks loans
Provisions

Net asset position

1,871
109,802_________

111,673_________

(20,053)
(80,100)
(5,804)_________

(105,957)_________

5,716________

2,419
103,832_________

106,251_________

(51,754)
-

(6,126)_________

(57,880)_________

48,371________

2015
S/ (000)

2016
S/ (000)

As of December 31, 2016 and 2015, the Company had the following assets and liabilities denominated in Soles: 

6. Cash and cash equivalents
This caption is made up as follow:

Current bank accounts are freely available and generate interest at market rates.

Cash 
Bank accounts

17
4,372_________

4,389________

15
5,311_________

5,326________

2015
US$(000)

2016
US$(000)
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Accounts receivable, net (b)
Domestic clients
Foreign clients

Allowance for impairment of accounts receivables

Other accounts receivable 
Value added tax credit
Sale of materials and supplies (c)
Tax deposits (d)
Request for return of the general sales tax
Claims to tax authorities (e)
Loans to third parties (f)
Advances to suppliers
Sale of property (g)
Other 

Total accounts receivable and others, net

20,434
4,121_________

24,555
(4,132)_________

20,423_________

16,850
601

2,792
1,113
2,700
1,997

647
4,343

76_________

31,119_________

51,542________

36,817
20,437_________

57,254
(4,132)_________

53,122_________

16,287
4,191
2,988
2,827
2,492
2,139

107
-

1,610_________

32,641_________

85,763________

2015
US$(000)

2016
US$(000)

7. Accounts receivable and others, net
(a) This caption is made up as follow:

(b) Below the classification of accounts receivables by maturity:

The allowance for impairment of accounts receivables do not have movement during 2016 and 2015. 

In the opinion of the Company’s Management, the allowance for impairment for accounts receivable is sufficient 
to cover the risk of default to the date of the statement of financial position. Accounts receivable due but not 

Classification by maturity:
Current portion
Non-current portion

Classification by nature: 
Financial assets
Non-financial assets

49,545
1,997_________

51,542________

31,992
19,550_________

51,542________

81,132
4,631_________

85,763________

64,157
21,606_________

85,763________

2015
US$(000)

2016
US$(000)

2016
2015

1,746
1,834

More than 120 days
US$(000)

8,695
2,015

From 1 to 120 days
US$(000)

Past due but not impaired 

53,122
20,423

Total
US$(000)

42,681
16,574

Neither past due 
nor impaired

US$(000)
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impaired are within normal ranges in the industry, and are related to the provisional assessments pending final 
settlement.

(c) As of December 31, 2016 and 2015, accounts receivable from contractors operating in the mining unit, mainly  
from the sale of oil and supplies.

(d) Corresponds to deposits held in the Peruvian State bank and the Tax Administration has arranged to retain based  
on its supervisory faculty. This fund may be used only to offset tax debts that the Company has with the Tax 
Administration.

(e) Corresponds to payments made by the Company of approximately S/8,333,000 (equivalent to US$2,480,000 as pf 
December 31,2016 and US$2,445,000 as of December 31, 2015), mainly due to tax objections related to the 
Income Tax 2011 inspection. The tax objections are related to the loss on derivative financial instruments and the 
calculation of mining royalties. See note 25 (d). Subsequently, the Company filed an appeal against the 
observations of the tax authority, which to date is pending resolution. In order to benefit from the discount of the 
fine, the Company paid the tax debt under protest.

(f) Corresponds to disbursements made by the Company as a participant Consorcio Transportadora Callao, whose  
objective was the construction of a belt conveyor fixed and mineral deposits in the Port of Callao. This receivable 
bears interest at an annual rate of 6.25 percent plus Libor 3 months and is expected to be recovered from the year 
2019.

(g) At December 31, 2015 corresponded to the balance receivable for the sale of a property, which was canceled in 
the first quarter of 2016. The sale transaction generated a profit of US$3,100,000 that was presented in other 
income (expenses) , Net of income statement. See note 22.

8. Inventories, net
(a) This caption is made up as follow:

Classified mineral (b)
Concentrates
Copper mineral
Spare parts and supplies
Others

Provision for impairment of classified mineral
Provision for obsolescence of spare parts and supplies

Total provision for impairment of inventories

Inventories, net
 
Classification by maturity:

Current portion
Non-current portion

31,077
5,525
2,687

13,181
116_______

52,586

(2,733)
(234)_______

(2,967)_______

49,619______

23,590
26,029_______

49,619______

18,244
222

2,789
16,993

-_______

38,248

(123)
(560)_______

(683)_______

37,565______

25,030
12,535_______

37,565______

2015
US$(000)

2016
US$(000)
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(b) The table below shows the composition of the classified mineral that is stored mainly in the surrounding stocks 
in Tajo Norte mine as of December 31, 2016 and 2015: 

The Company's Management expects to use the long ore during 2017 and 2018 according to the new mining 
plans prepared by the Company.

(c) The provision for impairment of classification mineral and provision for obsolescence of spare parts and supplies 
had the following movement during the years 2016 and 2015:

In the opinion of Company’s Management, the provision for impairment of value of inventories is adequetely to 
cover the risk of this caption at the date of the financial statement.

Type I and II (copper mineral)
Mineral waste 
Type III (lead/zinc mineral)

Provision for impairment of
classified mineral

Classification by maturity:
Current portion
Non-current portion

6,923
-

1,848,414__________

1,855,337__________

-__________

1,855,337__________

DMT
73

-
31,004__________

31,077__________

(2,563)__________

28,514__________

2,485
26,029__________

28,514_________

US$(000)
20152016

-
203

18,041__________

18,244__________

(123)__________

18,121__________

5,586
12,535__________

18,121_________

US$(000)
-

24,629
1,159,956__________

1,184,585__________

-__________

1,184,585__________

DMT

Opening balance
Provision for devaluation of ore and concentrate
Punishment of the provision for devaluation of ore and concentrate
Provision for devaluation of spare parts and supplies, note 22

Saldo final

72
2,733

-
162_________

2,967________

2,967
123

(2,733)
326_________

683________

2015
US$(000)

2016
US$(000)
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9. Property, plant and equipment, net
(a) Below is presented the movement in cost and accumulated depreciation:

(b) Work in progress -
As of December 31, 2016, the balance of the works in progress mainly includes: expansion of the acid treatment 
plant, work on the hydraulic filling, construction of 5 vertical pumping wells, improvements in infrastructure for 
the Plant, etc.. As of December 31, 2015, the balance of the work in progress comprises mainly: Installing 
secondary crushers, implementation of the new slide, water treatment tailings deposition, regrowth tailings 
dam, installation of new trains pumps tailings implementing new washer drum and other minors. 

(c) Impairment of financial assets
In accordance with its accounting policies and processes, each asset or CGU is evaluated annually at year end, to 
determine whether there are any indications of impairment. If any such indications of impairment exist, a formal 
estimate of the recoverable amount is performed.

In assessing whether impairment is required, the carrying value of the asset or CGU is compared with its 
recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of the CGU’s fair value less costs of disposal (FVLCD) 
and value in use (VIU). Given the nature of the Group’s activities, information on the fair value of an asset is usually 

341

473,578
174,261

1,708

411
11,537
1,310

20,027
32,130

42,790
117,696______

875,789______

132,228

78,170
1,460

394
6,685
4,990

11,748
18,729______

254,404______

621,385______

As of 
December 

31,
2016

US$(000)

-

-
(1,752)

(139)

(5)
(262)

-
-
-

-
-______

(2,158)______

-

(1,636)
(59)

(5)
(237)

-
-
-______

(1,937)______

Disposals
US$(000)

4

340
1,537

-

4
973

1,102
23,601
6,094

3,037
17,633______

54,325______

29,436

13,017
73

4
1,647
1,127
2,836
5,813______

53,953______

Additions
US$(000)

-

13,009
3,919

-

-
495

-
(17,423)

-

-
-______

-______

-

-
-

-
-
-
-
-______

-______

Transfers 
US$(000)

337

460,229
170,557

1,847

412
10,331

208
13,849
26,036

39,753
100,063______

823,622______

102,792

66,789
1,446

395
5,275
3,863
8,912

12,916______

202,388______

621,234______

As of 
December 

31,
2015

US$(000)

1,437

412,546

197,909
1,602

399
8,869

337
16,884
23,856

22,251
85,721______

771,811______

77,995

54,655
1,421

386
3,993
2,847
8,066
6,482______

155,845______

615,966______

As of 
January 

1,
2015

US$(000)

-

-
-

-

-
-

(129)
(388)

-

-
-______

(517)______

-

-
-

-
-
-
-
-______

-______

Adjustments
US$(000)

124

77

2,123
289

13
458

-
17,965
2,180

17,502
14,342______

55,073______

25,255

12,134
66

9
1,282
1,016

846
6,434______

47,042______

Additions
US$(000)

-

49,083

(29,475)
-

-
1,004

-
(20,612)

-

-
-______

-______

-

-
-

-
-
-
-
-______

-______

Transfers
US$(000)

(1,224)

(1,477)

-
(44)

-
-
-
-
-

-
-______

(2,745)______

(458)

-
(41)

-
-
-
-
-______

(499)______

Disposals
US$(000)

Costs
Land 
Buildings, and other 

constructions
Machinery and

equipment
Transportation units
Furniture and 

mixtures
Other equipments
Units in transit
Work in progress (b)
Development costs
Mine closure costs, 

note 12(b)
Cost of clearing

Accumulated
depreciation and  
amortization  

Buildings, and other 
constructions

Machinery and
equipment

Transportation units
Furniture and 

mixtures
Other equipments
Development costs
Mine closure costs
Cost of clearing

Net cost
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difficult to obtain unless negotiations with potential purchasers or similar transactions are taking place. 
Consequently, the recoverable amount for each CGU is estimated based on discounted future estimated cash 
flows expected to be generated from the continued use of the CGUs using market based commodity price and 
exchange assumptions, estimated quantities of recoverable minerals, production levels, operating costs and 
capital requirements, and its eventual disposal, based on the latest life of mine (LOM) plans. These cash flows 
were discounted using a real pre-tax discount rate that reflected current market assessments of the time value 
of money and the risks specific to the CGU.

The estimates of quantities of recoverable minerals, production levels, operating costs and capital requirements 
are obtained from the planning process, including the LOM plans, one-year budgets and CGU-specific studies.

As a result of analysis of recoverable amount made during the period, the Company did not recognize an 
impairment loss related to its mining property.

Key assumptions:
The determination of value in use is most sensitive to the following key assumptions:

- Production volumes
-  Commodity prices
-  Discount rate

Production volumes:
Estimated production volumes are based on detailed life-of-mine plans and take into account development plans 
for the mines agreed by management as part of planning process. Production volumes are dependent on a 
number of variables, such as: the recoverable quantities; the production profile; the cost of the development of 
the infrastructure necessary to extract the reserves; the production costs; the contractual duration of mining 
rights; and the selling price of the commodities extracted.

As each producing mining unit has specific reserve characteristics and economic circumstances, the cash flows 
of the mines are computed using appropriate individual economic models and key assumptions established by 
management. The production profiles used were consistent with the reserves and resource volumes approved 
as part of the Company’s process for the estimation of proved and probable reserves and resource estimates.

Commodity prices:  
Forecast commodity prices are based on management’s estimates and are derived from forward price curves 
and long-term views of global supply and demand, building on past experience of the industry and consistent 
with external sources. These prices were adjusted to arrive at appropriate consistent price assumptions for the 
different qualities and type of commodities, or, where appropriate, contracted prices were applied. These prices 
are reviewed at least annually. 

Estimates prices for the current and long-term periods that have been used to estimate future revenues are as 
follows:

Discount rate:
In calculating the value in use, a pre-tax discount rate of 10.4 percent was applied to the pre-tax cash flows. This 
discount rate is derived from the Company´s post-tax weighted average cost of capital (WACC), with appropriate 
adjustments made to reflect the risks specific to the CGU. The WACC takes into account both debt and equity. The 
cost of equity is derived from the expected return on investment by the Company´s investors. The cost of debt is 
based on its interest-bearing borrowings the Company is obligated to service. The beta factors are evaluated 
annually based on publicly available market data.

Sensitivity analysis
Management believes that there are currently no reasonably possible changes in any of the above assumptions 
that would lead to impairment in any CGU during the period.

Silver
Copper
Lead
Zinc

19.58/OZ
6,550/TM
2,033/TM
2,538/TM

19.44/OZ
6,000/TM
2,150/TM
2,444/TM

From 2020 to 2026
US$

2019
US$

19.51/OZ
5,633/TM
2,134/TM
2,500/TM

18.50/OZ
5,200/TM
2,000/TM
2,360/TM

2018
US$

2017
US$
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(d) As of December 31, 2016 and 2015, the borrowing costs capitalized amounting to approximately US$14,945,000.
During the year 2016 and 2015, no financial costs were capitalized.

(e) The following is the movement of development cost as of December 31, 2016 and 2015:

10. Bank loans
(a) This caption is made up as follows

(b) On September 9, 2016, the Company entered into a short-term bank loan agreement, by accepting a  
US $ 25,000,000 bank note for the cancellation of the S/80,100,000 loan it held at that date, with a current 
maturity date.

(c) At December 31, 2016 and 2015, the Company held three bank promissory notes for a total of 
US $ 15,000,000, intended for working capital with current maturity and without specific guarantees.

Cost
North Tajo
Smelter Tajo

Accumulated amortization 
North Tajo
Smelter Tajo

Cost net

-
6,094_______

6,094_______

1,127
-_______

1,127_______

Additions
US$(000)

17,828
8,208_______

26,036_______

3,863
-_______

3,863_______

22,173______

As of December
31, 2015
US$(000)

17,828
14,302_______

32,130_______

4,990
-_______

4,990_______

27,140______

As of December
31, 2016
US$(000)

17,828
6,028_______

23,856_______

2,847
-_______

2,847_______

21,009______

As of January
1, 2015

US$(000)

-
2,180_______

2,180_______

1,016
-_______

1,016_______

Additions
US$(000)

As of December 31, 2015:
Banco de Crédito S.A.A. - BCP (b)
Banco de Crédito S.A.A. - BCP (c)

As of December 31, 2015:
Banco Continental (b)
Banco de Crédito S.A.A. – BCP (c)

4.14%
2.80%

5.61%
2.10%

Annual
Interest rate

September 2017
January - July 2017

September 2016
January - June 2016

Original 
maturity

25,000
15,000_______

40,000______

23,469
15,000_______

38,469______

US$(000)

U.S. dollar
U.S. dollar

Soles
U.S. dollar

Nominal 
Currency

Bank

360 days
180 days

360 days
180 days

Original 
term
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11. Accounts payable and others
(a) This caption is made up as follows:

(b) The trade and other payables are mainly originated by services provided by suppliers and acquisition of 
materials, supplies and spare parts. These payables are mainly denominated in U.S. dollars, accrue no interest, 
have current maturities and have no specific guarantees.

As of December 31, 2016, the Company has unpaid bills to local suppliers for US$6,523,000, which will be paid 
by factoring contract with Banco de Credito (US$14,727,000 as of December 31, 2015 by factoring with Banco de 
Crédito and Banco Continental). It should be noted that under this type of agreement, the liability is deemed to 
be extinguished when the Company pays the invoice to the Bank on the due date, any transaction between the 
supplier and the Bank is only between those two parties and does not legally extinguish the account payable Of 
the Company.

Accounts payable (b)
Domestic suppliers 
Foreign suppliers

Accounts payable to related entities, note 24(b)

Other account payable
Remunerations and other similar obligations
Mining royalty payable
Other taxes payable
Board of Directors  ́remuneration payable
Dividends
Other

Trade and other payables

Classification by nature:
Financial liabilities
Non-financial liabilities

Trade and other payables

94,262
385_________

94,647
1,871

  
_________

96,518_________

1,195
405
547

-
174
536_________

2,857_________

99,375________

98,423
952_________

99,375________

100,262
1,752_________

102,014
2,519

  
_________

104,533_________

1,490
1,288

716
488
173
530_________

4,685_________

109,218________

107,214
2,004_________

109,218________

2015
US$(000)

2016
US$(000)
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12. Provisions
(a) This caption is made up as follows:

(b) The movement of the provision for mine closure is as follows:

(c) The provision for closure of the mining unit represents the present value of the closing costs that are expected 
between 2017 and 2039. The estimated these closing costs is based on studies that have been prepared by 
independent consultants, the same as comply with current environmental regulations. 

The provision for mine closure corresponds mainly to activities to be carried out in order to restore areas that 
have been affected by the exploration and / or exploitation. The main activities to be executed correspond to 
earthworks, revegetation work and dismantling of plants. Budgets mine closure are reviewed periodically to 
take into account any significant changes that have occurred in any of the studies. However, closing costs 
depend on the market price of the work required closing reflect future economic conditions. Also, the times that 
will be made disbursements depend on the life of the mine, which will depend on future prices of metals.

 As of December 31, 2016, the future value of the provision for closure of the mining unit and environmental 
liabilities is US$75,447,000, which has been discounted using a rate that is in a range of 1 to 4 percent in a period 
of 1 to 23 years, resulting an update liability of US$53,268,000 (US$48,873,000 as of December 31, 2015).

The Company believes that this liability is sufficient to meet the current environmental protection laws approved 
by the Ministry of Energy and Mines.

As of December 31, 2016, the Company has constituted letters of credit in favor of the Ministry of Energy and 
Mines for US$12,378,000 (US$10,315,000 as of December 31, 2015) to secure mine closure plans of its mining 
unit in force on those dates.

Provision for closure of mining units (b)
Provision for environmental liabilities (d)
Provision for environmental contingencies, note25(c)
Provision for labor contingencies, note 25(c)

Classification for maturity:
Current portion
Non-current portion

48,873
5,979

258
225_________

55,335________

2,266
53,069_________

55,335________

53,268
5,451

166
456_________

59,341________

3,122
56,219_________

59,341________

2015
US$(000)

2016
US$(000)

Balance as of January 1
Changes in estimates, note 9(a)
Unwinding of discount
Payments

Balance as of December 31

Classification by maturity:
Current portion
Non-current portion

32,286
17,502

(135)
(780)_________

48,873________

565
48,308_________

48,873________

48,873
3,037
1,834
(476)_________

53,268________

1,172
52,096_________

53,268________

2015
US$(000)

2016
US$(000)
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(d) In compliance with current legislation on remediation of areas affected by environmental liabilities, on October
2006, the Company commissioned a company authorized by the Peruvian government, the development of the 
closure plan of environmental liabilities of the Santa Barbara mine. This mine was declared Cultural Heritage 
according to the Institute of Culture.

Santa Barbara Mine does not work for many years, so it does not have an Environmental Impact Assessment 
(EIA) or with Adjustment Program for the Environment (PAMA). In this sense, it has been the need to develop the 
"closure plan environmental liabilities of the Santa Barbara mine" technical document which determines not 
only strategies, criteria and the most feasible measures for the closure of environmental liabilities; but it also 
determines precisely the amount of investment that these activities entail. Environmental liabilities of the Santa 
Barbara mine include physical and chemical stabilization of open pits, tailings impoundments, waste rock 
dumps, mine entrances, camps, etc., and soil remediation and revegetation.

On April 12, 2011, the MEM issued a last Directorial Resolution No. 012-2011-MEM / AAM, which approves a 
final modification of the closure plan of environmental liabilities of "Santa Barbara" mining unit with the 
schedule and budget requested by the Company. From the year 2012 began implement the environmental 
liability. As of December 31, 2016 environmental liability amounted to US$4,078,000 (US$4,761,000 as of 
December 31,2015).

Also, on September 18, 2015, the Company entered into implementation of the closure plan of sediments Delta 
and Rio San Juan deposits, in which will have the participation of companies that adjoin these affected areas 
product of mining activities carried out many years before the company starts operations.

The participation of each enterprise and the Peruvian State was determined in a private agreement. The 
participation of Brocal is 49.96 percent, which is equivalent to S/4,157,000 (US$1,218,000 as of December 
31,2015) and will be paid in the short-term.

Additionally, on November 6, 2016, the Company and the Lancari Peasant Community signed a social and 
solidarity support agreement amounted to S/459,000 (equivalent to US$136,000 as of December 31, 2016), 
which will be disbursed in 3 equal installments of S/153,000.

13. Financials obligations:
(a) This caption is made up as follows:

(b) On June 9, 2015, the Board of Directors of the Company approved the reprofiling of the debt balance and the new
schedule of payments financing through sales contracts with leaseback, through the sale of assets of the same 
value, including equipment, machinery and production plants located in Colquijirca mining unit, which kept the

Financial obligations to banks:
Banco de Crédito del Perú 
Sale and leaseback (b)
Finance lease 
 

Lease commission
 
 

Financial obligations to related companies:
Compañía de Minas Buenaventura S.A.A. (e)
 
 

Classification by maturity:
Current portion
Non-current portion

158,175
227_________

158,402
(2,078)_________

156,324

5,000_________

161,324________

24,497
136,827_________

161,324________

138,195
173_________

138,368
(1,383)_________

136,985

3,000_________

139,985________

27,615
112,370_________

139,985________

2015
US$(000)

2016
US$(000)
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Company in the following terms and conditions:

- Principal: US$166,500,000.
- Annual interest rate: Three-month Libor plus 4.75 percent.
- Term: 5.5 years since June 23, 2015, with final maturity in year 2020.
- Amortization: Through 22 quarterly variable installments.

In connection with the above financing, El Brocal will comply with the following financial ratios as of December 
31, 2016:

(i) Debt service coverage ratio: Higher than 1.3.
(ii) Leverage ratio: Less than 1.0.
(iii) Debt ratio:

a. Less than 2.50 times as of December 31, 2016; 
b. Less than 2.50 times since January 1, 2017 until September 30, 2017; 
c. Less than 2.25 times as of December 31, 2017, 
d. Less than 2.0 times from January 1, 2018

These sales contracts with leaseback are secured by a trust agreement related to receivables, sales contracts 
and claims on money flows by sales contracts; and other related to administration, use, disposal and vindication 
of the assets stated in the contract.

The compliance with the restrictive covenants described above is monitored by the Management’s Company. 
The Management’s Company obtained from Banco de Crédito a waiver of compliance with the coverage ratios 
and debt for the entire period 2017.

As part of the agreements with Banco de Crédito del Perú to waive compliance with the financial indicators as 
of December 31, 2016, the Company had to comply with the capitalization of shareholders' contributions for US 
$ 35,000,000 and the issue of bonds for US $ 35,000,000. It should be noted that the Company's management 
managed a modification of the terms of the aforementioned waiver, considering that shareholders must make 
capital contributions of US $ 70,000,000 during 2016. The bond issue program was opened for consideration by 
the Board of Directors.

As of December 31, 2016, the Company's shareholders completed the capitalization of shareholders’ 
contribution forUS$70,000,000 through the preferred subscription process agreed at the Shareholders' 
Meetings dated November 25, 2015 and March 17, 2016.

(c) The financial obligations held by the Company mature as follows:

(d) Regarding the financial obligation of the contract of sale with leaseback, the Company incurred during 2016 in 
financial costs amounting US$8,313,000 out of a total of US$10,413,000 that were recorded in the income of 
profit or loss (US$8,647,000 during 2015 that were capitalized as part of property, plant and equipment during 
the construction of the qualifying asset).

(e) On December 1, 2016, the Company and its related Company of Minas Buenaventura signed a short-term loan  
of US $ 3,000,000 (US $ 5,000,000 as of December 31, 2015), which bears an interest rate of 5.5% per year, and 
whose cancellation must be no later than December 15, 2017. 

2016
2017
2018
2019
2020

19,497
24,594
24,566
24,625
63,042_________

156,324________

-
24,615
24,628
24,667
63,075_________

136,985________

2015
US$(000)

2016
US$(000)

Year
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44,259
15,714

1,569

1,140
215
149________

63,046

(5,974)________

57,072

-________

57,072_______

(28,660)
(19,269)
(5,878)
(1,655)

(260)________

(55,722)________

-
-

-________

-________

(55,722)_______

1,350_______

As of 
December 
31, 2016

29,967
12,733

1,556

(226)
209
195________

44,434

(4,743)________

39,691

-________

39,691_______

(31,049)
(12,103)
(4,232)
(2,506)
2,332________

(47,558)________

-
-

-________

-________

(47,558)_______

(7,867)_______

As of 
December 
31, 2015

14,292
2,981

13

-
6

(46)________

17,246

(1,231)________

16,015

-________

16,015_______

2,389
(7,166)
(1,646)

851
(2,592)________

(8,164)________

-
-

-________

-________

(8,164)_______

7,851_______

Credit 
(debit) to 
profit or 

loss 
statement

-
-

-

1,366
-
-________

1,366

-________

1,366

-________

1,366_______

-
-
-
-
-________

-________

-
-

-________

-________

-_______

Debit to 
changes in 

shareholder’s 
equity

8
4,737

1,239

(1,033)
-

2,160________

7,111

(3,761)________

3,350

65________

3,415_______

(12,798)
(7,714)
(4,520)
6,366

839________

(17,827)________

(142)
346

(170)________

34________

(17,793)_______

(14,378)_______

As of 
January 
1, 2015

29,959
7,996

317

-
209

(1,965)________

36,516

(982)________

35,534

(65)________

35,469_______

(18,251)
(4,389)

288
(8,872)
1,493________

(29,731)________

142
(346)

170________

(34)________

(29,765)_______

5,704_______

Credit 
(debit) to 
profit or 

loss
statement

-
-

-

807
-
-________

807

-________

807

-________

807_______

-
-
-
-
-________

-________

-
-

-________

-________

-_______

Debit to 
changes in 

shareholders 
equity

Deferred asset for income tax
Tax loss carry forward
Provision for mine closure
Unrealized loss on financial derivate

instruments
Environmental liability of the Santa Bárbara 

mining unit
Participation in joint ventures
Embedded derivative for concentrate sales

Less: Provision for recoverability of the 
deferred asset related to the mine closure 
provision

Deferred asset for mining royalties and 
special mining tax

Open provisional liquidations

Total deferred asset

Deferred liability for income tax
Effect for translation of the tax basis held in

Nuevos Soles into U.S. Dollars (c)
Stripping cost
Amortization of mine development cost
Differences in depreciation rates
Mining royalties and other minors

Deferred liability for mining royalties and 
special mining tax 

Deemed cost of fixed assets
Embedded derivative for concentrate sales
Unrealized gain on derivative financial 

instruments

Total deferred liability

Total deferred income tax asset (liability)

14. Deferred income tax
(a) The Company recognized the effects of temporary differences between the accounting and tax basis. The table 

below presents the composition:
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(b) The expense shown in the statement of profit or loss for the years 2016 and 2015 is made up as follows: 

(c) Below is a reconciliation of tax expense and the accounting profit (loss) multiplied by the statutory tax rate for the 
years 2016 and 2015 taxes:

(d) This expense arises from maintaining the US dollar as the functional currency for accounting purposes and 
Soles for tax purposes.

During 2016, the fluctuation in the exchange rate was S/3.413 to S/3.360 resulting in the expenditure mentioned 
above which does not imply an outflow affecting the cash flow of the Company. During the year 2015, the change 
in the exchange rate was S / 2.989 to S / 3.,413 resulting in the aforementioned expense.

(e) This expense arises from maintaining the US dollar as the functional currency for accounting The tax asset 
income recognized by the Company as of December 31, 2016 and 2015, has been determined mainly from 
differences between the rates of depreciation of fixed assets for financial and tax purposes and the tax loss 
generated during 2016 and 2015. According to the revised financial projections and approved by the Company´s 
Management, these items will be fully recovered, and it is not necessary to record an additional allowance for 
the recovery of these assets as of December 31, 2016 and 2015. As indicated in note 16 (c), the Management of 
the Company has opted for the system of compensation of the tax loss carryforward taking into account the 
annual limit that equals 50 percent of the future taxable income, until exhausting its amount .

15. Equity, net
(a) Capital stock -

As of December 31, 2016, the share capital of the Company is represented by 155,971,426 ordinary shares fully 
subscribed and paid (125,037,175 at December 31, 2015), whose nominal value is S/7 per share at end of each year.

Income tax
Deferred

Mining royalties and special mining tax
Current
Deferred

Total

5,803_________

5,803_________

(1,595)
(99)_________

(1,694)_________

4,109________

7,851_________

7,851_________

(2,726)
-_________

(2,726)_________

5,125________

2015
US$(000)

2016
US$(000)

Profit (loss) before income tax

Expected income tax (28%)
Effect for translation into U.S. Dollars (d)
Effect of exchange difference on tax loss carry-forward
Effect of change in income tax rate 
Provision for impairment of deferred assets
Royalties and special mining tax
Permanent matches

Income tax expense
Royalties and Special Mining Tax 

Total 

(2,706)________

22,483
(18,251)

3,495
27

982
(447)

(2,585)________

5,704
(1,595)________

4,109_______

29,135________

10,614
2,388

(2,522)
(1,423)
1,231
(763)

(1,674)________

7,851
(2,726)________

5,125_______

2015
US$(000)

2016
US$(000)
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On November 25, 2015, the General Shareholders' Meeting approved a capital increase of US $ 35,000,000, of 
which US $ 18,713,000 were made effective in January 2016 (US $ 13,072,000 increase in capital stock, US $ 
5,640,000 per share Capital contribution premium and US $ 1,000 increase in investment shares), resulting in 
the issuance of 6,402,315 common shares and 367 investment shares.

At the General Shareholders' Meeting held on March 17, 2016, a new capital increase was approved of US $ 
26,000,000 in share capital and US $ 2,000 increase in investment shares, resulting in the issuance of 12,535,714 
common shares and 1,036 investment shares.

Finally, in a meeting of the Board of Directors on June 28, 2016, a capital increase of US $ 25,286,000 was 
approved, and on July and August the amount of US $ 25,285,000 of capital increase and US $ 853 of investment 
shares was approved resulting the issuance of 11,996,222 common shares and 405 investment shares.

Capital contributions made as of December 31, 2016 have enabled the Company to complete the plan to 
increase capital by US $ 70,001,000 according to the delegation approved by the Annual Compulsory 
Shareholders Meeting of March 17, 2016.

The market value of the common shares is S/6.70 per share as of December 31, 2016 (S/4.80 per share as of 
December 31, 2015) and presents a trading frequency rate of 70.00 percent (57.14 percent as of December 31, 2015).

(b) Investment shares -
Investment shares do not have voting rights or participate in shareholders’ meetings but do participate in the 
distribution of dividends. As of December 31, 2016 and 2015, the investment shares caption is represented by 
6,526,230 shares (6,524,422 at December 31,2015), which nominal value is S/7 per share at year – end.

The market value of the investment shares amounts to S / 3.00 per share as of December 31, 
2016 with a trading frequency of 25 percent. As of December 31, 2015, the price per share was S / 4.74 per share 
and does not present a trading frequency.

(c) Other reserves of equity (legal reserve) -
On March 26, 2015, the Shareholder’s meeting unanimously approved the transfer of US$751,000 of net income 
for 2014 to increase the legal reserve balance.

(d) Other equity reserves - 
As of December 31, 2016 and 2015 corresponds to the gain or loss on unsettled derivative financial instruments, 
net of deferred income tax.

(e) Dividends declared and paid -  
During the years 2016 and 2015, the Company does not distribute dividends.

16. Tax situation
(a) Current tax situation – 

The Company and its Peruvian subsidiaries are subject to the Peruvian tax regime. As of December 31, 2016, 
the income tax rate for enterprises is 28 percent over the taxable income. Non-domiciled companies in Peru or 
natural persons are affected to a withholding income tax of 4.1 percent over the dividends received.

By means of Law N° 1261 enacted on December 10, 2016, the Peruvian government introduced certain 
amendments to the Income Tax Law, effective January 1, 2017. The most relevant are listed below:

- A corporate income tax rate of 29.5% is set.
- A tax of 5% of the income tax is established to the dividends or any other form of distribution of profits.
- The rate applicable to dividends will be considered taking into account the year in which the results or profits 

that form part of the distribution have been obtained, according to the following: 4.1% with respect to the 
results obtained until December 31, 2014; 6.8% with respect to the results obtained during the years 2015 and 
2016; And 5% with respect to the results obtained from January 1, 2017.

- It has been established that the distribution of dividends to be made corresponds to the oldest cumulative results

(b) Years open to tax audit -  
The tax authorities are legally entitled to review and, if necessary, adjust the income tax calculated by the 
Company during the four years subsequent to the year of the related tax return filing.
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The affidavits of the income tax for the years 2013 to 2016 and the general sales tax for the periods between 
December 2012 and December 2016 are subject to inspection by the tax authorities, except for the periods 
mentioned in the previous paragraph. To date, the Tax Administration is developing the process of final 
inspection of the income tax for 2013. For the years 2011 to 2012, the Company has filed appeals and appeals, 
see note 25 (d). In the opinion of the Company's Management and legal advisors, the Company has solid and 
adequate arguments to the applicable legal rules to support the positions adopted by the Company and 
estimates to obtain favorable results for these processes and consider that any additional liquidation Tax would 
not be significant for the financial statements

Regarding the periods open to inspection and due to the possible interpretations that the tax authorities can give 
to the current legal rules, it is not possible to determine if the reviews made will or will not be liabilities for the 
Company, so any greater Tax or surcharge that could result from eventual tax reviews would be applied to the 
results of the year in which it is determined. However, in the opinion of the Company's management and its 
legal advisors, any eventual additional tax settlement would not be significant for the financial statements as of 
December 31, 2016 and 2015.

(c) Tax loss carryforward -
As of December 31, 2016 and 2015 the tax-loss carryforward determined by the Group amounts to 
approximately S/504,103,000 and S/378,802,000, respectively (equivalent to US$150,031,000 and 
US$110,988,000 respectively). As permitted by the Income Tax Law, the Company has chosen a system that 
permits to offset these losses with an annual cap equivalent to 50 percent of net future taxable income.

(d) Transfer pricing
For purposes of determining the Income Tax, the transfer prices for transactions with related companies and 
companies domiciled in territories with little or no taxation must be substantiated with documentation and 
information on the valuation methods used and the criteria considered for their determination. Tax 
Administration can request this information based on analysis of the Company's operations, the Company’s 
Management and its legal advisers believe that, as a result of the application of these standards, no material 
contingencies will arise for the Company as of December 31, 2016 and 2015.

17. Net sales
(a) The Company’s revenues are mostly from sales of copper, zinc and lead concentrates. The table below presents

the net sales by concentrate for the years 2016 and 2015:

Net sales by concentrates
Copper
Zinc
Lead

Total sales of the period

Gain (losses) on derivative financial instruments
Adjustment to open provisional liquidations of the prior period
Provisional settlements with quotations known 
Provisional settlements with estimated quotes

Total adjustment of liquidations and hedges

Net sales

76,785
61,745
41,203_________

179,733_________

9,816
(22,687)
(2,586)
7,018_________

(8,439)_________

171,294________

127,679
74,611
31,101_________

233,391_________

(3,744)
(7,010)
7,163

811_________

(2,780)_________

230,611________

2015
US$(000)

2016
US$(000)

119,703
105,062
36,188_________

260,953_________

189,409
117,349
27,813_________

334,571_________

2015
DMT

2016
DMT
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(b) The table below presents the net sales to customers by geographic region (without include the effect of the  
valuation of embedded derivative on sale, unrealized gain on hedge derivative financial instruments and 
others):

(c) Concentration of sales –
During 2016, the four customers with sales of more than 10 percent of total net sales accounted for 18, 16, 14 
and 11 percent of the Company's total sales (25, 23, 21, 11 and 10 Percent during the year 2015). As of December 
31, 2016, 47 percent of accounts receivable correspond to these customers (94 percent as of December 31, 
2015). Also, these clients are related to the mining business.

The Company's concentrate sales are made to companies of recognized national and international prestige.

18. Cost of sales
This caption is made up as follows: 

Peru
Asia 
Europe
North America

150,971
22,260
6,502

-_________

179,733________

132,638
78,726
19,836
2,191_________

233,391________

2015
US$(000)

2016
US$(000)

Beginning inventory of concentrates
Beginning mineral

Total beginning inventory

Production cost
Depreciation and amortization
Services provided by third parties: 
Consumption of spare parts and supplies
Direct labor

Total production cost

Final inventory of concentrates
Final inventory of mineral

Total final inventory, net

Total cost of sales

1,626
50,169_________

51,795________

46,733
92,564
44,590
11,274_________

195,161________

(5,355)
(31,201)_________

(36,556)________

210,400________

5,355
31,201_________

36,556________

53,637
100,500
45,254
17,053_________

216,444________

(222)
(20,910)_________

(21,132)________

231,868________

2015
US$(000)

2016
US$(000)
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Transport and freight concentrates
Boarding and export costs
Storage of concentrates
Labor
Supervision and assays
Other minors

5,518
1,988

705
260
183
402_________

9,056________

7,501
1,422

763
431
239
294_________

10,650________

2015
US$(000)

2016
US$(000)

19. Administrative expenses
This caption is made up as follows:

20. Selling expenses
This caption is made up as follows:

21. Exploration in non-operating areas
This caption is made up as follows:

Services provided by third parties
Personnel expenses
Insurance and rentals
Depreciation
Taxes
Other 

4,008
5,665
3,871

223
71

536_________

14,374________

3,220
4,777
3,283

77
68

377_________

11,802________

2015
US$(000)

2016
US$(000)

Services provided by third parties
Licenses and mining rights
Electricity and water
Consumption of spare parts and supplies
Others

1,115
574
421
17

239_________

2,366________

655
602
379
26

278_________

1,940________

2015
US$(000)

2016
US$(000)
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22. Other income (expense), net
This caption is made up as follows:

23. Net profit (loss) per basic and diluted
The computation of basic and diluted profit (loss) per share for the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015 (in 
thousands of U.S. dollars, except for the number of common and investment shares):

There has not been any other transaction related to common and potential shares occurred between the reporting 
date and the date of the financial statements.

Net profit (loss) - US$(000)
Common and investment shares – units
Basic and diluted profit (loss) per share - US$

(76,189)
131,561,597

(0.579)

(32,782)
162,497,656

(0.202)

20152016

Other income
Revenue from sale of supplies
Economic compensation
Revenue from sale of property
Others

Other expense 
Cost of sales of supplies
Early termination of contract with suppliers
Cost of sales of property, note 7(c) / note 9(a)
Environmental liabilities
Provision for impairment of supplies, note 8 (c)
Net cost of disposal of machinery and equipment, note 9 (a)
Other

Other income (expense),net

11,213
-

5,343
189_________

16,745_________

(10,400)
(3,000)
(2,243)
(1,581)

(162)
(3)

(159)_________

(17,548)_________

(803)________

11,377
3,356

43
398_________

15,174_________

(11,172)
(1,636)

-
(1,478)

(326)
(221)
(32)_________

(14,865)_________

309________

2015
US$(000)

2016
US$(000)
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24. Transactions with related parties
(a) The main transactions by the Company with its related parties in 2016 and 2015 are the following:

(b) As a result of the transactions above and other minor, the Company has the following accounts payable to 
related entities:

(c) The Director’s remuneration and Management’s key personnel remuneration were approximately US$ 
2,277,000   during 2016 (approximately US$1,844,000 during 2015), and include current benefits, labor benefits 
and others. The Company has no long - term remunerations with its Directors and key personnel.

Loans received:
Compañía de Minas Buenaventura S.A.A.

Expenses:
Project management services 
Electricity supply service
Commercial outsourcing service
Others

Interest on loans:
Compañía de Minas Buenaventura S.A.A.

5,000_________

5,000________

780
13,283

-
-_________

14,063________

41_________

41________

3,000_________

3,000________

308
19,686

141
30_________

20,165________

112_________

112________

2015
US$(000)

2016
US$(000)

Accounts payable, note 11(a):
Commercial -
Empresa de Generación Huanza S.A.
Buenaventura Ingenieros S.A.
Transportadora Callao S.A.

Others -
Compañía de Minas Buenaventura S.A.A.
 

Total accounts payable and others

Financial Obligations, note 13 (a):
Compañía de Minas Buenaventura S.A.A.

1,625
205

-_________

1,830_________

41_________

41_________

1,871________

-

5,000_________

5,000________

2,204
107
165_________

2,476_________

43_________

43_________

2,519________

-

3,000_________

3,000________

2015
US$(000)

2016
US$(000)
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25. Commitments and contingencies
Commitments
(a) Environmental –

The Company’s exploration and exploitation activities are subject to environmental protection standards. 

Law No. 28090 regulates the obligations and procedures that must be met by the holders of mining activities for 
the preparation, filing and implementation of Mine Closure Plans, as well as the establishment of the 
corresponding environmental guarantees to secure fulfillment of the investments, subject to the principles of 
protection, preservation and recovery of the environment. 

Law No. 28271 regulates environmental liabilities in mining activities. This Law has the objective of ruling the 
identification of mining activity’s environmental liabilities and financing the remediation of the affected areas. 
According to this law, environmental liabilities refer to the impact caused to the environment by abandoned or 
inactive mining operations. 

The Company considers that the recorded liability (see note 12(a)) is sufficient to meet the current regulatory 
environment in Peru.

(b) Finance leases -
The Company has leases for several of its assets. These leases have purchase options. The following table 
shows the future minimum lease payments and the present value: 

Contingencies
(c) Pending legal and administrative procedures -

Environmental
During 2016 and in previous years, the Company received notifications from OSINERGMIN. These notifications 
are related to breach rules of mining health and safety procedures. The administrative fines as a consequence 
of these processes of OSINERGMIN amount to an approximate 3,150 tax units – ITU, which will represent a 
contingency of US$3,703,000. Management and its legal advisors have analyzed these processes and believe 
that will be resolved in favor of the Company. Based on the application of its accounting policies, management 
believes that it is not necessary to recognize any provision for these contingencies.

The Company has also received notifications of OSINERGMIN for non-compliance with the procedures of the 
mining safety and hygiene standards for which Management and its legal advisors have analyzed and estimated 
that the contingencies are probable. For this reason, a provision has been recorded For US $ 166,000 (US $ 
258,000 as of December 31, 2015), which is disclose in "Provisions" in the statement of financial position, note 
12 (a).

During 2016 and in previous years, the Company received notifications from the Environmental Assessment 
and Control Agency (OEFA). These notifications refer to infractions for breaches of procedures of the rules of 
protection and conservation of the environment. The administrative fines that derive from these OEFA 
processes amount to approximately 75 and 250 Tax Units - ITU (equivalent to US $ 88,000 to US $ 294,000), 
which would mean a maximum contingency of US $ 521,000. Management and its legal advisors have analyzed 
these processes and consider that they will be resolved in favor of the Company. Based on the application of its 
accounting policy, Management believes that it is not necessary to recognize any provision for these 
contingencies

In a year
After one year but no more than five years

Total minimum lease payments
Less - amounts that represent finance charges

Present value of minimum lease payments 

19,980
138,195_________

158,175
-_________

158,175________

Present value 
of payments

US$(000)
27,686

156,776_________

184,462
(26,287)_________

158,175________

Minimum 
payment
US$(000)

2015

24,975
113,220_________

138,195
-_________

138,195________

Present value 
of payments

US$(000)
32,367

126,570_________

158,937
(20,742)_________

138,195________

Minimum 
payment
US$(000)

2016
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Labor process -
The Company has several labor claims mainly compensation for damages and annulment of layoffs. In this 
regard, the Management and its legal advisors have analyzed these processes and have estimated that 
represent a probable contingency, and recorded a provision of US$456,000 (US$225,000 as of December 31, 
2015), disclosed in the "Provisions" in the statement of financial position, note 12 (a).

(d) Open tax procedures –
As of December 31, 2016 and 2015, the Company has several open tax procedures, which are handled by the 
Company’s legal counsel, as described below:

- On December 14, 2006, the Tax Authorities notified the Company with Resolutions of Determination and Fines 
related to income tax for 2003 by S/1,190,000 (equivalent to US$354,000) for improper deductions concepts of 
insurance and freight not applied in concentrate sales. It should be noted that in January 2011 the Company 
filed an appeal to the Tax Court, the same that is pending.

- On May 30, 2014, the Tax Authorities notified the Company with Resolutions of Determination and Fine 
resulting from the process of auditing the income tax for the year 2011. Within the terms of law, the Company 
filed an appeal the same as the date is pending. It should be noted that on June 18, 2014 the Company paid 
under protest the tax liability for the amount of S/8,333,000 (equivalent to US$2,480,000) in order to obtain the 
benefit of the discount of the fine. This amount is recorded as an account receivable in the financial statements 
of the Company, note 7 (e).

- On January 8, 2015 the tax authorities notified the Company with a Resolution of Determination as a result of 
the audit procedure initiated by the income tax for the year 2012 that was claimed and ruled by invalid by 
SUNAT; also it notified of determinations and fines for interim payments from January to December 2012 
which amounted to S/3,996,000 (equivalent to US$1,189,000). The Company has filed an appeal, which is 
pending.

The legal advisors of the Company believes that the results of such procedures will be favorable to the Company 
and based on the policy of the Company, consider it not necessary to recognize any provision for these 
contingencies.

26. Derivative financial instruments  
(a) Copper Price hedging operations –  

The volatility of this mineral during the current year has meant that Management decides to enter into future 
contracts. These contracts signed during September 2016 are intended to reduce the volatility of cash flows 
attributable to the fluctuation of the copper price, from October 2016 to April 2017, in accordance with the 
current sales commitments, which are related to 50 percent of the annual production of this metal, according to 
the risk strategy approved by the Board of Directors. 

As of December 31, 2016, the fair value of current futures contracts amounts to a liability of US $ 3,863,000 (as 
of December 31, 2015 the Company had no current futures contracts). The Counterpart as of December 31, 
2016, net of deferred income tax, amounts to a negative balance of US $ 2,723,000 and is disclosure in the equity 
caption "Other equity reserves".

The breakdown of unliquidated transactions that are part of the liability for a derivative hedging instrument as 
of December 31, 2016 is as follows:

January 2017
February 2017
March 2017
April 2017

Settlement Period

(1,548)
(1,199)
(1,208)

92_________

(3,863)________

Net flow
US$(000)

5,526
5,530
5,535
5,536

Future

4,917
5,001
4,860
5,720

Fixed

2,542
2,270
1,795

500_________

7,107________

 TMF 
Prices
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The net change in the equity account "Other equity reserves" is as follows:

(b) Foreign exchange hedging operations -
At December 31, 2015, the Company maintained an exchange rate forward contract, which was designated as 
a cash flow hedge derivative because it was intended to hedge the exchange rate variation risk of Financial 
obligations in Soles. As a result of this agreement, as of December 31, 2015, the Company recognized in the 
liability the fair value amounting to US $ 1,121,000. The transaction was settled in 2016 and did not generate any 
loss.

(c) Derivative implied by operations of concentrate, net -
The company's sales of concentrates are based on commercial contracts, according to which a provisional 
value is assigned to sales based on future quotations (forward). The adjustment to sales is considered as an 
implicit derivative that must be separated from the contract.

Commercial contracts are related to the market prices (London Metal Exchange) of the dates on which the open 
positions are expected to be settled as of December 31, 2016 and 2015. The embedded derivative does not 
qualify as a hedging instrument.

Embedded derivatives held by the Company as of December 31, 2016:

Balances as of January 1, 2015

Loss on hedging transactions settled during the period,
note 17(a)

Unrealized loss on financial derivative instrument
Gain on hedging financial instrument (the exchange rate)

Total changes in financial hedge derivative instruments
 

Balance as of December 31, 2015

Loss on hedging transactions settled during the period, 
note 17(a) 

Unrealized loss on financial derivative instrument

Total changes in financial hedge derivative instruments

Balance as of December 31, 2016

(1,203)________

(2,578)
3,500
(115)________

807________

(396)_______

396
1,140________

1,536________

1,140_______

Income tax and 
mining taxes

US$(000)
3,688________

9,816
(13,504)

410________

(3,278)________

410_______

(410)
(3,863)________

(4,273)________

(3,863)_______

Hedge derivative 
financial instruments

US$(000)

Other equity 
reserves
US$(000)

2,485________

7,238
(10,004)

295________

(2,471)________

14_______

(14)
(2,723)________

(2,737)________

(2,723)_______

Copper
Lead
Zinc

368
(692)
(182)_______

(506)______

Fair value
US$(000)

29,038
11,744
23,279_______

64,061______

Quantity 
DMT

Metal

5,545 - 5,536
2,030 - 2,017
2,589 - 2,578

Total liability

Futures
Low-High

US$
4,729 - 5,824
1,942 - 2,269
2,569 - 2,732

Provisional
Low-High

US$
January - April
January - April

January - March

Period of 
quototions

2017

QuotesConcentrate sale
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Copper
Lead
Zinc

(1,539)
483
360_______

(696)______

Fair value
US$(000)

41,340
14,155
10,450_______

65,945______

Quantity 
DMT

Metal

4,697 - 4,796
1,789
1,609

Total liability

Futures
Low-High

US$
4,629 – 5,223
1,616 – 1,701
1,522 – 1,582

Provisional
Low-High

US$
January - April

March
March

Period of 
quototions

2016

QuotesConcentrate sale

Embedded derivatives held by the Company as of December 31, 2015:

27. Financial-risk management objectives and policies .
The Company’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks. The principal risks that could adversely affect the 
Company’s financial assets and liabilities and its future cash flows are exchange-rate risk, risk of changes in the 
prices of minerals, interest-rate risk, liquidity risk and credit risk. The Company’s risk management program deals 
with minimizing the potential adverse effects on its financial performance.

The Company’s Management is expert as to the conditions existing in the market and, based on its knowledge and 
experience, reviews and decides on policies to manage each of these risks. Financial instruments affected by 
market risk include accounts receivable, accounts payable, embedded derivatives and hedging derivatives.

In accordance with the Company’s policies, derivative instruments must not be held for speculative purposes. With 
respect to the points mentioned in note 26(a) of the financial statements the Company performs hedging 
operations over the prices of metals using some of the derivative instruments present in the financial markets. The 
Management assess permanently with the Board Committee of the Board the need to continue with the hedge 
operations.

There were no changes in the objectives, policies or procedures during the years ended December 31, 2016 and 
2015.

The Board of Directors reviews and approves policies to manage each of these risks, which are described below:

(a) Market risk -
Market risk is the risk that the fair value of the future cash flows from financial instruments should fluctuate as 
a result of changes in market prices. The market risks that apply to the Company include three types of risk: 
exchange-rate risk, risk of changes in the prices of minerals and interest-rate risk. Financial instruments 
affected by market risks include loans, deposits and derivative financial instruments.

The sensitivity analysis in this section relates to the positions as of December 31, 2016 and 2015, and has been 
prepared considering that the proportion of financial instruments in foreign currency remains constant.

(a.1) Exchange risk
The exchange rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will 
fluctuate due to changes in exchange rates. Company exposure to this risk arises mainly from operating 
activities denominated in Soles. The Company mitigates the effect of exposure to exchange rate by 
conducting nearly all transactions in their functional currency. 

Management maintains smaller amounts in Soles to meet needs in this currency (primarily taxes and 
payroll).
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A table showing the effect on results of a reasonable change in foreign-currency exchange rates is 
presented below, with all other variables kept constant:

(a.2) Price risk
Commodity price risk -
The Company is affected by the price volatility of the commodities. The price of mineral sold by the 
Company (copper, zinc and lead) has fluctuated historically and is affected by numerous factors beyond its 
control. The Company manages its commodity price risk primarily through the use of sales commitments 
in customer contracts. With the intention to cover the remaining risk of the decreased in mineral prices, 
the Company subscribed hedge contracts that qualified as cash flow hedges, see note 26(a).

Embedded derivative -
The Company assigned a provisional value of sales that are subject to a future settlement in accordance 
with the signed commercial contracts with customers for sale. Exposure to changes in metal prices 
generated an embedded derivative to be separated from the commercial contract. At the end of each year, 
the provisional sale value is adjusted according to the estimate for the contribution period stipulated in the 
contract price. The value adjustment provisional sale is recorded as an increase or decrease in net sales.

The estimate of the price change for sales that are pending with final settlement, which are disclosed in net 
sales of the embedded derivative as of December 31, 2015 amounted to a loss of US$696,000, note 26 (c)

(a.3) Interest rate risk
The interest-rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument fluctuates 
due to changes in market interest rates. The Company is exposed to interest-rate risk change especially by 
its long-term financial obligations with floating interest rates.

A table showing the effect:

(b) Credit risk -
The Company’s credit risk arises from the inability of debtors to be able to fulfill their obligations, to the extent 
to which they are overdue. Therefore, the Company deposits its excess funds in leading financial institutions, 
establishes conservative credit policies and constantly evaluates conditions of the market in which it is involved, 
for which it uses risk-rating reports for commercial and credit transactions and conducts hedging transactions 
with London Metal Exchange brokers of recognized prestige. Therefore, the Company does not expect to incur 
significant losses from credit risk.

The Company invests the excess cash in financial leading institutions, sets conservative credit policies and

2016
Exchange rate
Exchange rate

2015
Exchange rate
Exchange rate

(1,910)
1,910

(334)
334

10%
-10%

10%
-10%

Effect on
results

US$(000)

Exchange-rate increase/ 
decrease

2016
Interest rates
Interest rates

2015
Interest rates
Interest rates

           374 
          (374)

294
(294)

10%
-10%

10%
-10%

Effect on
results

US$(000)

Increase / decrease of 
Libor rate (percentage)

(percentage points)
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constantly evaluates the market conditions in which it operates. The Company uses risk reports for its 
commercial and credit operations.

Accounts receivable are denominated in United States dollars and are collected in few days after the issuance 
of the corresponding invoice. The Company’s sales are made to well – known domestic and foreign customers. 
See concentration of sales in note 17(b). 

The Company performs an individual assessment of recoverability of the receivables.

Credit risk is limited to the carrying amount of the financial assets as of the date of statement of financial 
position, which are mainly composed by cash and cash equivalents, trade and other receivables and derivative 
financial instruments. 

(c) Liquidity risk -
Prudent management of liquidity risk implies maintaining sufficient cash and cash equivalents and the 
possibility of committing or having financing committed through an adequate number of credit sources. The 
Company maintains suitable levels of cash and cash equivalents; its shareholders also include companies with 
economic backing and it has sufficient credit capacity to allow it to have access to lines of credit in leading 
financial entities.

The Company continually monitors its liquidity reserves based on cash flow projections.

An analysis of the Company’s financial liabilities classified according to their aging is presented below, 
considering the period from their due date to the statement of financial position date:

(d) Capital management -
The objective is to safeguard the Company’s capacity to continue as a going concern for the purpose of providing 
returns for shareholders, benefits for the stakeholders and maintaining an optimal structure that allows 
reducing the cost of capital.

The Company manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to meet the changing economic market 
conditions. The Company policy is to fund all projects of short and long term with their own operating resources, 
however, the Company incurred financing with financial institutions, see note 12, to finance the expansion 
project 18,000 TMD. The Company may adjust the dividend payment to shareholders, return capital to 
shareholders or issue new shares to maintain or adjust the capital structure.

As of December 31, 2016
Accounts payable
Other accounts payable
Bank loans
Financial obligations

As of December 31, 2015
Accounts payable
Other accounts payable
Bank loans
Financial obligations

104,533
2,681

40,000
161,937_______

309,151______

96,518
1,905

42,963
189,463_______

330,849______

-
-
-

126,570_______

126,570______

-
-
-

156,776_______

156,776______

Total
US$(000)

104,533
2,681

40,000
35,367_______

182,581______

96,518
1,905

42,963
32,687_______

174,073______

Less than 1 
year

US$(000)

Between 1 
and 4 years
US$(000)
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-

-
-

-

-
-

Non-observable 
market data

(Level 3)
US$(000)

2,139

3,863
506

1,997

696
1,121

Observable 
market data

(Level 2)
US$(000)

-

-
-

-

-
-

Quoted prices in an 
active market 

(Level 1)
US$(000)

2,139

3,863
506

1,997

696
1,121

As of December31,2016
Assets recognized at the fair value:
-  Loan to third parties 

Liabilities measured at fair value:
Derivative financial liabilities:
- Hedge derivative financial instruments 
- Embedded derivatives for concentrates sales, net

As of December 31, 2015
Assets recognized at the fair value:
Loan to third parties:

Liabilities measured at fair value:
Derivative financial liabilities:
- Embedded derivatives for concentrates sales, net
- Derivative financial instruments

Total
US$(000)

Fair value measurement using

28. Hierarchy and fair value of financial instruments
Hierarchy: 
The following, represents a summary of the hierarchy for measuring the fair value of the assets and liabilities of the 
Company:

Fair value:
Financial instruments whose fair value is similar to their book value – 
For financial assets and liabilities such as cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, accounts payable and 
other, and other current liabilities that are liquid or have short-term maturities (less than three months), it is 
estimated that their book value is similar to their fair value. The derivatives are also recorded at the fair value so 
that differences do not need to be reported. 

The fair value of embedded derivatives is determined using valuation techniques with information directly 
observable in the market (future metal quotations).

Financial instruments at fixed and variable rates – 
The fair value of financial assets and liabilities at fixed and variable rates at amortized cost is determined by 
comparing the market interest rates at the time of their initial recognition to the current market rates with regard 
to similar financial instruments. The estimated fair value of deposits that accrue interest is determined by means 
of cash flows discounted using the prevailing market interest rates in the currency with similar maturities and 
credit risks.

Based on the foregoing, there are no important existing difference between the value in books and the reasonable 
value of the assets and financial liabilities as of December 31, 2016 and 2015. 

29. Disclosure of segment information
The Company's Management determined that the only segment with scope to report on the basis of the reports 
used by the highest authority in operational decision making (CODM) is the production and marketing of 
concentrates. The Company is organized as a business unit based on the products it markets. The segment of 
exploration activities in non-operational areas is not relevant for purposes of evaluating the development of the 
business.

The CODM monitors the operational results of the production and commercialization of concentrates for the 
purpose of making decisions on performance allocation and evaluation. The performance of the segment is 
evaluated based on the operating profit or loss and is measured consistently with the profit or loss of the 
Company's financial statements.

According to note 17(b), the Company presents the revenues generated by the sale to local and foreign clients. The
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revenue information is based on the customers geographic location.

See note 17 (c) to the financial statements for more information about main customers (customers representing 
more than 10 percent of the Company's revenues).

All non-current assets are located in Peru.

30. Subsequent events
Between January 1, 2017 and the date of issuance of these financial statements, there have been no subsequent 
financial or accounting events that may affect the interpretation of these financial statements.

31. Explanation added for English translation
The accompanying financial statements were originally issued in Spanish and are presented on the basis of 
International Financial Reporting Standards, as described in note 2. Certain accounting practices applied by the 
Company that conform to those accounting principles may not conform to generally accepted accounting 
principles in other countries. In the event of a discrepancy, the Spanish language version prevails.
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Good Corporate Governance involves a set of minimum standards adopted by a business corporation to recognize the 
rights of its shareholders, define the responsibilities of the Board of Directors and Management, ensure information 
transparency, and acknowledge relationships with stakeholders. 

In order to follow the best corporate governance practices, El Brocal abides by the local Good Corporate Governance 
principles established by the Superintendence of the Securities Market (Superintendencia del Mercado de Valores).  
These principles regulate matters related to equitable treatment of shareholders, management of conflicts of interest, 
capital structure, risk management, compensation schedules, and information disclosure, among others.  Likewise, 
as a subsidiary of Compañía de Minas Buenaventura S.A.A., the Company complies with international Corporate 
Governance standards, such as the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of the United States (SOX) on corporate governance law with 
its demanding requirements.  We base ourselves on this comprehensive framework to guide and direct us to 
increasingly improve our performance, efficiently reach our goals, and promote continuous value creation for our 
shareholders and other stakeholders.

El Brocal has a comprehensive internal regulatory framework that includes the “Principles of Sustainable Corporate 
Development”, which are consistent with and incorporate our principles as set out in the Company’s Code of Conduct, 
the ten principles of the Global Compact, the principles of the Code of Conduct of the Mining, Petroleum and Energy 
Society of Peru (SNMPE) and, importantly, the “Principles of Good Corporate Governance” governing the 
organization’s practices, all of which has driven implementation of a robust governance, risk and monitoring system. 
El Brocal continuously reviews and updates its policies, organization and functional roles, and works on improving its 
procedures and controls, including integrated information systems that allow us to monitor and validate such 
upgrades, ensuring stability and professionalism in the management of the Company.

Through its corporate governance practices, El Brocal guarantees ethical business practices, as implemented through 
communication and application of its Code of Conduct and strict compliance with its Corporate Sustainable 
Development Principles, which guide the conduct of all associates and are aligned with our Corporate Mission, Vision 
and Values.

The Company maintains its voluntary participation and adherence to the Extractive Industries Transparency Initiative 
(EITI). The objective of the EITI is to reconcile and disclose payments and income from extractive activities, as well as 
the distribution and public use of said funds by the government.  This initiative helps to raise the levels of transparency 
of companies in the industry, fight corruption and poverty, and show the actual benefits that the extractive industries 
bring to the country.
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In 2016, El Brocal was acknowledged with the ESR Award for socially responsible companies granted by Perú 2021 in 
alliance with the Centro Mexicano para la Filantropía (CEMEFI, Mexican Philanthropy Center).

This award is considered to be one of the highest acknowledgments for corporate social responsibility and rewards the 
efforts of our whole Company, represented by its leadership, management and all of its associates.

At El Brocal, Social Responsibility is a top strategic objective that strengthens our Corporate Governance and 
translates into general and specific programs that are part of the daily efforts of each member of the organization to 
meet high standards and practices of Corporate Social Responsibility.  Once again, this award is a public 
acknowledgment to our stakeholders of our commitment to socially responsible management as part of our business 
culture and strategy.

El Brocal’s current corporate governance framework consists of the following regulations:

- Corporate By-laws
- Code Conduct
- Principles of Sustainable Corporate Development
- General corporate policies
- Procedures, directives and instructions

These standards not only contain compulsory legal provisions and the Corporation’s general operating structure – 
which includes its main management bodies: General Shareholders Assembly, Board of Directors and General 
Manager –, they also establish corporate integrity standards and outline the organization’s principles and values, lay 
down the criteria for relationships with clients and suppliers, and establish the principles to guide the conduct of our 
associates, among the most important: ethical conduct, integrity and confidentially.

The El Brocal Principles of Sustainable Corporate Development are consistent with the following domestic and foreign 
tenets:

- Principles of the United Nations Global Compact
- Principles of Good Governance for Peruvian Corporations (SMV and BVL)
- Sarbanes-Oxley Corporate Governance Act of the United States of America
- Code of Conduct of the Mining, Petroleum and Energy Society of Peru
- International Environmental and Occupational Health and Safety Standards (ISO 14001 and OHSAS 18001).
- Quality Standards (ISO 9000).
- Regulations on Asset Laundering and Funding Terrorism

We continue to abide by the 10 Principles of the United Nations Global Compact, an ethical commitment initiative that 
focuses on making principles of conduct and concrete actions in human rights, work, environment and the fight 
against corruption an integral part of the strategies and operations of organizations worldwide.  El Brocal has aligned 
its corporate policies, effective since March 2007, with the new requirements defined in each of the Principles of the 
Global Compact.

We continue to implement various initiatives to improve our governance risk and monitoring practices, continuously 
updating our financial, operational and compliance procedures.  Through our Integrated Management System, we 
have continued to provide training on the COSO 2013 New Internal Control Framework, communicating and ensuring 
understanding of its contents among first-line management and the various areas of the Company.  Management has 
also taken actions to achieve greater transparency in internal and external reporting of the Company’s financial 
results.

Since 2012, in order to comply with the provisions in Law 27693 (by which law the Financial Intelligence Unit-Peru was 
created), the Company has designated a Compliance Officer, responsible for monitoring proper implementation and 
enforcement of the asset laundering and terrorism funding prevention system.  El Brocal, as a mining company, falls 
within the scope of this Law.

Since October 2005, the Company has an Ethics Officer, whose main function is to ensure that all of our personnel’s 
activities are in strict compliance with our Code of Conduct.

OUR REGULATORY FRAMEWORK
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The responsibilities and functions of the Board of Directors are defined in the Company By-laws, in the law, and in the 
regulations issued by administrative and regulatory entities (SMV, BVL, SOX). 

Its members are elected by the General Shareholders Assembly.  The Board consists of fifteen members having all of 
the powers of legal and management representation necessary to ensure proper management of the Company. 

El Brocal has induction procedures for new members of the Board.  These are conducted by the General Manager and 
First-Line Managers and have two objectives: providing new board members with suitable knowledge about the 
Company’s operations, and providing them with the necessary information and tools to carry out their functions, 
including presentations, financial statements and other reports.

BOARD COMMITTEES
El Brocal has the following Board of Directors Committees:

• Auditing Committee
• Executive Committee 
• Technical Committee

MEMBERS OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS
The Board of Directors is composed of fifteen members, who are elected by the General Shareholders Assembly.  They 
have all of the powers of legal and management representation necessary to ensure proper management of the 
Company.  Board members have different specializations and competences, as well as the prestige, ethics, financial 
independence, sufficient availability and other qualities that are important for the Company in order to ensure a 
plurality of approaches and opinions.

It is important to highlight that seven of the members of the Board are considered to be Independent Members, having 
no family or blood relationship or other ties between them or with management or with the main shareholders of the 
Company.

In addition, none of the fifteen Board members holds any position in the Company’s management team.

According to the financial statements, during the 2016 fiscal year, the management team’s compensation was equal 
to 0.98% of gross income.  The Board of Directors compensation policy establishes that members receive an amount 
equal to 4% of each fiscal year’s profits. The Board of Directors did not receive any compensation since there were no 
profits for the fiscal year.

CHAIRMAN
Ortiz de Zevallos, Felipe

VICE-CHAIRMAN
Morales Dasso, José Miguel

DIRECTORS
Arias López, Jesús Alberto   (Until 3/17/2016)

Benavides Ganoza, Raúl
Benavides Ganoza, Roque
Brazzini Diaz-Ufano, Alfonso
De Aliaga Fernandini, Agustín
De Aliaga de Iglesias, Iris
Fernandini Bohlin, Elías Petrus
Fernandini Valle-Riestra, Jorge Pablo
Gálvez Pinillos, Carlos Ernesto
Gonzáles Galindo, Igor Alcides                      
Hermoza Maraví, Alejandro    (Since 3/17/2016)

Olaechea Álvarez-Calderón, José Antonio
Rodrigo Prado, Luis Carlos
Rodríguez Calle, Humberto
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ORTIZ DE ZEVALLOS MADUEÑO, FELIPE
He is a member of the El Brocal Board since 2009.  In 1977, he founded the APOYO Group and has been its Chairman 
since then. He has been Peruvian Ambassador to the United States (2006 - 2009) and advocated the approval of the Free 
Trade Agreement between both countries before the US Congress. He is a Full Professor at Universidad del Pacífico and 
former President of that university (2004-2006). He has received the 1990 IPAE Prize, the 1998 Jerusalem Prize for 
Journalism, and the 2008 Manuel J. Bustamante de la Fuente Prize. In 2009, the Lima Chamber of Commerce honored 
him for his contribution to the social and economic development of the country. He studied at the Universidad Nacional 
de Ingeniería in Lima, at the University of Rochester, New York, and at the Harvard University School of Business.

MORALES DASSO, JOSÉ MIGUEL 
He has been Vice-Chairman of the Board of El Brocal since the year 2010. He is a board member of El Pacífico 
Peruano-Suiza Cía. de Seguros and of Minera Yanacocha S.R.L. He is President of Empresarios por la Educación and, 
since 1973, a partner at the Aurelio García Sayán Abogados law firm. In March 2005, he was elected President of the 
Confederación Nacional de Instituciones Empresariales Privadas, CONFIEP (National Confederation of Private 
Business Institutions), a position he held until the year 2007. He graduated from the Law School of the Pontificia 
Universidad Católica del Perú (1968). He completed the Sloan Program at Stanford University and graduated from its 
Business School in 1976.

BENAVIDES GANOZA, RAÚL
He is a board member at El Brocal since 1999. He has been Vice-Chairman of Business Development at Cía. de Minas 
Buenaventura since 1997. From 1992 to date, he has also alternated as member of the Executive Committee of Minera 
Yanacocha S.R.L. and as member of the Board of several subsidiaries of Cía. de Minas Buenaventura S.A.A. He holds 
a B.Sc. in Mining Engineering from the University of Missouri-Rolla. In 1984, he obtained a M.Sc. in Mining 
Management from Penn State University. In 2001, he completed the Advanced Management Program (AMP160) at 
Harvard Business School.

BENAVIDES GANOZA, ROQUE
He is a board member at El Brocal since the year 2000. Since 2001 to date he has been CEO of Cía. de Minas 
Buenaventura S.A.A. Since July 2004 he has been a board member of Cía. de Minas Buenaventura S.A.A. and was its 
Finance and Administrative Manager from 1985 to February 2001. In March 1999, he was elected President of the 
Confederación Nacional de Instituciones Empresariales Privadas (National Confederation of Private Business Institutions 
- CONFIEP), an office he held until 2001. In 2012, he received the degree of Doctor Honoris Causa from Universidad 
Nacional Daniel Alcides Carrión of Cerro de Pasco, Peru, a distinction honoring his contribution to the country’s mining 
industry.  He obtained a Bachelor's degree in Civil Engineering from the Pontificia Universidad Católica del Perú in 1977 
and has a Master's degree from the Management School of Henley Management College, United Kingdom.

BRAZZINI DIAZ-UFANO, ALFONSO
He is a member of El Brocal's Board since 2010. He is also Board member of companies in the financial, mining, 
fishing, tourism and real estate industries. He has been President of Banco de la Nación, Banco Interandino and 
Director of Banco Central de Reserva. He holds a degree in Economics and Business Management from Universidad 
del Pacífico and an MBA in Finance from Indiana University.     

DE ALIAGA FERNANDINI, AGUSTÍN
He is a board member at El Brocal since 1979. He is currently Vice-President of Compañía Minera Milpo, Compañía 
Minera Atacocha and Inversiones La Rioja (J.W. Marriott). He is a board member of Calzado Atlas, Urbanizadora Pro, 
Inserfinsa and Comex. He holds a bachelor's degree in Business Administration from Universidad del Pacífico and a 
Master's degree in Business Management from Southern Methodist University, Dallas.

DE ALIAGA DE IGLESIAS, IRIS MARÍA ROSA
She is a board member at El Brocal since 2002. She studied Business Administration at Universidad del Pacífico, and 
also pursued Psychology studies at Unifé, both in Lima, Peru. She is a board member of Urbanizadora Pro and 
Urbanizadora y de Servicios Carabayllo S.A.

FERNANDINI BOHLIN, ELÍAS PETRUS
He is a board member at El Brocal since 1995. At present, he is President of Urbanizadora Pro and Inversiones Fercorp 
S.A. In addition, he is member of the Board of Directors of the Board of the Sovereign Military Order of Malta, and of the 
Consulting Board for YPO for Europe. He has also been a director of the Sociedad Nacional de Minería, Petróleo y 
Energía (National Mining, Petroleum and Energy Society) for two periods: 1995 to 1999, and 2001 to 2002. In 1991, he 
obtained a B.S.B.A. in Finance and Business Management from Boston University, and an M.B.A. from the Madrid 
Business School in 1994. He graduated in Corporate Leadership from Harvard Business School.

PROFESSIONAL PROFILES OF BOARD MEMBERS
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FERNANDINI VALLE-RIESTRA, JORGE PABLO
He is a board member at El Brocal since 2009. He is currently Chairman of the Board of IQF del Perú S.A., Director of 
Promotora Inmobiliaria de Lima S.A., Promotora Inmobiliaria del Norte S.A., Inmobiliaria Fernandini S.A. and Fimcor 
International, Inc. (USA). He has been President of the Peruvian Institute of Asparagus and Vegetables. He is an 
Industrial Engineer from the Universidad Nacional de Ingeniería and Universidad de Lima. 

GÁLVEZ PINILLOS, CARLOS ERNESTO
He is a board member at the company since 2002. He is currently Vice-President and Administrative Manager of Cía. 
de Minas Buenaventura S.A.A.; Managing Director of Consorcio Energético de Huancavelica and member of the 
Executive Committee of Minera Yanacocha S.R.L. He was President of the Sociedad Nacional de Minería, Petróleo y 
Energía for the 2015-2016 period. He obtained a B.A. in Economics from Universidad Nacional Federico Villarreal in 
1976, an M.B.A. from Universidad del Pacífico in 1980, and completed both the Management Development Program in 
1997 and the Advanced Management Program in 2005 at Harvard Business School.

GONZÁLES GALINDO, IGOR
He is a Board member since October 2015, and is Board member and Vice-President of Operations of Compañía de 
Minas Buenaventura S.A.A.  He has 18 years of experience in the copper industry at Southern Peru Copper 
Corporation, and 16 years of experience in the gold industry at Barrick Gold Corporation.  He is also Board member of 
Hudbay Minerales Inc. and Sierra Metals. He obtained his degree as Chemical Engineer from the Universidad 
Nacional del Cusco, and an MS in Metallurgy from the New Mexico Institute of Mining and Technology.  He studied 
Advanced Management at Henley Business College (UK).

HERMOZA MARAVÍ, ALEJANDRO
He is a board member at El Brocal since 2016. He worked as Development Manager at Confederación Nacional de 
Instituciones Empresariales Privadas – CONFIEP, and works at Buenaventura since 2003, where he has been 
Vice-President of Social and Environmental Affairs since 2008 and Administrative and Human Resources Assistant 
Director from 2003 to 2008. He earned his degree as Mechanical Engineer and a Master's degree in Engineering from 
University of Maryland, and has an MBA from Universidad de Ciencias Aplicadas-UPC. In 2011, he graduated from 
Harvard Business School's Advanced Management Program (AMP).

OLAECHEA ÁLVAREZ-CALDERÓN, JOSÉ ANTONIO 
He is a board member at El Brocal since 2004 and a member of its Auditing Committee since November 2005. Since 
1992 he is Managing Partner at the Olaechea Abogados law firm. He has a law degree from the Pontificia Universidad 
Católica del Perú (1987).

RODRIGO PRADO, LUIS CARLOS
He is a board member at El Brocal since 2008. He is a member of the Board of Directors of the Instituto Peruano de 
Derecho de Minería y Petróleo (Peruvian Mining and Petroleum Law Institute) since 2002 to date. Since 2007, he is 
Chairman of the Canada-Peru Chamber of Commerce and is Vice-President of the Latin American Mining Lawyer 
Association since 2001 to date. In 1990, he graduated from the Law School of the Pontificia Universidad Católica del 
Perú. He obtained a Master's degree in Law from Yale University (Fulbright Scholarship) in 1993.

RODRÍGUEZ CALLE, HUMBERTO
He is a member of El Brocal's Board of Directors since 2010. He is also a member of the Board of Consorcio Energético 
de Huancavelica S.A. He joined Cía. de Minas Buenaventura S.A.A. in 1975 and held the positions of General 
Comptroller and Ethics Officer of this company until 2009 and 2010, respectively, continuing today as Advisor. He has 
been General Accountant for Cyanamid Peruana S.A., a chemical product marketing company. He obtained degrees 
as B.Sc. in Economic Sciences from Pontificia Universidad Católica del Perú (1972) and as Public Accountant from that 
same university (1973). He graduated from the Accounting and Finance Program of the Escuela Superior de 
Administración de Negocios (ESAN-1981). In 1988, he completed the Executive Management Program (PAD) at 
Universidad de Piura.
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The General Manager is appointed by the Board of Directors and is entrusted with executing the resolutions passed by 
the Board, as legal and administrative representative of the Company. The main functions of the General Manager 
include managing the Company’s operations, organizing its internal regulations and representing the Company in acts 
and contracts pursuant to our corporate purpose.

EYZAGUIRRE TEJEDA, GONZALO
He is General Manager since October 16, 2014.  He has been General Manager of Cerro Corona and Operations 
Manager at Gold Fields La Cima.  He obtained his degree in Mining Engineering from Pontificia Universidad Católica 
del Perú, and has an MBA from York University - Schulich School of Business. He completed the General Management 
Program - Harvard University.  

ÁLVAREZ DEL VILLAR DE ALIAGA, GONZALO
He is Corporate Affairs Manager since January 2015. He was Institutional Relations Manager at the Company since 
1990. He has a law degree from the Pontificia Universidad Católica del Perú.

CERVANTES BARRIONUEVO, ARTURO
He is Human Resources and Administrative Manager since December 2014.  He was Human Resources Manager at 
Gold Fields La Cima, Cerro Corona Mining Operation.  He has a degree in Industrial Relations from Universidad San 
Martín de Porres and an MBA from Universidad Politécnica de Madrid.

CHAPARRO DÍAZ, TOMÁS
He is Environmental and Occupational Health and Safety Manager since June 2015. He worked as Occupational Health 
and Safety Manager at the Cerro Corona Mining Unit at Gold Fields La Cima.  He is a member of the Industrial Safety 
Committee of SNMPE.  He is a speaker at seminars and certificate courses at the Pontificia Universidad Católica del 
Perú, the Mining Engineers Institute of Peru, and others.  He studied Mining Engineering at the Pontificia Universidad 
Católica del Perú.

GARCÍA CUSICANQUI, CARLOS RICARDO
He is Mine Manager since January 2015.  He was Mine Manager at Goldfileds La Cima and has worked at Minera 
Yanacocha and Cía. Minera Antamina in Mine Engineering and Planning roles.  He has been Operations Manager at 
Minerales Entremares - a subsidiary of Goldcorp in Honduras, Mine Manager at Mina San Cristóbal, a subsidiary of 
Sumitomo in Bolivia, Principal Mining Advisor at Rio Tinto Americas – regional office in Utah, USA, and Senior Mining 
Engineer at Mina Sierrita - Freeport Mc Moran, Arizona, USA. He studied Mining Engineering at the Pontificia 
Universidad Católica del Perú.

HERRERA BULLÓN, CARLOS ANIBAL
He is Project Manager since August 2015. He has worked as Energy and Process Control Superintendent at HudBay 
Minerals – Constancia Project. He holds a degree in Mechanical and Electrical Engineering from Universidad Nacional 
de Ingeniería, and an MBA from INCAE and Universidad Adolfo Ibañez.

LÓPEZ LA TORRE, JOSÉ ALONSO
He is the company's General Auditor since January 2015. He worked as Internal Auditor at the Company since 2006. 
He graduated from Universidad de Lima as a public accountant, specializing in Accounting, Auditing and Finance. At a 
master's level, he studied in the MBA Program at Universidad de Lleida, Spain, and in the Facultad Latinoamericana 
de la Empresa, Chile.

OCAMPO OVIEDO, ROSARIO ELIZABETH
She is the General Accountant since August 2015.  She worked as Assistant Accountant at the Company from 1989 to 
2011 and as Accounting Superintendent from 2012 to July 2015.  She graduated as a certified public accountant from 
Universidad de Lima.

PEZO SÁNCHEZ, JOE JOHNY
He is Process Manager since August 2015.  He has been Process Manager at Mina Lagunas Norte; Metallurgy 
Manager, Capital Projects, at Minera Barrick Misquichilca; Refinery Technical Superintendent at Olympic Dam, 
Australia, BHP Billiton; and Technical Superintendent, Leaching Plant, at Southern Peru.  He has a degree in Chemical 
Engineering from Universidad Nacional de Ingeniería, an MBA from ESAN and an MS in Metallurgical Engineering 
from Universidad San Agustín de Arequipa. 

MANAGEMENT

MANAGERS’ PROFESSIONAL PROFILES
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ROJAS MOSCOSO, RUBÉN SANTIAGO
He is Maintenance Manager since December 2015.  He has been Maintenance Manager at Mineracao Taboca in Brazil, 
and Maintenance Manager at Goldcorp Inc Peñasquito in Mexico.  He is a graduate in Chemical Engineering from 
Universidad de San Agustín de Arequipa and obtained a Master’s degree in Metallurgical Sciences from the same 
university.  He has supplemented his knowledge and experience with studies at Augusta State University, Georgia, 
United States, specializing in Transportation of Solids Using Centrifugal Pumps.  He has MBAs from Universidad 
Católica, the IE School Business in Madrid, Shanghai Business School in China, and a Master’s in Management from 
Tulane University Freemont School, United States.

TABOADA SAAVEDRA, NELLY VICTORIA
She is Financial Manager since July 2015.  Her previous position was as Financial Manager for SABMiller Plc in 
England, and previously as Financial Planning Director for UCP Backus y Johnston and as Assistant Comptroller for 
Minera Yanacocha SRL.  She graduated as a public accountant from Universidad de Lima, with an MBA from the 
Universidad de Piura School of Management.  She has completed the Leadership Development Program, INCAE, in 
Costa Rica, and the Chief Financial Officer Executive Program at Booth School, University of Chicago, United States.
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COMPANY NAME:  Sociedad Minera El Brocal S.A.A.

FISCAL YEAR:  2016

WEB SITE:  WWW.ELBROCAL.PE

COMPANY NAME OF THE AUDITING FIRM:1 

Corporations with securities registered with the Stock Exchange Public Registry are required to disclose their good 
corporate governance practices to the public and, with that purpose, they report their adherence to the principles 
contained in the Good Corporate Governance Code for Peruvian Companies2.

The information to be submitted refers to the fiscal year ending on December 31 of the calendar year preceding such 
submission. Therefore, any reference to “the fiscal year” must be understood to refer to said year. Said information is 
sent as an attachment to the corporation’s Annual Report in the electronic formats established by the Superintendencia 
del Mercado de Valores (Securities Market Superintendence of Peru) (SMV) to help in sending the information in this 
report through the MVnet System.

In Section A, a letter of presentation by the Corporation is included, featuring the main areas where progress was 
made in corporate governance in the fiscal year.

Section B, shows the level of compliance with the principles that make up the Code.  For that purpose, the Report is 
structured according to its five pillars:

I. Shareholder Rights;
II. General Shareholders’ Meetings;
III. Board of Directors and Senior Management3;
IV. Risk and Compliance; and
V.  Information Transparency.

Each principle is evaluated based on the following parameters:

a) “Compliance or Explanation” Evaluation:  A check mark indicates the level of compliance reached by the Company,
taking into account the following criteria:

Yes : Full compliance with the principle.
No : Non-compliance with the principle.

Explanation: In this field, if the “No” option is marked, the Company must explain the reasons why it failed to adopt 
the principle or the actions taken towards its compliance or partial implementation, as applicable.  Likewise, if 
deemed necessary, if the “Yes” option is marked, the Company may provide information on its compliance with the 
principle.

b) Supporting Information:  Information to provide further details on how the Company implemented the principle. 

Section C lists the Company documents where its policies, procedures and others relevant to the principles being 
evaluated are established. 

Section D includes additional information not provided in the previous sections or other important information issued 
by the Company of its own free will for investors and various stakeholders to be further informed about the good 
corporate governance practices it has implemented.

REPORT ON COMPLIANCE WITH THE GOOD CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
CODE FOR PERUVIAN COMPANIES (10150)

METHODOLOGY:

1. Only applicable if the information contained in this report has been reviewed by a specialized company (for example, an auditing firm or a consulting firm).
2. The Código de Buen Gobierno Corporativo para las Sociedades Peruanas (2013) (Good Corporate Governance Code for Peruvian Companies) may be

accessed under the section Orientación- Gobierno Corporativo (Guidance - Corporate Government) in the Peruvian Stock Exchange portal www.smv.gob.pe.
3. The term “Senior Management” includes the general manager and other managers.
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LETTER OF PRESENTATION4

Good Corporate Governance is a set of minimum standards adopted by a business corporation to acknowledge the 
rights of shareholders, define the responsibilities of Directors and Senior Management, ensure information 
transparency, and acknowledge relations with stakeholders.

Thereby, in compliance with the best corporate governance practices, El Brocal abides by the local Good Corporate 
Governance principles established by the Securities Market Superintendence of Peru. These principles regulate 
matters associated with equal treatment of shareholders, management of conflicts of interest, equity structure, risk 
management, compensation schemes, and information release, among others.  Likewise, since El Brocal is a 
subsidiary of Compañía de Minas Buenaventura S.A.A., it complies with international Good Corporate Governance 
standards, including the Sarbanes-Oxley (SOX) Act of the United States of America, considered the standard for 
corporate governance laws due to its stringent requirements.  This comprehensive framework is the foundation and 
guide leading and directing us in our effort to increasingly improve our performance, efficiently reach our objectives, 
and promote continuous value creation for our shareholders and other stakeholders.

El Brocal has a comprehensive internal regulatory framework that includes our “Corporate Sustainable 
Development Principles”.  These principles are aligned with and include the principles stated in the Company’s Code 
of Conduct, the ten Global Compact principles, the Code of Conduct of the National Mining, Petroleum and Energy 
Society (SNMPE) and, importantly, the “Good Corporate Governance Principles” governing the organization’s 
practices, which have enabled us to implement a robust governance, risk and control system.  El Brocal continuously 
works on reviewing and updating its policies, organization and functions, as well as on improving its procedures and 
controls, including integrated information systems that enable us to monitor and validate such revisions, ensuring 
stability and professionalism in corporate management.

Through its corporate governance practices, El Brocal ensures ethical business practices.  For this purpose, the 
Company communicates and applies its Code of Conduct and strictly complies with its Corporate Sustainable 
Development Principles, which guide the conduct of all associates and are aligned with our Mission, Vision and 
Corporate Values.

The Company maintains its voluntary participation and adherence to the Extractive Industries Transparency Initiative 
(EITI).  The objective of the EITI is to reconcile and disclose payments and income from extractive activities, as well as 
the distribution and public use of said funds by the government. This initiative helps to raise the levels of 
transparency of companies in the industry, fight corruption and poverty, and show the actual benefits that the 
extractive industries bring to the country.

In 2016, El Brocal was acknowledged with the ESR Award for socially responsible companies granted by Perú 2021 
in alliance with the Centro Mexicano para la Filantropía (CEMEFI, Mexican Philanthropy Center).  This award is 
considered to be one of the highest acknowledgments for Corporate Social Responsibility and rewards the efforts of 
our whole Company, represented by its leadership, management and all of its associates.

At El Brocal, Social Responsibility is a top strategic objective that strengthens our Corporate Governance and 
translates into general and specific programs that are part of the daily efforts of each member of the organization to 
meet high standards and practices of Corporate Social Responsibility. Once again, this award is a public 
acknowledgment to our stakeholders of our commitment to socially responsible management as part of our 
business culture and strategy.

SECTION A:

4. Describes the main actions implemented during the fiscal year in terms of good corporate governance practices, considered by the Company to be 
significant in keeping with the five pillars of the Good Corporate Governance Code for Peruvian Companies (2013): Shareholder Rights, General 
Shareholders’ Assembly, Board of Directors and Senior Management, Risk and Compliance, and Information Transparency.
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Does the Company only provide for the existence of shares with 
voting rights?

The Board maintains the position of 
promoting only the existence of shares 
with voting rights.

Subscribed Capital at
Fiscal Year End

Total Number of Shares 
Representative of Capital Stock

S/ 1,091’799,982 155,971,426

X
YES NO Explanation:Question I.2

Paid-in Capital at
Fiscal Year End
S/ 1,091’799,982

Number of Voting
Shares 

155,971,426

Class Par Value
Common

Investment
S/ 7.00
S/ 7.00

Number of Shares
155,971,426

6,526,230

Rights(*)
With voting rights

Without voting rights

Frequency:
Within forty-eight hours 
Weekly
Others / Specify (in days)

(*) Indicate in this field the specific rights of each class, as distinguished from rights of other classes.

If the Company has investment shares, does the Company 
promote a policy for voluntarily redeeming or trading 
investment shares for common shares?

X

X

YES NO Explanation:Question I.3
Management will propose 
implementation to the Board of Directors 
for evaluation.

a. Does the Company establish in its corporate documents how 
shares are represented and who is responsible for 
registration in the stock register?

b. Is the stock register continuously updated?

X

X

YES NO Explanation:Question I.4 
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EVALUATION OF COMPLIANCE WITH THE PRINCIPLES OF THE GOOD CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE FOR 
PERUVIAN COMPANIES      

PRINCIPLE 1: EQUAL TREATMENT

a. About the capital stock of the Company, please specify:

b. b. Should the Company have more than on class of shares, please specify:

PRINCIPLE 2: SHAREHOLDING

Indicate how often the stock register is updated once advised of any change.

SECTION B:

PILLAR I: SHAREHOLDER RIGHTS

In its conduct, does the Company demonstrate equal treatment, 
under the same conditions (*), of shareholders within the same 
class? 

(*) Same conditions are understood to be those that distinguish shareholders or characteristics common to shareholders in their relationship with the
Company (institutional investors, non-controlling shareholders, etc.).  This in no way implies favoring the use of insider information.   
  

X
YES NO Explanation:Question I.1  



PRINCIPLE 3:  NO DILUTION OF CAPITAL STOCK

In the event that, during the fiscal year, any corporate operations comprised under item a), Question I.5, have taken 
place, and should the Company have Independent Board Members(*), specify if in every case:    
 

PRINCIPLE 4: SHAREHOLDER INFORMATION AND COMMUNICATION

a. Indicate how shareholders receive and/or request Company information.

b. Does the Company have a maximum time period for answering information requests from shareholders? If yes, 
specify such time period:

If yes, specify the mechanisms established by the Company for shareholders to express their opinion on how the 
Company is conducted.

a. Is it Company policy that any proposals made by the Board of
Directors on corporate operations that may affect the 
shareholders’ right to no dilution – progressive reduction – 
(i.e., mergers, spin-offs, capital increases, among others) to 
be first explained by the Board of Directors in a detailed 
report, with the independent opinion of an external advisor of 
recognized professional standing designated by the Board of 
Directors?

b. Is it Company policy to make said reports available to 
shareholders?

X

X

YES NO Explanation:Question I.5 
Management will propose 
implementation to the Board of Directors 
for evaluation.

Management will propose 
implementation to the Board of Directors 
for evaluation.

All of the Independent Board Members voted in favor of designating the external advisor?
Did all of the Independent Board Members clearly state their acceptance of said report and, if

applicable, substantiated their reasons for non-acceptance?

YES NO

(*) Independent Board Members are selected for their professional background, prestige, and financial independence and self-sufficiency, and are not
related in any way to the Company, its shareholders or Board Members.

Has the Company established who or how shareholders receive 
and request timely, reliable and accurate information?

X

X
X

YES NO Explanation:Question I.6 

Does the Company have mechanisms for shareholders to 
express their opinions on how the Company is conducted?

X
YES NO Explanation:Question I.7 

Means of Communication Request Information
Email
Telephone
Company Web Page
Mail
Information Meetings
Others / Specify

X
X

Receive Information  

Personally at Company offices

X
X
X

Maximum term (days) 1

By simple letter addressed to the Chairman of the Board.
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Date of Approval 08/21/2006
Dividend Policy
(criteria for profit-sharing)

The Company’s Dividend Policy establishes a payment of no less than 
20% of the distributable profit obtained by the Company in the 
preceding year, to be paid to the Company shareholders through 
dividends after the Annual Compulsory Shareholders Meeting has 
passed the applicable resolutions and subject to prior agreement by 
the Board of Directors of the Company.

Without prejudice to the above, the Board of Directors, after a partial 
balance sheet has been prepared and the profit for the period 
applicable to that balance sheet has been calculated, is empowered to 
authorize advance payments on dividends in an amount not to exceed 
20% of the profit for the fiscal year period to which such partial balance 
sheet applies.

Per Share

Dividends per share

Common
Investment Share

In Cash
This Fiscal Year

0
0

In Shares
0
0

In Cash
Previous Fiscal Year

0
0

In Shares
0
0

Does the Company have policies or agreements preventing 
adoption of anti-takeover mechanisms?

Management will propose 
implementation to the Board of Directors 
for evaluation.

X

X
X
X

YES NO Explanation:Question I.9

Requirement of a minimum number of shares to be a Board Member 
Minimum number of years as Board Member to be designated as Chairman of the Board
Agreements to compensate executives/officers for changes resulting from a takeover bid
Similar Others/ Specify

YES NO
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PRINCIPLE 5: COMPANY DIVIDEND DISTRIBUTION

a. Indicate the Company’s dividend policy applicable to the fiscal year.

b. Indicate the dividends distributed in cash and in shares by the Company in this fiscal year and the previous fiscal year.

PRINCIPLE 6: TAKEOVERS

Indicate if any of the following measures have been taken in your Company:

a. Is compliance with the dividend policy subject to evaluation at 
established intervals?

b. Is the dividend policy made known to shareholders through
the Company’s corporate web site, among other means of 
communication?

X

X

YES NO Explanation:Question I.8 



PRINCIPLE 7: ARBITRATION FOR CONFLICT RESOLUTION

If any GSM or Board resolutions have been challenged by shareholders, or others involving the Company, during the 
fiscal year, specify their number.

PRINCIPLE 8: FUNCTIONS AND COMPETENCE

Indicate if the following are exclusive functions of the GSM; if not, please specify what corporate body exercises such 
function.   

PRINCIPLE 9: GENERAL SHAREHOLDERS’ MEETING REGULATIONS

If there are GSM Regulations, specify if they establish procedures for:     

Number of challenges to GSM resolutions 
Number of challenges to Board resolutions

a. Do the Company bylaws include an arbitration agreement 
acknowledging that any conflict between shareholders or 
between shareholders and the Board of Directors may be 
submitted to arbitration at law, as well as any challenges by 
shareholders to resolutions passed at General Shareholders’ 
Meetings (GSM) and by the Board of Directors? 

b. Does such clause allow for an independent third party to 
settle conflicts, except where expressly reserved by law for 
courts of justice?

X

X

YES NO Explanation:Question I.10 

PILLAR II: GENERAL SHAREHOLDERS’ MEETINGS

Is approval of the policy for compensation to Board Members an 
exclusive and non-delegable function of the General 
Shareholders’ Meeting (GSM)?

YES NO Explanation:Question II.1 
X

Does the Company have binding GSM Regulations, entailing 
liability if violated? 

YES NO Explanation:Question II.2  
X

Request investigations and special audits
Approve amendments to the Bylaws
Approve increases in capital stock 
Approve advance payments on dividends 
Designate external auditors

YES NO Corporate Body 

X
X
X
X

X Board of Directors

X
Calling Shareholder Meetings
Shareholders to introduce items in the agenda 
Providing additional information to shareholders for meetings
Conduct of meetings
Designation of Board Members
Significant Others/ Specify

YES NO
X

X
X
X
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Email
Telephone
Corporate Web Page X

Postal Mail
Social Networks
Others / Specify

Does the Company make available to the shareholders all of the 
information regarding the items in the agenda for the GSM and 
the proposals for resolutions to be passed (motions)?

YES NO Explanation:Question II.4 
X

X

X

Were the locations where shareholders could find information on the items to be discussed at
the Meetings specified?

Were “other subjects”, “miscellaneous items" or similar others included in the agenda?

YES NO

Do the GSM Regulations include mechanisms to allow 
shareholders to exercise the right to make proposals of agenda 
items to be discussed at the GSM, and the procedures to accept 
or reject such proposals?

X
YES NO Explanation:Question II.5

Though there is no formally approved 
mechanism, this does occur in practice.
The most recent request for including 
items to be discussed at a GSM was on 
01-14-2010, addressed to the Board of 
Directors.  This request was duly 
answered on 01-21-2010 by the General 
Manager.

0 0 0

Number of Requests
Accepted DeniedReceived

PRINCIPLE 10: METHODS FOR CALLING MEETINGS

a. Complete the following information for each of the meetings held during the fiscal year:

b. What methods, in addition to the one indicated in Article 43 of the Ley General de Sociedades (General Corporate
Law) and the provisions in the Reglamento de Hechos de Importancia e Información Reservada (Regulations for 
Significant Events and Sensitive Information), did the Company use to call to meetings during the fiscal year?

In the call notices made by the Company during the fiscal year:

PRINCIPLE 11: PROPOSALS OF AGENDA ITEMS 

a. Indicate the number of requests submitted by shareholders during the fiscal year to include items in the agenda to
be discussed at a GSM, and the response to such requests:

In addition to the methods for calling meetings established by 
law, does the Company have methods for contacting 
shareholders, especially those that do not take part in running 
or managing the Company, in order to call them to meetings?

YES NO Explanation:Question II.3   
X

Date of Call 
to the 

Meeting
02/17/2016

# of 
Shareholders 

Present
119’207,403

Quórum %
95.3

Date of 
Meeting

03/17/2016

Location 
of the 

Meeting Special General
Lima

Non-
Exercise 
of Voting 

Right
4.66

Direct 
Exercise 

(*)
22.4

Through 
Proxies
72.94

Type of Meeting 

Participation (%) of Total 
Shares with Voting Rights

X

All-Share
holder 

Meeting

X
YES NO

(*) Direct exercise encompasses votes made by any method not involving a representative.        
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b. If any requests to include items in the agenda to be discussed at a GSM were denied in the fiscal year, indicate if the  
Company explained the reasons for denial to the requesting shareholders.

PRINCIPLE 12: VOTING PROCEDURES

a. If applicable, indicate the mechanisms or systems used by the Company for remote voting.

b. If remote voting was used during the fiscal year, specify the following information:

Indicate if the Company has corporate documents clearly specifying that shareholders may vote separately on:

PRINCIPLE 13: DELEGATION OF VOTING RIGHTS 

Vote by electronic system Vote by postal mail

YES NO

Does the Company have mechanisms for shareholders to vote 
remotely using secure electronic systems or postal mail that 
ensure that the person issuing the vote is the actual 
shareholder?

YES NO Explanation:Question II.6 
X Management will evaluate its application

Date of the 
Meeting Email

Corporate 
Web Page Others

% remote votes
Postal 
Mail

% remote votes / total

Does the Company have corporate documents clearly 
specifying that shareholders may vote separately on matters 
that are substantially independent, so that they may issue 
separately their voting preferences?

YES NO Explanation:Question II.7 
X Management will evaluate its application

Does the Company allow persons acting on behalf of several 
shareholders to issue different votes for each shareholder in 
order to follow the instructions given by each represented 
shareholder?

YES NO Explanation:Question II.8 

X

X

Designation or ratification of Board Members by voting individually for each one of them
Any amendment to the Bylaws, by clause or group of clauses that are substantially

independent
Others / Specify

YES NO

X

Do the Company Bylaws allow shareholders to delegate their 
voting rights on any person?

YES NO Explanation:Question II.9 
X

135



Formality (indicate if the Company requires a simple letter, a letter certified by a
notary public, a public notarial document or other)

Advance Notice (number of days before a Meeting for the power of attorney to
be submitted)

Cost (indicate if the Company requires a payment for this purpose and in what
amount)

Simple letter

1 day

No

a. Does the Company have a policy establishing limits on the 
percentage of votes delegated on Board Members or the 
Senior Management?

b. Where votes are delegated on Board Members or the Senior 
Management, does Company policy require shareholders 
delegating their votes to clearly establish their voting choice?

X

X

YES NO Explanation:Question II.11
Management will propose 
implementation to the Board of Directors 
for evaluation.
Management will propose 
implementation to the Board of Directors 
for evaluation.

a. Does the Company follow-up on the resolutions passed at a
GSM?

b. Does the Company submit periodic reports to the Board of
Directors and are they made available to the shareholders?

X

X
YES NO Explanation:Question II.12

Management will propose 
implementation to the Board of Directors 
for evaluation.

Person in Charge
Position AreaFull Name

Area in Charge General Management
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If not, indicate if the Company Bylaws limit the right of representation to any of the following persons:

Indicate the requirements and formalities for a shareholder to be represented at a Meeting:

PRINCIPLE 14: FOLLOW-UP ON GSM RESOLUTIONS 

If applicable, indicate what area and/or person is in charge of following-up on the resolutions passed by the GSM.  If the 
responsible party is a person, additionally include that person’s position and company area.

Another shareholder
A Board Member
A Manager

YES NO

a. Does the Company have procedures specifying the terms, 
methods and formalities required for delegation of voting 
rights?

b. Does the Company make available to the shareholders a
sample letter of representation that includes information 
about the representatives, the matters for which the 
shareholder delegates his/her vote and, if applicable, the 
shareholder’s voting choice for each of the proposals?

X

X
YES NO Explanation:Question II.10

Management will propose 
implementation to the Board of Directors 
for evaluation.



PRINCIPLE 15: MEMBERS OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

a. Provide the following information on the members of the Company Board of Directors in the fiscal year.

Indicate the number of Board Members within each of the following age groups:

b. Indicate if there are specific requirements to be appointed Chairman of the Board, in addition to those required to 
become a Board Member.

If yes, indicate what those requirements are.

c. Does the Chairman of the Board have the casting vote?

PILLAR III: BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT 

Do the members of the Board of Directors have different areas 
of expertise, and the prestige, ethics, financial independence, 
sufficient availability and other qualities relevant for the 
Company in order to ensure a plurality of approaches and 
opinions?

YES NO Explanation:Question III.1 
X

Full Name
Board Members (not including independent members)

Independent Board Members

Jose Miguel Morales
José Antonio Olaechea
Raúl Benavides
Roque Benavides
Agustín De Aliaga
Iris De Aliaga
Elías Fernandini
Jorge Pablo Fernandini

Felipe Ortiz de Zevallos
Alejandro Hermoza
Alfonso Brazzani
Carlos Gálvez
Luis Rodrigo
Humberto Rodriguez
Igor Gonzales

Starting (**)
Date Equity Interest (****)

1998
2004
2001
1998
1998
2002
2004
2012

2009
2016
2010
2002
2008
2010
2015

# of sharesProfessional Background (*)

Lawyer
Lawyer

Engineer
Engineer

Administrator
Administrator
Administrator

Engineer

Engineer
Engineer

Economist
Economist

Lawyer
Economist
Engineer

6.48%

Ending (***) Interest (%)

(*) Also indicate whether the Board Member simultaneously serves on other Boards of Directors, specifying how many and if they are part of the  
reporting company’s economic group. For that purpose, the definition of economic group contained in the Reglamento de Propiedad Indirecta, 
Vinculación y Grupos Económicos (Indirect Property, Link and Economic Group Regulations) applies.

(**) Refers to the initial appointment in the reporting company.
(***) Enter only if the member stopped serving on the Board during the fiscal year.
(****) Mandatorily applicable only to Board Members who hold an equity interest in the capital stock equal or greater than 5% of the reporting company’s

shares.

% of total shares held by Board Members 11.67%

Less than 35 35 to 55 55 to 65 Above 65
0 55 6

YES NO

YES NO
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Does the Company disclose the names of its Board Members, 
whether they are independent members or not, and their 
resumes? 

YES NO Explanation:Question III.3
X

Others / Specify
Annual Report
Annual Report
Annual Report

Names of Board Members
Independent status or not
Resumes

Not
DisclosedPostal Mail

Corporate 
Web PageEmail

Is it a function of the Board of Directors to:
a. Approve and conduct the Company’s corporate strategy
b. Establish objectives, goals and action plans, including annual

budgets and business plans

c. Monitor and supervise management and oversee governance
and administration of the Company

d. Supervise good corporate governance practices and establish
the policies and actions necessary for their best possible 
implementation

X

X

X

X

YES NO Explanation:Question III.4

Management will propose 
implementation to the Board of Directors 
for evaluation.
Management will propose 
implementation to the Board of Directors 
for evaluation.

Regulate the Company’s operation, submit the Annual Report and Financial Statements to the General 
Shareholders’ Assembly, and establish the amount of profit that is to be reinvested in each fiscal year.

Accept the resignation of its members and fill vacancies as provided for in the Bylaws.

Appoint and dismiss the Manager and, as proposed by the Manager, any other high-responsibility and highly-paid 
technical officers, determining their obligations and compensation, and granting and revoking any powers with the 
powers deemed appropriate.

Designate any representatives, advisors, agents and bankers required by the Company.

Enter into contracts and commitments. With respect to mining rights, grant or take such rights under assignment, 
whether for exploration and/or for operation, give or take on loan for use, actively or passively lease or sub-lease any 
kind of goods and chattels, grant and revoke sureties and, in general, all that the Board considers necessary and 
appropriate to fulfill corporate purposes.

YES NO
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If there are substitute or alternate Board members, please specify the following:

Indicate how the Company discloses the following information about its Board Members:

PRINCIPLE 16: FUNCTIONS OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

a. Specify what other important powers are exercised by the Board of the Directors of the Company.

b. Does the Board of Directors delegate any of its functions?

(*) Refers to the initial appointment as substitute or alternate Board member in the reporting company.
(**) Enter only if the member stopped serving as substitute or alternate Board member during the fiscal year.

Full Name of the substitute or alternate Board Member Starting (*) Ending (**)

Does the Company avoid appointing substitute or alternate 
Board members, especially for reasons related to quorum?

YES NO Explanation:Question III.2
X



If applicable, indicate what main functions have been delegated by the Board and what Company area exercises such 
function by delegation:

PRINCIPLE 17: DUTIES AND RIGHTS OF BOARD MEMBERS

a. In the event that expert advisors were hired during the fiscal year, indicate if the list of expert advisors who provided 
services to the Board during the fiscal year for decision-making purposes was made known to the shareholders.

If applicable, specify if any of the expert advisors was related in any way to any member of the Board and/or Senior 
Management (*).

b. If applicable, indicate if the Company provided induction programs to any new Board Members entering the 
Company.

c. Indicate what percentage of the Company’s gross income, according to the Company’s financial statements, is 
represented by the total amount of annual compensation and bonuses received by Board members.

PRINCIPLE 18: BOARD OF DIRECTORS REGULATIONS

Functions Area to which functions have been delegated

Do Board Members have the right to:
a. Request the Board to obtain the support or advice of experts
b. Take part in induction programs covering their powers and 

responsibilities, and receive timely information about the 
Company’s organizational structure

c. Receive compensation for serving on the Board, as
reasonable in recognition of their professional experience 
and dedication to the Company

X
X

X

YES NO Explanation:Question III.5

YES NO

YES NO

YES NO

(*) The criteria for relationships contained in the Reglamento de Propiedad Indirecta, Vinculación y Grupos Económicos (Indirect Property, Link and Economic 
Group Regulations) apply in order to determine any such relationship.

Compensation Bonuses
Board Members (excluding 

independents)
Independent Board 

Members

Stock Delivered

Stock Delivered
Money Delivered
Others (specify))

(%) Gross Income

0

0

(%) Gross Income

0

0
0

Does the Company have binding Board of Directors Regulations, 
entailing liability if violated?

YES NO Explanation:Question III.6
X

139

The Board did not receive remuneration 
since no profits were obtained during the 
year 2015. The remuneration policy for 
the Board establishes the equivalent of 4 
% of taxable income in each fiscal year.



Is at least one third of the Board of Directors composed of 
Independent Board Members?

YES NO Explanation:Question III.7
X

Does the Board have a work plan for improving efficiency in its 
functions?

YES NO Explanation:Question III.9
X

Does the Company provide its Board Members with the necessary 
channels and procedures for them to effectively participate in 
Board meetings, including when not physically present?

YES NO Explanation:Question III.10
X

Not be a board member or employee of any company in its own business group, unless three
(3) or five (5) years, respectively, have passed since that relationship ended.

Not be an employee of a shareholder having an equity interest equal to or greater than five
percent (5%) of the Company.

Not have served more than eight (8) continuous years as Independent Board Member of the Company.
Not have and/or have had in the past three (3) years any significant (*), business relationship,

whether commercial or contractual, direct or indirect, with the Company or any other 
company in its same business group.

Not be a spouse, not have any first or second degree kinship by blood, and/or not have any first
degree of affinity with any shareholders, Board Members or the Senior Management of the Company.

Not be a board member or a senior management member in another company where any of
the Company’s Board Members or Senior Management members are board members.

Not have been in the past eight (8) years a member of the Senior Management or an employee
in the Company, in companies in its same business group, or in companies who are 
shareholders of the Company.

No have been in the past three (3) years a partner or employee of the external auditor or an 
auditor of any of the companies in the Company’s business group.
Others / Specify

YES NO

X

X
X

X

X

X

X

X

(*) The business relationship is considered significant when any of the parties have issued invoices or made payments in an amount higher than 1% of their 
annual income to the other party.

a. Does the Board of Directors resolve that its proposed 
candidate is independent based on its own inquiries and the 
candidate’s statements?

b. Do Independent Board Members declare their independent 
status to the Company and the Company’s shareholders and 
Board members?

YES NO Explanation:Question III.8 
X

X

Management will propose 
implementation to the Board of Directors 
for evaluation
Management will propose 
implementation to the Board of Directors 
for evaluation.
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Indicate if the Board of Directors Regulations contain:

PRINCIPLE 19: INDEPENDENT BOARD MEMBERS

Indicate which of the following conditions are considered by the Company to qualify its members as independent Board 
Members.

PRINCIPLE 20: BOARD OF DIRECTORS OPERATIONS

X

X

Policies and procedures for its operation
Board organizational structure
Functions and responsibilities of the Board Chairman
Procedures for identifying, evaluating and appointing Board member candidates to be  

proposed at the General Shareholders’ Meeting (GSM)
Procedures for Board member vacancy, removal or succession
Others / Specify

YES NO
X
X

X



a. Indicate the following with respect to the Board meetings held during the fiscal year:

b. Indicate the attendance percentage of each Board Member to Board meetings during the fiscal year.

c. Indicate how much time in advance is all of the information on the matters to be discussed at a meeting available 
to Board Members.

a. Indicate if performance evaluations of the Board of Directors have been carried out during the fiscal year.

If the answer to either of the above fields was yes, please provide the following information for each evaluation:

(*) In this field, please report on the number of meetings held under the provisions in the last paragraph of Article 167 of the Ley General de Sociedades (General 
Corporate Law).

8
0
0

0
0

Number of meetings held
Number of meetings held dispensing with a notice of the meeting (*)
Number of meetings where the Chairman of the Board was absent
Number of meetings where one or more Board Members were represented by substitute or 

alternate Board Members
Number of Full Board Members who were represented at least once

Felipe Ortiz de Zevallos
Jesús Arias
Alfonso Brazzani
Carlos Gálvez
Luis Rodrigo
Humberto Rodríguez
José Miguel Morales
Igor Gonzales 
Raúl Benavides
Roque Benavides
Agustín De Aliaga
Iris De Aliaga
Elías Fernandini
Jorge Fernandini
Alejandro Hermoza
José Olaechea

Attendance %Name
100
25
75
100
88
100
88
50
100
100
88
87
50
87
75
100

From 3 to 5 days
Non-confidential information
Confidential information

Less than 3 days  
X
X

More than 5 days

a. Does the Board of Directors objectively evaluate its performance 
as a collective body and that of its Members at least once a 
year?

b. Is self-evaluation alternated with evaluations by external 
consultants?

YES NO Explanation:Question III.11
X

X

Management will propose 
implementation to the Board of Directors 
for evaluation.
Management will propose 
implementation to the Board of Directors 
for evaluation.

X
X

As a collective body 
Of Board Members 

YES NO

Evaluating EntityDateCommunicated (*) Communicated (*)Date
Self-evaluationEvaluation External Evaluation

(*) Indicate Yes or No, whether or not the evaluation was communicated to the shareholders.
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PRINCIPLE 21: SPECIAL COMMITTEES

a. Specify if the Company additionally has the following Special Committees:

b. If the Company has Special Committees, provide the following information about each committee:

Does the Company have a Nominating and Compensations 
Committee entrusted with i) nominating the Board member 
candidates who will be proposed by the Board of Directors for 
approval at the General Shareholders’ Meeting, and ii) approving 
Senior Management’s compensation and incentive system?

YES NO Explanation:Question III.13  
X Management will propose 

implementation to the Board of Directors 
for evaluation.

Does the Company have an Auditing Committee to supervise 
the effectiveness and suitability of the Company’s internal and 
external control system and the reports submitted by the 
independent auditor or auditing firm, as well as compliance with 
regulations on legal and professional independence?  

YES NO Explanation:Question III.14 
X

X
X

Risk Committee 
Corporate Governance Committee

YES NO

Created on:
Committee Name:

COMMITTEE 1

Main Functions:
OCTOBER 25, 2005
Auditing Committee

• Overseeing Management’s business risk evaluation and management processes. 
• Annually review its functions and regulations and propose to the Board of Directors

changes it considers pertinent.
• Internal audit reports shall be sent to the Chairman of the Auditing Committee, who 

will be responsible for receiving and reviewing such reports and, if deemed 
necessary, submitting said reports for discussion by the Committee in full.

• Supervising compliance with the requirements of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of the 
United States of America (corporate governance law).

Full Names 
Committee Members (*):

Humberto Rodríguez Calle
Carlos Gálvez Pinillos
Agustín de Aliaga Fernandini
José Antonio Olaechea Alvarez Calderón

Date
Ending (***)

Chairman
Member
Member
Member

50%
4

Function within the Committee

YES NO
YES NO

% of Committee Members who are Independent Board Members
Number of meetings held during the fiscal year:
Does it have powers granted in accordance with Article 174 of the Ley General de

de Sociedades (General Corporate Law)?
Does the Committee or its Chairman participate in GSMs?

(*) Information is to be provided on persons who were Committee members during this fiscal year.
(**) Refers to the initial appointment as Committee member in the reporting company.
(***) Enter only if the member stopped serving on the Committee during the fiscal year.

03/2010
10/2005
10/2005
10/2005

Starting (**)

a. Are there special committees within the Board of Directors
of the Company created to focus on areas that are most 
important for the conduct of Company business?

b. Are the regulations governing each of the special committees 
created by the Board of Directors subject to Board approval?

c. Are the special committees chaired by Independent 
Board Members?

d. Are special committees assigned a budget?

YES NO Explanation:Question III.12

X

X

X

X

Management will propose 
implementation to the Board of Directors 
for evaluation.
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Created on:
Committee Name:

Main Functions:
MARCH 26, 2010        
Technical Committee

Follow-up and evaluation of progress made in mining and industrial programs and 
projects.

Full Names 
Committee Members (*):

Roque Benavides Ganoza
Jorge Pablo Fernandini Valle – Riestra 
Gonzalo Eyzaguirre Tejeda

Date
Ending (***)

Chairman
Member
Member

33%
0

Function within the Committee

YES NO
YES NO

% of Committee Members who are Independent Board Members
Number of meetings held during the fiscal year:
Does it have powers granted in accordance with Article 174 of the Ley General 

de Sociedades (General Corporate Law)?
Does the Committee or its Chairman participate in GSMs?

(*) Information is to be provided on persons who were Committee members during this fiscal year.
(**) Refers to the initial appointment as Committee member in the reporting company.
(***) Enter only if the member stopped serving on the Committee during the fiscal year.

03/2010
03/2010
01/2015

Starting (**)

Created on:
Committee Name:

Main Functions:
April 24, 2014
Executive Committee

Meet Board Member requirements that are beyond the scope of the Auditing 
Committee and the Technical Committee. 

Full Names 
Committee Members (*):

Agustín De Aliaga Fernandini
Carlos Gálvez Pinillos
Jorge Pablo Fernandini Valle - Riestra
Raúl Benavides Ganoza
Roque Benavides Ganoza

Date
Ending (***)

20%
3

Function within the Committee

YES NO
YES NO

% of Committee Members who are Independent Board Members
Number of meetings held during the fiscal year:
Does it have powers granted in accordance with Article 174 of the Ley General 

de Sociedades (General Corporate Law)?
Does the Committee or its Chairman participate in GSMs?

(*) Information is to be provided on persons who were Committee members during this fiscal year.
(**) Refers to the initial appointment as Committee member in the reporting company.
(***) Enter only if the member stopped serving on the Committee during the fiscal year.

April 24, 2014
April 24, 2014
April 24, 2014
April 24, 2014
April 24, 2014

Starting (**)

PRINCIPLE 22: ETHICS CODE AND CONFLICTS OF INTEREST 

If applicable, indicate what area and/or person is in charge of follow-up and control of possible conflicts of interest.  If 
the responsible party is a person, additionally include that person’s position and company area.

Does the Company take measures to prevent, detect, handle 
and reveal any conflicts of interest that may arise?

YES NO Explanation:Question III.15
X

Person in Charge
Cargo AreaFull Name

Area in Charge Ethics Officer
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COMMITTEE 2

COMMITTEE 3

Member
Member
Member
Member
Member



a. Are Board Members, managers, officers and other Company 
associates (**) required to comply with a Company Ethics 
Code (*), which includes ethical and professional 
responsibility criteria, as well as how potential conflicts of 
interest are handled?

b. Are training programs on compliance with the Ethics Code 
submitted to the Board of Directors or the General Manager 
for approval?

X

X

YES NO Explanation:Question III.16 / Cumplimiento

If the Company has an Ethics Code, indicate the following:

a. It is available to:

b. Indicate what area and/or person is in charge of follow-up and compliance with the Ethics Code. If the responsible 
party is a person, additionally include that person’s position, company area and to whom the person reports.

c. Is a record kept of non-compliances with this Code? 

d. Indicate the number of non-compliances with the provisions established in said Code were detected or reported 
during the fiscal year.

(*) The Ethics Code may be part of the Internal Standards of Conduct.  
(**) The term “associates” includes all persons who have any type of work relationship with the Company, independently of type or system of
 employment.

Shareholders
Others to whom it applies 
General public

YES NO
X
X
X

Person in Charge
Position AreaFull Name

Area in Charge Ethics Officer

Reports to

YES NO

Number of non-compliances

a. Does the Company have mechanisms for reporting any illegal
or unethical conduct and ensuring the confidentiality of the 
informant?

b. Are reports made directly to the Auditing Committee when 
they are related to financial matters o when the General 
Management or the Financial Management are involved?

X

X

YES NO Explanation:Question III.17
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a. Is the Board of Directors responsible for follow-up and control 
of any potential conflicts of interests within the Board of 
Directors?

b. If the Company is not a financial institution, does it have an 
established policy preventing Board members from receiving 
loans from the Company or any company in its economic 
group, unless prior authorization from the Board of Directors 
is obtained?

c.  If the Company is not a financial institution, does it have an 
established policy preventing Senior Management members 
from receiving loans from the Company or any company in its 
economic group, unless prior authorization from the Board of 
Directors is obtained?

X

X

X

YES NO Explanation:Question III.18
Management will propose 
implementation to the Board of Directors 
for evaluation.
Management will propose 
implementation to the Board of Directors 
for evaluation.

Management will propose 
implementation to the Board of Directors 
for evaluation.

a. Provide the following information on any Senior Management members who own a share interest equal to or 
greater than 5% of the Company.

b. Indicate if any members of the Company Board or Senior Management is a spouse, has a first or second degree
kinship by blood, or has any first degree of affinity with:

c. If any Board Member serves or has served during this fiscal year in any management position in the Company,
provide the following information:

d. If any member of the Company Board or Senior Management has maintained during the fiscal year any commercial
or contractual relationship with the Company considered significant, whether for its amount or for the matter 
involved, provide the following information.

Position Number of SharesFull Name % of Total Shares  

% of Total Shares Held by Senior Management 0.003%

Full Names

Roque Benavides 
Ganoza
Agustín de Aliaga 
Fernandini
Elías Fernandini
José Olaechea

Agustín de Aliaga 
Fernandini

Raúl Benavides Ganoza 
José Miguel Morales Dasso
Iris de Aliaga Fernandini

Jorge Fernandini
Elías Fernandini
Jorge Fernandini
Gonzalo Álvarez Del Villar

Shareholder (*) Senior Management
Related to:

X

X
X
X

X

Full Name of Shareholder / 
Board Member / ManagerBoard Member

Additional 
Information (***)

Type of 
Relationship (**)

Relatives

Relatives
Relatives

Relatives

Relatives

(*) Shareholders with a share interest equal to or greater than 5% of the capital stock.
(**) The criteria for relationships contained in the Reglamento de Propiedad Indirecta, Vinculación y Grupos Económicos (Indirect Property, Link and 
 Economic Group Regulations) apply in order to determine any such relationships.
(***) Should a relationship exist with any shareholder, include the shareholder’s share interest. If there is a relationship with a member of the Senior
 Management, include the manager’s position.

(*) Refers to the initial appointment to the management position in the reporting company.
(**) Enter only if the member stopped serving in the management position during the fiscal year.

Starting (*)Full Name 
Period at Management Position

Management Position Held Ending (**)

Type of Relationship Brief DescriptionFull Name
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PRINCIPLE 23: OPERATIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES

a. If the answer to item a., Question III.19 was yes, indicate which area(s) of the Company is in charge of handling
transactions with related parties in the following aspects:

b. Indicate the procedures for approving transactions between related parties:

c. Detail any transactions between the Company and related parties that took place during the fiscal year considered 
significant whether for its amount or for the matter involved.

d. Specify if the Company establishes limits on transactions with related parties:

a. Does the Board of Directors have policies and procedures to 
assess, approve and disclose certain transactions between 
the Company and related parties, as well as to be aware of 
direct or indirect commercial or personal relationships 
among Board Members and between Board Members and 
the Company, Company suppliers or clients, and other 
stakeholders?

b. In the case of particularly significant or complex transactions,
is assessment by independent external advisors provided for?

X

X

YES NO Explanation:Question III.19
Management will propose 
implementation to the Board of Directors 
for evaluation.

Assessment
Approval
Disclosure

Area in ChargeAspects

PR LOG – ABS 007 – Procedure for Acquisition of Goods and Services

Nature of the 
Relationship (*) Type of Transaction

Name or Company Name of the 
Related Party Amount (S/)

Economic Group

Economic Group
Economic Group

• Payment SNMPE subscription fee
• Financing (Capital + Interest)
• Marketing service
• Project engineering consulting
• Electric power supply 
• Arbitration fees

Compañía de Minas Buenaventura

Buenaventura Ingenieros
Empresa de Generación Huanza S.A.

11’120,890
1’035,856

71’866,442

(*) The criteria for relationships contained in the Reglamento de Propiedad Indirecta, Vinculación y Grupos Económicos (Indirect Property, Link and 
Economic Group Regulations) apply in order to determine any such relationships.

YES NO
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PRINCIPLE 24: FUNCTIONS OF SENIOR MANAGEMENT 

a. Provide the following information on the compensation paid to the General Manager and senior management 
(including bonuses).

b. If the Company pays bonuses or benefits other than those legally established to Senior Management, indicate the
manner(s) in which these are paid.

c. If the Senior Management’s compensation has a variable component, specify the main aspects considered in order
to determine such compensation.

d. Indicate if the Board of Directors evaluated the performance of the General Manager during the fiscal year.

a. Does the Company have a clear policy defining the limits 
between the governance functions of the Board of Directors, 
the regular management by Senior Management and the 
leadership of the General Manager?

b. Are the positions of General Manager and Chairman of the
Board of the Company held by different persons?

c. Does Senior Management have sufficient autonomy to 
carry out designated functions within the framework of the 
policies and guidelines defined and monitored by the Board of 
Directors?

d. Is the General Manager responsible for following and 
enforcing the policy for providing information to the Board of 
Directors and Board Members?

e. Does the Board of Directors annually review the General
Manager’s performance subject to well-defined standards?

f. Does the compensation made to Senior Management have a
fixed component and a variable component that take into 
consideration the Company’s performance, based on sound 
and responsible risk-taking and meeting the goals defined in 
the respective plans?

X

X

X

X

X

X

YES NO Explanation:Question III.20 / Compliance

Management will propose 
implementation to the Board of Directors 
for evaluation.

Fixed
Compensation (*)

VariablePosition
0.98 0Senior Management

(*) Indicate what percentage of the Company’s gross income, according to the Company’s financial statements, is 
represented by the total amount of annual compensation paid to Senior Management.

General Manager Managers
Shares
Stock Options
Monetary
Others / Specify

YES NO
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PILLAR IV: RISK AND COMPLIANCE

PRINCIPLE 25: RISK MANAGEMENT ENVIRONMENT

Does the Company have a risk management delegation policy establishing the limits of risks that may be managed by 
each level of the Company?

Does the Company have a Risk Manager?

If yes, provide the following information:

PRINCIPLE 26: INTERNAL AUDITING 

a. Has the Board of Directors approved a comprehensive risk
management policy suitable to the Company’s size and 
complexity, promoting a risk management culture within the 
Company, from the Board of Directors to Senior 
Management to the associates themselves?

b. Does the comprehensive risk management policy extend to
all of the companies in the group and provide an overall vision 
of critical risks?

X

X

YES NO Explanation:Question IV.1

a. Does the internal auditor work exclusively on auditing tasks, 
having autonomy, experience and expertise in the areas to be 
monitored, and independence to follow-up and evaluate the 
effectiveness of the risk management system?

b. Do the functions of the internal auditor include to
continuously review that all of the financial information 
created or entered by the Company is valid and reliable, as 
well as to verify the effectiveness of regulatory compliance?

c. Does the internal auditor report directly to the Auditing 
Committee on plans, budget, activities, progress, results 
obtained and actions taken by said internal auditor?

X

X

X

YES NO Explanation:Question IV.4

a. Does the General Manager manage the risks to which the 
Company is exposed and advises the Board of Directors of 
these risks?

b. Is the General Manager responsible for the risk management 
system, should there be no Risk Committee or Risk 
Manager?

X

X

YES NO Explanation:Question IV.2

YES NO

YES NO

Period at Position
Starting (*) Ending (**)Full Name

Reports to (Area / Body)

(*) Refers to the initial appointment in the reporting company.
(**) Enter only if the manager stopped serving in that position during the fiscal year.

Does the Company have an internal and external monitoring 
system supervised by the Board of Directors as to effectiveness 
and suitability?

YES NO Explanation:Question IV.3
X
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YES NO

a. Indicate if the Company has an independent area in charge of internal auditing.

If yes, within the organizational structure of the Company, what body does Auditing report to?

b. Indicate if the Company has a Corporate Internal Auditor.

Indicate what the main responsibilities of the person in charge of internal auditing are, and if that person has duties 
other than internal auditing.

PRINCIPLE 27: EXTERNAL AUDITORS 

a. Does the Company have a policy for designating the External Auditor?

If yes, describe the procedure for engaging the auditing firm entrusted with preparing the audit report on the annual 
financial statements (including what Company entity is in charge of selecting the auditing firm). 

b. If the auditing firm has performed services other than auditing accounts, indicate if such other services were advised
to the GSM, and what percentage of the auditing firm’s total invoicing billed to the Company is represented by such 
other services.

Reports to: AUDITING COMMITTEE

YES NO

Develops an Annual Auditing Plan - approved by the General Manager and the Auditing Committee – based on an 
evaluation of the Company’s risks, and assesses and tests monitoring activities, in terms of design and of their 
operating effectiveness, both with respect to entities and to manual and automatic processes.

Applies International Auditing Standards and the best practices of the Integrated Internal Control Framework 
accepted by the organization.

Evaluates established systems to ensure compliance with the policies, plans, standards and procedures, laws and 
regulations in force that are applicable to the mining industry and could have a significant impact on the organization.

Evaluates the reliability and integrity of financial and operations information, and the methods used to identify, 
measure, sort and report such information.

Prepares periodic reports for Management and the Auditing Committee on audit notes and findings.

The Bylaws stipulate that external auditors must be certified public accountants in order to be designated.

Does the Board of Directors appoint and remove the Internal 
Auditor at the proposal of the Auditing Committee?

YES NO Explanation:Question IV.5
X

Is an auditing firm or independent auditor, demonstrably 
independent from the Company, designated at the GSM, at the 
proposal of the Board of Directors?

YES NO Explanation:Question IV.6 
X

YES NO

YES NO

149



c. Do persons or entities related to the auditing firm provide services to the Company, other than services performed 
for auditing accounts?

If yes, provide the following information about the additional services rendered by persons or entities related to the 
auditing firm during this fiscal year.

d. Indicate if the auditing firm has used different teams for any additional services rendered other than auditing
accounts.

Provide the following information on the auditing firms that have provided services to the Company in the past five (5) 
years.

Indicate if the auditing firm engaged to issue an opinion on the Company’s financial statements for this fiscal year also 
issued an opinion on the financial statements of other companies in its economic group for this year.

If yes, provide the following:

Additional Services % de remuneración(*)Name or Company Name

(*) Invoicing for additional services above invoicing for auditing services.

YES NO

a. Does the Company a policy for renewing its independent 
auditor o auditing firm?

b. If said policy establishes time periods for renewing the 
auditing firm, does the auditing firm’s work team rotate at 
most every five (5) years?

X

X
YES NO % of compensation (*)Question IV.7

Management will evaluate its application.

Consulting
Consulting

Audits
Consulting

5
5

5
5

Deloitte & Touche SCRL
Ernst & Young Asesores SCRL.
Paredes, Zaldivar, Burga &

Asociados SCRL
Pricewaterhousecoopers SCRL

% of Amount Paid to 
Auditing Firm Compensation (**)PeriodService (*)

Legal Name of the
Auditing Firm

0
0

100
0

(*) Include every kind of service, including opinions on financial information, account assessments, operational audits, system audits, tax audits
 and/or other services.
(**) From the total amount paid to the auditing firm on all items, indicate the percentage paid for financial auditing services.
(***)  This is the information we have in the new ORACLE system.  At present, we do not have access to the previous system.

In the case of economic groups, is the external auditor the same 
one for the whole group, including offshore affiliates?

YES NO Explanation:Question IV.8
X

YES NO

Name of Other Company(ies) in the Economic Group
Compañía de Minas Buenaventura
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PILLAR V: INFORMATION TRANSPARENCY

PRINCIPLE 28: INFORMATION POLICY  

a. If so, indicate whether the Company disseminates the following under its information policy:

b. Does the Company have a corporate website?

The corporate website includes:

If the Company has an investor relations office, indicate who is in charge. 

If there is no investor relations office, indicate the unit (department/area) or person in charge of receiving and 
processing information requests from Company shareholders and the general public. If a person, include such 
person’s position and company area.

Does the Company have an information policy for shareholders, 
investors, other stakeholders and the market in general, where 
the guidelines, standards and criteria to be applied to manage, 
collect, prepare, classify, organize and/or distribute information 
developed or received by the Company are defined in a formal, 
orderly and comprehensive manner?

X
YES NO Explanation:Question V.1

Corporate Purpose
List of Board of Directors and Senior Management Members
Shareholding Structure
Description of its Economic Group
Financial Statements and Annual Report
Others / Specify 

YES NO
X
X
X
X
X

A special section on corporate governance and/or shareholder and investor relations, 
including the Corporate Governance Report

Significant Events
Financial Information
Bylaws
GSM Regulations and information on Shareholder Meetings (attendance, minutes, others)
Members and Regulations of the Board of Directors
Ethics Code
Risk Policy
Corporate Social Responsibility (community, environment, others)
Others / Specify

YES NO

X
X
X

X
X
X

X
X
X

YES NO

Does the Company have an investor relations office?
YES NO Explanation:Question V.2

X

Head of Investor Relations Office Head of Securities Section

Person in Charge
Position AreaFull Name

Area in Charge 
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PRINCIPLE 29: FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND ANNUAL REPORT

If the external auditor’s report is qualified, have the issues been explained and/or justified to the shareholders?

PRINCIPLE 30: INFORMATION ON SHAREHOLDING STRUCTURE AND SHAREHOLDERS’ AGREEMENTS 

Indicate the share ownership structure of the Company at the end of the fiscal year.

a. Does the Company have existing shareholders’ agreements registered?

b. In the event that the Company was advised of any shareholders’ agreement during the fiscal year, indicate the 
the subject matter of each agreement.

YES NO

YES NO

Does the Company disclose the ownership structure, 
considering the various share classes and, if applicable, any joint 
share interest held by a particular economic group?

YES NO Explanation:Question V.3
X

Less than 1%
1% to 5%
5% to 10%
More than 10%
Total

2,976
10
1
1

2,988

11.72
23.55
6.48

58.25
100

Number of Shareholders          
(at fiscal year-end)

Share Interest %Shares with Voting Rights

Less than 1%
1% to 5%
5% to 10%
More than 10%
Total

Number of Shareholders
(at fiscal year-end)

Share Interest %Shares without Voting Rights
(if applicable)

Less than 1%
1% to 5%
5% to 10%
More than 10%
Total

 1,185 
 15 
 3 
 1 

 1,204

26.7
36.83
16.75
19.72

100

Number of Shareholders
(at fiscal year-end)

Share Interest %Investment Shares (if 
applicable)

Percentage of capital stock in portfolio shares: 0.001

Does the Company report shareholders’ agreements?
YES NO Explanation:Question V.4

X Management will propose 
implementation to the Board of Directors 
for evaluation.

Election of Board Members
Exercising voting rights at Shareholders’ Meetings
Restriction on the free transfer of shares
Changes in Company internal regulations or bylaws
Others /Specify
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PRINCIPLE 31: CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

a. The Company has methods for internal and external dissemination of corporate governance practices.

If yes, specify the methods used.

CONTENTS OF COMPANY DOCUMENTS

Indicate which of the following Company documents regulate the matters below:

Does the Company disclose its corporate governance standards 
in an annual report, under the responsibility of the Board of 
Directors, following prior reports from the Auditing Committee, 
the Corporate Governance Committee or, if applicable, an 
external consultant?

YES NO Explanation:Question V.5 
X

YES NO

A Sustainability Report is distributed annually to the main representatives of all interest groups, developed following 
GRI reporting standards.

Likewise, as required by the Sarbanes-Oxley Act (SOX), corporate governance compliance is reported to the parent 
company, which in turn submits direct reports to the Securities & Exchange Commission (SEC) of the United States. 

1.

2.

3.

4.

5.
6.

7.
8.
9.

10.

11.

1

2

3

4

5
6

7
8
8

10

10

X

X
X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

Policy for redemption or exchange of shares without
voting rights

Shareholder registration method and person in
charge of the shareholder register

Procedures for selecting an external advisor to
issue an independent opinion on proposals made 
by the Board of Directors on corporate operations 
that may affect the shareholders’ right to no 
dilution

Procedure for receiving and responding to
shareholders’ information and opinion requests

Dividend Policy
Policies or agreements preventing adoption of

anti-takeover mechanisms
Arbitration Agreement
Policy for selecting Company Board Members
Policy for evaluating compensation to Company

Board Members
Mechanisms to make available to the shareholders

information regarding the items in the agenda for 
General Shareholders’ Meetings (GSM) and the 
proposals for resolutions to be passed 

Methods in addition to those established by law used
by the Company to call shareholder meetings

Securities Manual

General Principles
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12.

13.

14.

15.

16.
17.

18.

19.

20.

21.

22.

23.

24.

25.

26.

27.

28.

29.

30.

31.

32.
33.

34.

35.

11

11

12

12

13
13

13

14

15

17

17

17

17

19

20

22

23

24

24

24

25
26

27

28

X

X
X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X
X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

Additional mechanisms for shareholders to submit
proposals for agenda items to be discussed at 
GSMs

Procedures for accepting or rejecting agenda items
proposed by shareholders to be included in GSMs

Mechanisms to allow for shareholders not physically
present to participate in GSMs

Procedures for shareholders to issue separate votes
on independent matters

Procedures for delegating voting rights
Requirements and formalities for a shareholder to

be represented at a Shareholders’ Meeting
Procedures for delegating voting rights on members

of the Board or of Senior Management
Procedure for following-up on resolutions passed at

GSMs
The minimum and maximum number of members

in the Company’s Board of Directors
The duties, rights and functions of the Company’s

Board Members
Types of bonuses received by the Board of Directors

for meeting Company goals
Policy for retaining consulting services to be provided

to Board Members
Induction Policy for new Board Members
 
Special requirements to be an Independent Director

of the Company
Criteria for evaluating the performance of the Board

of Directors and of its Members
Policy for determining, following-up and monitoring

possible conflicts of interests
Policy defining the procedure for assessing,

approving and disclosing operations with related 
parties

Responsibilities and functions of the Chairman of the
Board, the Executive President, the General 
Manager, and other officers with Senior 
Management positions

Criteria for evaluating the performance of Senior
Management

Policy for establishing and evaluating compensation
for Senior Management

Comprehensive risk management policy
Responsibilities of person or area in charge of

Internal Auditing
Policy for designating the External Auditor, the

External Auditor’s contract term, and criteria for 
External Auditor renewal

Policy for disclosing and communicating information
to investors

Induction of New Members 
of the Board of Directors

Minutes of Board of
Directors Meeting

General Policies

Functions Manual

General Policies
Internal Auditing 

Procedure

General Policies

(*) Includes the GSM Regulations, the Board of Directors Regulations and others issued by the Company.
(**) Indicate the name of the document, unless it is the Company’s Bylaws.
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5. To include other information of interest not referred to in the previous sections, provided for investors and various stakeholders to be further informed
about the good corporate governance practices implemented by the Company, as well as its practices in connection with corporate social responsibility, 
relations with institutional investors, etc.

Likewise, the Company may also indicate if it has voluntarily adhered to other international, industry, or other codes of ethical principles or of good 
practices, indicating the code and the date of adherence.

SECTION D:

OTHER INFORMATION OF INTEREST5
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IMPLEMENTATION OF CORPORATE SUSTAINABILITY ACTIONS

SECTION A: 

COMPANY NAME:  Sociedad Minera El Brocal S.A.A.

FISCAL YEAR:  2016

WEB SITE:  WWW.ELBROCAL.PE

COMPANY NAME OF THE AUDITING FIRM:1

RPJ:    B20026

If you have answered Yes, please indicate the standard and the date of adherence:

If any other sustainability reports other than this report have been made, indicate the following information:  
     

Has the corporation voluntarily adhered to 
standards of good Corporate Sustainability 
practices?

X
YES NO ExplanationQUESTION A.1 

Our Company’s commitment to sustainability is based 
on compliance with our Social Responsibility and 
Environmental and Occupational Health and Safety 
policies, ensuring good performance, risk control and 
suitable mitigation and remediation of environmental 
and social impacts, through re-certifications of our 
Environmental and Occupational Health and Safety 
Management System, which allows us to support our 
commitment to product excellence and consistent 
concern for protecting the environment and our 
associates, contractors, suppliers and community.  We 
operate based on the Ten Principles of the Global 
Compact since 2008; we respect the Corporate 
Sustainable Development Principles; our Code of 
Conduct aligns the conduct of our associates and our 
management team with all of our stakeholders; we 
comply with the Code of Conduct of the National 
Mining, Petroleum and Energy Society (SNMPE); and 
we strengthen our Corporate Governance through 
compliance with the Principles of Good Corporate 
Governance. 

Voluntarily
By investor demand
By public institution requirement
Others (detail)

X
 

X
X

YES NO SpecifyThese reports are made:

- SOX Good Corporate Governance Act - US 
- Sustainability Report (GRI vs. G4)

Good Corporate Governance – US Sarbanes-Oxley Act  
Principles of Good Corporate Governance for Peruvian Companies
ISO 9001 Quality
ISO 14001 Environment
OHSAS 18001 Occupational Health and Safety
Risks and Control COSO - COBIT
Guide for Developing Global Reporting Initiative (GRI) Sustainability Reports

Date of AdherenceStandard
01/01/2006
01/01/2004
12/17/2004
03/24/2004
03/24/2004
01/01/2006
08/04/2009

ANNEX
CORPORATE SUSTAINABILITY REPORT (10180)
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X
SMV Portal
Corporate Website
Social Networks
Others / Specify Pacto Mundial Portal

Does the corporation have a corporate policy 
that considers the impact of its activities on the 
environment?

- General Policies 

X
YES NO ExplanationQUESTION A.2

El Brocal is committed to safeguarding the 
environment and, in this sense, we assume the 
responsibility of acting proactively to protect the 
environment in connection with any negative impact 
our activities may create.  Likewise, we see to the 
protection of our associates, strategic partners and 
neighboring communities through our efforts to 
minimize emissions, effluents, and air, water and soil 
discharges, as well as waste and spills.  For this 
purpose, we are implementing clean technology and 
control and prevention programs to attain 
environmental compliance in our operations, in 
accordance with current legislation and environmental 
reference standards.  In order to comply with the 
commitments undertaken in the Environmental 
Management Instruments (EMI), environmental laws 
and regulations, and pursuant to our Safety, 
Occupational Health and Environment Policy, we have 
developed and implemented an Environmental 
Management System based on the ISO 14001: 2004 
Standard, which undergoes continuous improvement.

Document Body
- Board of Directors
- General Management

b. Does the corporation quantify the 
greenhouse gas emissions produced by its 
activities (carbon footprint)?

X
YES NO

c. Does the corporation quantify and document 
the total electric power used by its activities? X

YES NO

d. Does the corporation quantify and document 
 total water used (water footprint) in its 
activities?

X
YES NO
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Said reports may be accessed through:

a. If the answer to Question A.2 is Yes, indicate the corporate document where said policy is regulated and the  
corporate body approving said document.

If the answer is Yes, indicate the results obtained:

If the answer is Yes, indicate the results obtained:

El Brocal produces a total of 10,785.454 Kwh at the Jupayragra and Rio Blanco Hydroelectric Plants. It also 
purchases a total of 267,699.390 Kwh from the Huanza power generating company for its operating activities.



e. Does the corporation quantify and document 
the waste resulting from its activities? X

YES NO

b. Does the corporation keep a record of work
accidents? X

YES NO

c. Does the corporation have a training plan for
its associates? X

YES NO

Does the corporation have a policy to promote 
and guarantee its associates’ fundamental 
principles and rights at work?1 

X
YES NO Explanation:QUESTION A.3

The Company supports and respects 
internationally-recognized human rights. Likewise, it 
respects freedom of association and effective 
acknowledgment of the right to collective bargaining. At 
every level, the Company follows hiring practices based 
on equal opportunity and non-discrimination. It also 
promotes the elimination of forced labor and the 
eradication of child labor among its interest groups.

- General Policies
- Adherence to the principles of the Global Compact, as
established in our Principles of Corporate Sustainable 
Development (PDSE - Principios de Desarrollo Sostenible 
Empresarial)

Document Body
- Board of Directors
- General Management

- Human Resources and Administrative Management
- General Management

Body Evaluation Frequency
Annual

Environmental and Occupational Health and Safety
Responsible Area Reports Directly To

General Manager

1. According to the International Labor Organization (ILO) Declaration on Fundamental Principles and Rights at Work, adopted in 1998, the principles and
rights come under the following four categories: (i) freedom of association and the effective recognition of the right to collective bargaining, (ii) the 
elimination of forced or compulsory labor, (iii) the abolition of child labor and (iv) the elimination of discrimination in respect of employment and 
occupation.
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If the answer is Yes, indicate the results obtained:

El Brocal uses water from the Pun Run Lagoon for electric power, metallurgic-mining purposes and use by the 
population of the Huaraucaca and Smelter rural communities, totaling a volume of 81,947,866.48 m3/year (cubic 
meters per year); They Jupayragra and Rio Blanco Hydroelectric Power Plants do not generate energy since August 
2016 due to low lake levels. Water sourced from Angascancha Lake for use by the company and the Colquijirca 
community residents undergoes prior chemical-physical treatment at a volume of 245,756.32 m3/year (cubic meters 
per year).

If the answer is Yes, indicate the results obtained:

Waste is removed from the unit by an EPS-RS (Service Provider Company-Solid Waste) duly authorized by DIGESA 
(DISAL S.A.C.), producing a total of 207.46 NT of non-hazardous waste for final disposal in sanitary landfills and a 
total of 260.35 NT of hazardous waste for final disposal in a hazardous waste landfill. In addition, 2,17 NT of waste 
were removed for reutilization. MAD SAC, an EC-RS (Sales Company-Solid Waste) duly authorized by DIGESA, is also 
used.

a. If the answer to Question A.3 was Yes, indicate the corporate document where this policy is regulated and the
corporate body approving this document:

If the answer is Yes, indicate the area responsible for keeping that record and who this area reports to.

If the answer is Yes, indicate the corporate body that gives its approval to said plan and the frequency with which 
compliance with said plan is evaluated:       



d. Does the corporation carry out surveys or
assessments of the working environment? X

YES NO

If the answer is Yes, indicate the results obtained:

a. If the answer to Question A.4 is Yes, indicate the corporate document where said policy is regulated and the
corporate body approving said document.

If the answer is Yes, explain the impact of these social conflicts on the corporation’s activities:

The impacts have been economic and operational since production activities stopped.  

If the answer is Yes, indicate the percentage of its gross income that it invests in said programs, according to the 
corporation’s financial statements:

Does the corporation have a policy establishing 
basic guidelines for its relationship with the 
communities with which it interacts?

X
YES NO Explanation:QUESTION A.4

The Company has declared that part of its mission is to 
conduct all of its mining and metallurgical activities 
with social responsibility.
This implies a corporate commitment to adopt a policy 
of respect for all of the agents with whom it comes into 
contact, both internally and externally, and concern for 
the well-being of its employees at work, for the 
environment and for the furtherance of sustainable 
development of the communities where it operates.

General Policies
Document Body

- Board of Directors
- General Management

b. Has the corporation faced social conflicts  
(strikes, marches, others) due to its 
operations in the community where it 
conducts its main activities?

X
YES NO

c. Does the corporation work in collaboration 
with the community to jointly create value, 
including identifying and solving its main 
common problems?

X
YES NO

d. Does the corporation invest in social 
programs in the community where it 
conducts its main activities?

X
YES NO

(%) Gross Income   0.61%
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a. If the answer to Question A.5 is Yes, indicate the corporate document where said policy is regulated and the
corporate body approving said document.

If the answer is Yes, indicate the area responsible for keeping that record and who this area reports to.

a. If the answer is Yes, indicate the corporate document where said policy is regulated and the corporate body 
approving said document.

If the answer is Yes, indicate the area responsible for keeping that record and who this area reports to.

Does the corporation have a policy establishing 
basic guidelines for managing its relationships 
with suppliers?

X
YES NO Explanation:QUESTION A.5

The Company seeks to create value in all of its 
processes. Therefore, logistics within the company 
revolves around the creation of value for our internal 
clients, our suppliers and our shareholders. Value in 
logistics is basically expressed in terms of the quality, 
time, location and cost that enable achieving the 
Company’s objectives through optimum supply of 
goods and services for the conduct of operations, 
carrying out all activities with respect for the 
environment, complying with the highest safety 
standards, and establishing amicable relationships with 
internal clients, suppliers and the community.

Does the corporation have a policy that 
establishes basic guidelines for managing 
client relations?

X
YES NO Explanation:QUESTION A.6

The concentrates selling policy is the regulatory 
framework regulating business management, as well 
as the marketing procedures manual, the fair 
competition principles, compliance with laws and 
regulations, safety and environment, and all of the 
information supporting sales operations processed in 
the Mining Management Integrated System (SIGM - 
Sistema Integrado de Gestión Minera).

General Policies
Document Body

- Board of Directors
- General Management

General Logistics Superintendence
Responsible Area Reports Directly To

General Manager

b. Does the corporation keep an updated
record of its suppliers? X

YES NO

c. Does the corporation have supplier selection 
criteria that include ethical aspects and 
compliance with labor laws?

X
YES NO

d. Does the corporation have a purchasing
policy or a hiring policy that selects 
suppliers who comply with environmental or 
sustainable management standards?

X
YES NO

- General Policies
- Marketing Procedures Manual
- Code of Conduct

Document Body
- Board of Directors
- General Management

b. Does the corporation keep an updated
record of client complaints? X

YES NO
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Commercial Management
Responsible Area Reports Directly To

General Manager



If the answer is Yes, indicate the recognitions it has been awarded:

c. Does the corporation have permanent 
channels for customer service and to 
receive suggestions and complaints related 
to the products and services it provides?

X
YES NO

d. Has the corporation received any recognition
for the quality of its customer service? X

YES NO
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• Are the individuals or organizations that have made a capital stock contribution for operation of the Company. They
have rights and obligations, and take risks associated with their activities. We expect to be their best long-term 
investment option by acting with transparency in connection with the information they are provided, and by 
generating profitability and sustainable growth. There are various channels used to communicate with 
shareholders, including: general and special shareholders' meetings, quarterly and annual reports, Annual 
Report and annual Sustainability Report posted on our web page, and personal service through the Values Area.

• Are the organizations that acquire a product or service in exchange for monetary consideration. Their expectations 
focus on quality and timely delivery of concentrates. The Company is committed to maintaining long-term 
sustainable business relationships. Communication is fluid through telephone and email communications, guided 
visits to facilities and various meetings.

SHAREHOLDERS

• Are the business entities that supply goods and services to the Company. They are strategic partners with whom 
long-term, mutually beneficial relationships are fostered, in a framework of respect and application of sustainable 
development business principles.  At present, communication is maintained through direct conversations, phone 
and email communications, and guided visits to facilities.

SUPPLIERS

CLIENTS

• Are individuals who work in the interest of the Company and themselves.  El Brocal is committed to providing them
with a great place to work, offering them occupational health and safety, as well as ongoing training, in order to 
ensure qualified, committed and integrated associates with the goal of both reaching Company objectives and 
providing for their own and their family's development. El Brocal has various channels to communicate with these 
internal stakeholders: Management Committee, management systems, Code of Conduct workshops, unions, 
integration meetings, work climate survey, among others.

ASSOCIATES

• Group or grouping of people sharing language, customs, traditions, values or geographic location. The Company
determines community group membership based on the geographic location of its operations and the impact they 
cause on such community. The Company's commitment to a community is that it will be socially responsible, 
respectful of the environment, and supportive of the creation of sustainable community enterprises, and provide 
continuous support for social development programs.

COMMUNITY

 

Actions implemented during the 2016 fiscal year in 
connection with the impact of our operations on the 
environment, as well as on social development, undertaken 
with our associates, communities, suppliers and clients 
and in relation to product responsibility are detailed 
below. The information presented in this section expands 
on and supplements the descriptions in Section A.

Stakeholders are people and organizations that are 
influenced by the policies, objectives and priorities of the 
Company due to their direct or indirect involvement in 
the Company’s activities.  El Brocal carries out activities 
to strengthen relationships with its stakeholders, both 
internal and external. The stakeholders identified by the 
Company are:

DETAILED IMPLEMENTED ACTIONS

STAKEHOLDER MANAGEMENT

SHAREHOLDERS

ASSOCIATESCOMMUNITIES

CLIENTSSUPPLIERS

SECTION B:
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Stakeholder

SHAREHOLDERS

Main Expectations by Stakeholder Group

MAIN EXPECTATIONS OF STAKEHOLDERS 

• Financial performance
• Indirect financial consequences
• Market presence
• Acquisition practices
• Environmental investments
• Effluents and waste
• Emissions
• Local communities
• Social impact claims mechanism
• Transparency with respect to Company information and profitability
• Training and education
• Employment

ASSOCIATES

• Employment
• Financial performance
• Indirect financial consequences
• Effluents and waste
• Water
• Biodiversity
• Products and services labeling
• Forced or compulsory labor
• No discrimination
• Local communities
• Closure plans
• Training and education
• Improvement of labor conditions and benefits
• Health and safety in work and equipment

SUPPLIERS AND 
CONTRACTORS

• Financial performance
• Market presence
• Acquisition practices
• Effluents and waste
• Water
• Energy/Power
• Compliance with environmental regulations
• Child labor
• Forced or compulsory labor
• Supplier human rights evaluation
• Local communities
• Social impact claims mechanisms
• Employment
• Supplier labor practices evaluation / Supplier approval/accreditation

CLIENTS

• Financial performance
• Indirect financial consequences
• Effluents and waste
• Water
• Transportation impacts
• Environmental investments
• Local communities
• Anti-corruption
• Social impact claims mechanisms
• Small-scale artisanal mining
• Consistency in concentrate quality and their timely delivery
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COMMUNITY

• Financial performance
• Market presence
• Acquisition practices
• Direct and indirect local employment
• Local communities
• Transportation impacts
• Social impact claims mechanisms
• Emissions
• Energy/Power
• Water
• Effluents and waste
• Compliance with social and environmental regulations
• Investment in infrastructures (roads) and social programs

 

The priority of environmental management for El Brocal is protecting the environment.  In order to protect the 
environment, the Company has taken responsibility for acting proactively with respect to any negative impact its 
activities may create.  Likewise, it is committed to protecting its associates, strategic partners and the communities 
neighboring its operations.  Therefore, the Company makes efforts to minimize air, water and soil emissions and 
discharges, as well as reduce waste and spills.  Prevention and monitoring programs have been developed for this 
purpose, allowing is to comply with existing laws and environmental reference standards.

Likewise, in order to comply with the commitments undertaken in the Environmental Impact Study, laws and 
environmental regulations, and in accordance with our environmental and occupational health and safety policy, an 
Environmental Management System has been implemented based on the ISO 14001: 2004 Standard.

Special attention has been paid to following up on obligations and environmental and legal commitments, as well as 
permits and licenses.  Consequently, we have been able to optimize water and electric power consumption by involving 
all of our associates and strategic partners in these objectives.  El Brocal’s management system pays particular 
attention to compliance with regulations applicable to mining activities in areas including waste, hazardous materials, 
domestic waste, transportation, discharges and emissions, and monitoring.

El Brocal has quality monitoring programs for effluents, surface water, underground water, air, soil, and biodiversity 
and biology in the direct areas of environmental influence of our operations.

A. WATER MONITORING
We have a monitoring station matrix with the purpose of continuously assessing discharge or effluent quality, 
quantifying sediment and metal contents in the output flow.  This makes it possible to evaluate the efficiency of 
treatment and ensure suitable quality in the receiving body, in strict compliance with environmental regulations 
(maximum allowable limits).  As a result, we ensure 100% compliance with water quality standards, in accordance with 
government-required controls, at each discharge point.

Water quality monitoring is carried out with varying frequency, ranging from testing every second day (pH, conductivity 
and dissolved oxygen measurements), to monthly testing (microbiological and total metals).

B. AIR MONITORING
A monitoring station matrix is in place with upwind and downwind stations to verify proper control management of dust 
from operations in order to meet Environmental Quality Standards (EQS).  For this purpose, quarterly measurements 
are taken in the areas adjacent to the concentrating plant, and the results are assessed by comparison to regulatory 
standards in the chemical lab and subsequently reported to the Ministry of Energy and Mines.

El Brocal is subject to compliance with legal regulations, such as Ministerial Resolution R.M. Nº315-96-EM/VMM 
(approving maximum allowable limits for metallurgic-mining units) and Supreme Decree D. S. Nº047-2001-MTC 
(maximum allowable limits for vehicle contaminant emissions). In addition, the company abides by the commitments

ENVIRONMENTAL MONITORING PROGRAM   

ENVIRONMENTAL MATTERS
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undertaken in its Occupational Health and Safety and Environmental Policy.

C. MONITORING ENVIRONMENTAL NOISE
A monitoring station matrix is in place with the purpose of verifying proper levels of noise exposure for the neighboring 
population and wildlife.  Biannual measurements are taken and the results are assessed by comparison to regulatory 
standards.

D. BIOLOGICAL MONITORING 
Biological monitoring is performed with the purpose of determining the conservation status of aquatic plant and 
animal life and land plant and animal wildlife in our area of operations, both in the dry and the wet season.

The wildlife monitoring strategy is based on assessing both wildlife groups in the various plant-life units existing in our 
direct environmental area of influence.  Various methodologies are used and applied to each of the taxonomic groups 
under assessment.  Monitoring is not carried out in fixed areas, but is based, on the one hand, on sampling for 
detection of plant and animal wildlife and, on the other hand, by testing these samples by means of ecological indices.

Management of the main environmental impacts is detailed below:

Emissions from chemical lab sample preparation, mobile or stationary motor units, metallurgic processes, pit mining, 
and transportation are controlled using the following methods:

• Compliance with maintenance programs for motor units

• Use of environmentally-friendly fuels to reduce emissions of contaminant gases that may cause issues in  
neighboring areas

• Implementation of gas emission treatment system at the chemical lab (counterflow neutralization with alkaline 
solutions)

• For particulate matter management due to unit transportation, water tanks were used to comply with the road 
dampening program

• Particles smaller than 10 microns (PM10) in the plant crushing section are managed with water sprinklers. At the
open pit, they are managed by controlled blasting.

Since the results are within maximum allowable limits (MAL), no actions were taken to reduce emissions. Likewise, no 
new actions or integration of new technologies to reduce this environmental impact was started. We expect to fulfill 
this commitment in the medium term.

GREENHOUSE EFFECT GASES

1. Maximum Allowable Levels.

Monitoring Stations
MAL1

R.M. Nº 315-
96 -EM/VMM

EQS
D.S. Nº074 
–2001 PCM

EQS
D.S. Nº069-
2003-PCM

EQS
D.S. Nº003-
2008 MINAM

Unit

EMISSIONS IN 2016

I
Quarter

II III IV

-

-

6
-
-
-
-
-

150

-

-
1,5
-

200
-

10,000

-

-

-
0,5
-
-
-
-

-

25

-
-
-
-

20
-

µg/m³

µg/m³

µg/m³
µg/m³
µg/m³
µg/m³
µg/m³
µg/m³

23.51

19.21

<0.01
0.010

7
<13
1585
0.038

8.32

2.68

<0.01
0.005
0.027
24.68

<13
1491

62.30

19.8

0.006
0.036

0.0815
5.364

<13.72
2,336

26.20

25.4

<0.002
0.026

0.0759
69.88

<13.72
<623

Particles under 10
microns (PM10)

Particles under 2.5
microns (PM2.5)

Arsenic (As)
Lead (Pb)
Zinc (Zn)
Nitrogen Dioxide (NO2)
Sulfur Dioxide (SO2)
Carbon Monoxide (CO)



166

The main goal of the environmental management system implemented in El Brocal’s operations is to preserve and 
use ore resources in a manner that is compatible with their natural environment and in compliance with current 
metallurgic-mining environmental laws.

POWER USAGE 
The Power Generation and Transmission Superintendence manages electric power through efficient electric power 
supply planning; reliable, consistent and quality service; and developing procedures pursuant to its policies.  In 
addition, its main responsibilities are:

• Properly conduct operation and maintenance of power and distribution sub-stations, as well as transmission and 
distribution lines;

• Manage maintenance programs for the internal electric power system and the national interconnected system, in 
coordination with COES-Sinac and Osinergmin, to ensure compliance;

• Properly conduct operation and maintenance of the Rio Blanco and Jupayragra hydroelectric power plants 
interconnected to the national electric power system, to ensure their objectives are met;

• Manage electric power generation and purchase to ensure its efficient use;

• Control efficient power use in the concentrating plant and mine processes, ensuring its availability and proper usage; 

• Manage real-time information about the entire high- and medium-voltage electric power generation and
transmission system for timely decision-making and consistent and reliable power supply, pursuant to the national 
electricity code and the Mining Occupational Health and Safety Regulations.

Electric power sources used are shown below:

WATER USAGE 
El Brocal conducts efficient use of natural resources, as set out in its Social Responsibility Policy and its Occupational 
Health and Safety and Environmental Policy. These documents provide for continuous improvement in the company’s 
performance, aligning its operations with the Corporate Sustainable Development Principles.

Natural Water Intake Sources:
The Angascancha and Pun Run Lagoons are considered water sources that could cause significant impact.  The 
importance of both lagoons as water intake resources is due to their excellent water quality.  During the year, these 
waters are continuously used.

El Brocal is aware that water from these lagoons is property of Peru and, therefore, has obtained the following 
resolutions issued by the National Water Authority (ANA - Autoridad Nacional del Agua):

1. Administrative Resolution # 143-2011-ANA-ALA PASCO, granting the company a water usage license for energy
purposes;

USE OF RESOURCES

Usage of secondary 
power sources

Usage of primary power 
sources

Power purchased power from the 
Empresa de Generación Eléctrica 

Huanza
Power produced by the 

Jupayragra Hydro Power Plant
Power produced by Río Blanco 

Hydro Power Plant

267,699,390.08

6,235,944.00

4,549,510.00

278,484,844.08

963,717,804.28

22,449,398.40

16,378,236.00

1,002,545,438.68

96.13%

2.24%

1.63%

100%

ELECTRIC POWER SOURCES AND USAGE

Usage 
Percentage

Power Usage
In Kilowatts-
Hour (Kwh)

Electric Power Source

Total

In Megajoules 
(MJ)
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2. Administrative Resolution # 001-2011-ANA-ALA PASCO, granting the company a water usage license for population
use purposes, and

3. Administrative Resolution # 002-2011-ANA-ALA PASCO, granting the company a water usage license for
metallurgic-mining purposes.

The following table details water intake and compliance with the respective usage licenses:

Assessing water usage is part of water management.  Therefore, the results of water usage, both in mining and for 
population and energy purposes, as applicable, are sent monthly to ALA PASCO.  In addition, ALA-PASCO and OEFA 
authorities carry out unscheduled inspections to assess water usage.

Flow rate multiplied by time was the measurement used to determine the volume of water intake from Angascancha 
Lagoon. For the Pun Run Lagoon, a flow meter installed in the Jupayragra Hydroelectric Power Plant was used.  A 
description of water intake and uses for each lagoon is provided below.

Angascancha Lagoon
Water intake from Angascancha Lagoon is used mainly for human consumption in the town of Colquijirca and the 
mining camp.  Water usage has diminished because the lagoon is undergoing an eutrophication process making it 
unfit for human consumption.  For this reason, it was deemed necessary to transfer sourcing of water for human 
consumption to Cinco Manantiales - Huaraucaca.

Pun Run Lagoon
Water from Pun Run Lagoon was used for energy generation at the Rio Blanco Hydroelectric Power Plant, also 
supplying water to the Jupayragra Hydroelectric Power Plant.  This water supply was also used for ore processing, 
human consumption at the Huaraucaca community and the operational headquarters offices and, in part, by the Vicco 
rural community for plant irrigation and drinking water for animals.

Water recycled from ore processing, indirectly sourced from Pun Run Lagoon, is used as follows:

• In the process for separating valueless (tailings) from valuable (concentrate) portions of ore
 
• As a means of transportation (to carry the valueless portion to the tailings dam)

Angascancha Lagoon
Turbinated Water, Jupayragra Hydro

Power Plant
Pun Run Lagoon
Turbinated Water, Río Blanco Hydro

Power Plant 

245,756.32
558,276.52

3’408,916.15
59’731,154.90
58’888,650.40

Water for population use purposes

Surface water for mining purposes

Surface water for energy purposes

394,200
946,200

30’590,000
227’059,200
227’059,200

Water Intake Source (in cubic meters
per year -  m3/year)

Usage License (in cubic meters
per year - m3/year)

Water for human consumption at the town of Colquijirca
Water for human consumption at the El Brocal mining camp
Total Water Intake 

100%
0%

100%

Description Percentage

WATER USAGE FROM ANGASCANCHA LAGOON

245,756
0

245,756

In cubic meters per 
year (m3/year)
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Domestic use (population of Huaraucaca and offices) accounted for 0.93% of this usage, while 5.71% was used in the 
actual production process (for example, ore processing, dust control).  Improvement of the San Juan River water 
quality and irrigation and drinking water for animals at the Vicco rural community accounted for 83.48% of usage; this 
includes evaporation.  It is important to note that, during 2016, 77.54% of water used in the ore concentration process 
came from tailings dam recycled water.

Of the total water taken and used for ore processing (15,177,068.48 m3/year) in Huaraucaca, 77.54% is reclaimed and 
recycled (11,768,152.48 m3/year), using physical (sedimentation ponds) and chemical (continuous dosing with 
hydrogen peroxide) treatment for water quality improvement.  Ultimately, this benefits the ore flotation process.

Impacts from these discharges are managed by means of a monitoring station matrix with the purpose of continuously 
assessing natural water quality after discharge.  This allows for assessing treatment efficiency, as well as the impact 
on receiving bodies (upstream and downstream of discharge).

Monitoring frequency can be every other day, weekly, monthly or quarterly at discharge point E-9, while the DC-4, 
E-12, E - OF/LS discharge stations are measured using portable flow meters to ensure quality compliance with MAL 
and current regulations. In accordance with approved Environmental Impact Studies, local community members in 
the direct area of influence are receiving training on various sampling and reading methodologies, as well as the 
monitoring program’s frequency schedule. Lastly, representatives of the communities (where operations/explorations 
are located) are also invited to participate in environmental monitoring, where they can learn about the monitoring 
methodology regularly used by El Brocal.  Seeking the greatest possible transparency, the communities are given the 
opportunity to raise their concerns and understand what our stringent follow-up and “environmental quality 
monitoring” consists of.

EFFLUENT MANAGEMENT 

Water used for the Jupayragra Hydro Power Plant
 
San Juan River water quality improver (oxygenation and fresh biota)
Irrigation water and drinking water for animals at the Vicco community
Ore concentration processes at the concentrating plant. Use of discharge from

the Jupayragra Hydro Power Plant.
Water for human consumption at the Huaraucaca community. Use of discharge

from the Jupayragra Hydro Power Plant.
Water loss from the channel to the concentrating plant
Total Water Intake 

100.00%
 

83.48%
9.84%
5.71%

0.93%

0.03%
100%

Description of Water Usage from Pun Run Lagoon Percentage

WATER USAGE FROM PUN RUN LAGOON

59’731,154
 

49,866,044
5,878,740
3,408,916

558,276

19,178
59,731,154

In cubic meters per 
year (m3/year)
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The table below describes the water sources considered for mining effluent discharges:

RUNOFF WATER MANAGEMENT 
El Brocal has runoff channels at various points of the operation, including the Huachuacaja tailings dam, the 
Huaraucaca tailings dam, the concentrating plant, and the waste rock deposit, among others.  These channels serve 
to direct rainwater towards ponds, ultimately for pumping to the San Juan River.  To use less fresh water and discharge 
a lower volume of water, 77.54% of the Huachuacaja tailings dam water is recirculated.

El Brocal assumes its responsibilities under the law and, in accordance with its environmental policy, it manages 
wastes without impacting the environment or public health. For this purpose, environmental contamination control 
actions (mainly at the sources) are performed, as well as actions to minimize waste production. Its comprehensive and 
sustainable waste management combines collection methods, sorting systems, recovery, and reuse, having 
implemented various awareness and appropriate waste sorting campaigns. At present, recycling and waste sorting 
practices, from the source or where they are produced, are gaining strength and visibility.

The 2016 Solid Waste Management Plan has focused its efforts on responsible sorting, separation, reuse, recycling and 
improvement of final disposal of waste created by the company’s activities. When reuse and/or recycling is not 
possible, our procedures ensure final disposal meets current legal regulations. El Brocal continues to transport and 
dispose of hazardous solid waste in the authorized Petromas sanitary and hazardous waste landfills (located in Lima), 

WASTE MANAGEMENT

2. The community is responsible for the quality of water supplied to its members. For this purpose, they have a treatment system managed by the
Huaraucaca rural community.

3. The source of the Andacancha River is the Huachuacaja Ravine, contaminated by an environmental liability. Therefore, the water is not fit for consumption.
El Brocal is not responsible for treatment of this environmental liability.

• Drinking water for
animals

• Human use by the 
rural community of 
Huaraucaca2.

•Huaraucaca offices
Drinking water for 

animals

Drinking water for 
animals

Water from the river 
source, with acid liability3

E-9

DC-4

E-12

E-OF/LS

Turbinated water discharge from the Jupayragra 
Hydro Power Plant. Meets environmental quality 
standards for drinking water.

Domestic wastewater discharge (from the town of 
Colquijirca and the staff camp) treated in 4 
stabilization ponds.
Domestic wastewater discharge from the 
Huaraucaca offices treated at the treatment plant. 
Reduction of BOD (biochemical oxygen demand), 
TSS (total suspended solids) and other parameters 
present in wastewater is effectively ensured.
Discharge from the mine water treatment plant. 
Mine water treatment began in September 2016.

Discharge 
Points

59’731,154

1’213,098

12,337

4’896,489

San Juan River

Unish Ravine 
Ocshapampa 

Creek

San Juan River

Andacancha 
River

Discharge 
Flow Rate
(m3/year)

Water Sources 
(receiving 

body)
Water Quality Description Use

WATER SOURCES AFFECTED BY EFFLUENT DISCHARGE 

E-9 (San Juan River)
DC-4 (Unish Ravine – Ocshapampa Creek)
E-12 (San Juan River)
E-OF/LS (Andacancha River)
Total Effluent Discharge

59’731,154
1’213,098

12,337
4’896,489

65’853,078

Discharge Point

TOTAL DISCHARGE VOLUME

Source: D.S. Nº010-2010-MINAM / D.S. Nº003-2010-MINAM and own sources.

Effluent Volume (in cubic meters
per year- m3/year)
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using transport units also authorized by the Ministry of Transportation and Communications.  Non-hazardous waste 
that, due to its characteristics, cannot be reused or recycled, is also transported to the Petromas sanitary landfill for 
treatment and final disposal. It should be noted that this sanitary landfill has current authorizations from Digesa 
(Dirección General de Salud Ambiental), the General Environmental Health Administration of Peru.

After prior evaluation and identification, El Brocal wastes are classified as follows:

It is important to note that 11 accidental hydrocarbon and hydrocarbon byproduct spills occurred in 2016, creating a 
negative impact by contaminating soil and loss of hydrocarbons.

Corrective measures taken were cleanup of the hydrocarbon spills, removal of impacted soil – which was disposed of 
in the volatilization pad -, operational controls, and personnel training.

Hazardous waste
Reusable non-hazardous waste
Non-hazardous waste
TOTAL

Type of Waste
330,502
2,908.7

458,022
790,983

Weight (in Kilograms -kg)

WEIGHT OF WASTE BY TYPE

Waste oil
Oily water
TOTAL

Type of Waste
117.29
40.80

158.09

Unit (in Tons-t)

WEIGHT OF HAZARDOUS LIQUID WASTE

Empty cyanide cans
Various hazardous waste
Empty cement bags
Fuel, air and oil filters
Hazardous waste contaminated with hydrocarbons
Containers contaminated with chemicals
Contaminated filter press cloths
Lab samples
Rags and cloths contaminated with hydrocarbons
Bags contaminated with chemicals
Used fluorescent lights 
Contaminated PPE
Empty polypropylene lime bags and sacks
Contaminated rubber hoses and tires
Oily waste
Medical waste
Biocontaminated waste
Electronic waste
TOTAL

Type of Hazardous Waste

99,668
89,940

--
24,900
29,128
366.22

--
395

--
29,280

382
5,920

35,467
14,314

--
--

351.50
390

330,502

2016
Weight (in 

Kilograms-Kg)
70,002
37,014

--
3,740
4,360

--
3,000
4,636

--
35,703

75
1,100

17,191
5,790

--
--

1,129
1,310

185,050

2015
Weight (in 

Kilograms-Kg)
21,805
27,370

740
8,170

87,479
400

--
--

20,340
8,785

--
1,230

10,238
61,330

--
30

233
180

248,330

2014
Weight (in 

Kilograms-Kg)



171

El Brocal has not generated significant negative impacts as a result of the above-mentioned spills, because they 
occurred in areas where there was no contact with natural soil.  However, the spills did cause loss of materials 
(hydrocarbons), creation of hazardous waste (contaminated soil, impregnated material), and process losses. 

HYDROCARBON SPILLS IN 2016

Fuel spill from the supply line to the fuel tank of dump truck # 26 
during repair work, representing 3 m2 of contaminated soil. Area 
of responsibility: JRC contractor; Underground mine
Hydraulic oil spill due to breakage of one of the hydraulic system 
hoses from the main winch of the 50-ton RT 750 crane resulting 
from wear, representing 15 m2 of contaminated soil. Area of 
responsibility: Transporte Tres SRL contractor; Projects
Fuel spill from the fuel tank of semi-trailer with license plate 
C5V-869 (Tracto), when hitting a concrete wall. Represented 2 m2 
of contaminated soil. Area of responsibility: Valentín & Valentino 
SAC contractor; Commercial
Fuel spill from power welder when the van with license plate 
C3R-780 transporting it overturned, representing an area of 2.25 
m2 of contaminated soil. Area of responsibility:
Metallics & Service SAC contractor; Water and tailings.
Waste oil spill due to fall of container from the middle section of the 
lubrication truck with license plate B0H-746, representing 2.5 m2 
of contaminated soil. Area of responsibility: MUR-WY contractor.
Hydraulic oil spill from the Jumbo lifting beam cylinder head due 
to hydraulic pressure during transportation in low bed truck, 
representing an area of 3 m2 of contaminated soil. Area of 
responsibility: JRC contractor.
Fuel spill from tank truck with license plate D4V-895 when part of 
the packing joining the hose to the truck PTO blew, representing 
an area of 6.6 m2 of contaminated soil. Area of responsibility: 
MUR-WY contractor.
Fuel spill from tank truck with license plate AHG-921, due to 
disconnection of 1 ½” diameter hose connecting the truck and the 
PTO, representing an area of 117.5 m2 of contaminated soil. Area 
of responsibility: JRC contractor.
Hydrolene spill due to breakage of hydraulic hose in the SMEB 
front-loader with license plate L-220 D during ore supply at 
Stacker Plant # 2. An area of 10 m2 de contaminated soil. Area of 
responsibility: Metallurgical Processes.
Hydraulic oil spill due to breakage of quick-coupling pipe in the 390 
excavator during ore loading operations, when a small stool came 
between the bucket and the stick, representing an area of 1 m2 of 
contaminated soil. Area of responsibility: Ecosem Smelter 
contractor.
Fuel spill from low bed truck with license plate D2R-846/B3T-982 
transporting a concentrate container when it crashed into a steel 
rail on the outer shoulder when maneuvering, tearing about 10 cm 
from the truck’s reserve fuel tank. Represented 20 m2 of 
contaminated soil.  Area of responsibility Valentín & Valentino SAC 
contractor; Commercial

Description Volume (in 
gallons-gal)

Material 
Spilled

LocationNumber Date

JRC MKPS workshop
Underground mine

Stacker Plant # 2 Area
Metallurgic processes

Concentrate loading point

Water pumps - Pilanco 
metallurgic process

Roundabout entry to 
Candy Ramp

Open pit mine operation
Smelter - Huaraucaca 

Highway – Underground 
mine control booth

Aldo Condorcayan Landfill
Open pit mine operation

Ore extraction road 10 
meters from fuel station

Underground mine

Stacker Plant # 2
Metallurgic Process

Toromocho Stock 1 P7
Open pit mine operation

Entry to the concentrate 
dispatch yard - 
Huaraucaca.

Diesel D2 
fuel

Hydraulic oil

Diesel D2 
fuel

Diesel D2 
fuel

Waste oil

Hydraulic oil

Diesel D2 
fuel

Diesel D2 
fuel

Hydraulic oil

Hydraulic oil

Diesel D2 
fuel

3.96

6

5

1.5

1.3

2

2.1

8

5

0.1

12

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

February 
10

February 
10

February 
10

June 5

June 11

August 7

August 13

August 20

August 27

September 
7

December 
23
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Compañía de Minas Buenaventura S.A.A. owns directly or indirectly 99.999996% of the capital stock of Inversiones 
Colquijirca S.A., which in turn owns 58.25% of representative shares of El Brocal’s capital stock.  Compañía de Minas 
Buenaventura S.A.A. held a direct and indirect equity interest of 61.33% in El Brocal as of December 31, 2016. 

El Brocal has two securities registered with the Lima Stock Exchange Public Registry: common stock (BROCALC1) 
and investment stock (BROCALI1).

At the close of the fiscal year, the total number of common stock shareholders of the Company was 2,988, of which 88 
are non-residents, representing 8.2% of the Company’s common stock.

The company’s Dividend Policy establishes a payment of no less than 20% of the distributable profit obtained by the 
company in the preceding year.  A financial leaseback agreement with a local financial institution remains in effect, 
which establishes certain restrictions unless all of the following requirements are met:

• Outstanding payment balance below US$120,000,000

• Compliance with the agreed financial ratios

• A debt ratio below 2.0x

Consequently, the Company did not pay dividends in 2016.

The Securities Department (Departamento de Valores) at the Lima administrative offices and at the Colquijirca mining 
unit will address any inquiry made by a shareholder with respect to shareholding and/or profits pending regularization. 
The http://www.elbrocal.pe web site, Inversionistas (Investors) section, provides information of interest to 
shareholders: help desk locations, telephone, email, communications on profit distribution, significant events, 
financial statements, stock exchange reports, share prices and news.

The internal regulatory framework regulating El Brocal’s business 
management consists of the Concentrates Selling Policy, as 
approved by the Company’s Board of Directors; the Marketing 
Procedures Manual; the fair competition principles contained in the 
Code of Conduct; compliance with safety and environmental laws 
and regulations; and all of the information supporting sales 
operations processed in the Mining Management Integrated System 
(SIGM - Sistema Integrado de Gestión Minera).

Ore concentrates marketed by El Brocal are: 

SHAREHOLDERS

CLIENTS

Inversiones Colquijirca S.A.
Elías Petrus Fernandini Bohlin

Full Name / Company Name
58.25%
6.48%

% Equity Interest

SHAREHOLDERS WITH AN EQUITY INTEREST ABOVE 5%

Peruvian
Peruvian

Nationality

SALES BY TYPE
OF CONCENTRATE

(DMT)

CU
57%

ZN
35%

PB
8%



173

For 2016, the strategy maintained has been to explore new markets for copper concentrates in order to obtain better 
margins.

The zinc and lead treatment plant expansion has led to higher concentrate volumes as compared to the previous year, 
which, jointly with the increased copper production, has decreased production costs and at the same time contributed 
to minimizing the impact of lower prices.

The increase in copper production is noteworthy, having reached its maximum production level to date.

Clients are trading companies with international operations.  In 2016, concentrates were marketed in Peru and in 
continents including Europe and Asia.

Concentrate sales are detailed below:

El Brocal maintains good communication with its clients by phone, email and visits to its facilities (plants, refineries 
and foundries).  The Company seeks client satisfaction by providing them with products that meet quality conditions 
and agreed delivery schedules.  Likewise, the Company seeks to establish long-term relationships with buyers.

The Commercialization Area coordinates with the production areas to maintain both the high quality of concentrates 
and the flow of transportation from the mine to the port of Callao for timely delivery.

The Company’s Internal Work Regulations (Reglamento Interno de Trabajo [RIT]) and Code of Conduct establish that 
every associate subject to these standards should refrain from providing or releasing confidential information.

By the end of 2016, El Brocal had not received any complaints due to privacy violations or client data leaks, whether 
directly or from organizations or regulatory agencies.

As to confidentiality, contracts and agreements include a clause whereby clients agree to maintain the confidentiality 
of all information related to signed agreements.  With respect to the Company, annual balance sheets are posted in its 
web site for public access.

MARKET PRESENCE 

PRODUCT SATISFACTION

CONFIDENTIALITY AND INFORMATION TRANSPARENCY

Exports
Local
TOTAL

70,027
152,290
222,317

Thousands 
of Dollars

57,667
139,713
197,380

DMT
2014

49,407
130,325
179,733

Thousands 
of Dollars

78,226
182,727
260,953

DMT
2015

102,557
130,835
233,391

Thousands 
of Dollars

145,693
188,936
334,629

DMT
2016

DESTINATION OF ANNUAL SALES

Copper
Zinc
Lead

66%
21%

-25%

Thousands 
of Dollars

58%
12%

-23%

DMT
Variation Percent

76,785
61,745
41,203

Thousands 
of Dollars

119,703
105,062
36,188

DMT
2015

127,679
74,612
31,101

Thousands 
of Dollars

189,355
117,500
27,774

DMTConcentrate
2016

CONCENTRATE ANNUAL SALES

Year-end adjustments to sales in the same period are considered.
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Appropriate talent management is El Brocal’s most important pillar to ensure and safeguard utmost productivity in its 
production processes.  In this regard, the Company focuses on its people, the key to attaining good performance and 
sustainability in its operations.

The most important pillars in the El Brocal’s corporate culture are safe, efficient and quality work, together with 
continuous improvement in all of its activities. That is why we acknowledge and value the development of ideas, 
risk-taking and decision-making by our employees to the benefit of the Company.

To facilitate this, the Company’s senior management maintains an open door policy and encourages direct 
communication to give every associate the opportunity of approaching Company executives to discuss their concerns 
and improvement proposals.  The benefit of talent management, as pursued, is that it increases the Company’s most 
valuable intangible asset: its corporate reputation. 
 
During the 2016 fiscal year, El Brocal set the goal of treating sustainably a production of 18,000 DMT.  Human 
Resources and Administration, aligned with this goal, focused on developing plans taking into account the following 
base points:

• Reinforce the competency-based management model that permits definition of the employee profile required by 
El Brocal, stressing good performance aligned with business strategy.

• Implement Human Resource management focused on growth and performance improvement for all employees.

• Align the work force towards a common goal in keeping with the Company’s vision.

 
In terms of human and social development, the Company seeks to maintain a favorable work environment through 
various human resource policies, programs and social wellness campaigns, including sports, workshops and health 
campaigns to support the families of associates.

Likewise, at El Brocal we continue working to improve our camp, food and recreational services, seeking to provide a 
balance between work and personal life, and ensuring optimum conditions for good rest, balanced diet, personalized 
physical training and relaxation areas.  We also promote active break and coffee break programs, and sports events 
and championships to help in creating integration as part of a great work team. 

 
The Company has a Recruitment, Screening and Hiring Procedures Policy.  It seeks associates with experience and 
representativeness in the mining industry to provide timely and practical solutions to operational and support 
processes, thereby contributing to meeting our strategic objectives.

El Brocal has a non-discrimination policy, supported by its Corporate Sustainable Development Principles, Internal 
Work Regulations and Code of Conduct. The Company does not discriminate against any associate for reasons of 
beliefs, sex, skin color or other specific reason. The Company is an equal treatment employer and guarantees equal 
employment and development opportunities for all.  During the 2016 period, no complaints or reports of discrimination 
were submitted by associates or by other stakeholders.

ASSOCIATES

WORK CLIMATE IMPROVEMENT 

RECRUITMENT AND SCREENING



175

As of the date of this report, El Brocal had 795 employees.  There was a 16% increase in total number of employees as 
compared to the 2015 period.

Respect for Human Rights is a voluntary commitment undertaken by the Company in adherence to the Principles of 
the Global Compact.  The Company also backs this commitment with its Internal Work Regulations and the Code of 
Conduct.  No risk situations, forced labor or child labor have been identified among associates at El Brocal.  All work 
performed in off-hours is coordinated beforehand and is compensated by payment of overtime or by days off.

Within El Brocal’s facilities there are no risks of child labor, since the Company ensures that all associates are 18 years 
old or more through the reports to SUNAT, which include the date of birth of associates. In the sustainability reports 
issued by the Company, the number of associates classified by age are stated. This regulation extends to contractors, 
who are forbidden to hire minors.  El Brocal communicates this condition to contractors in an annex attached to their 
contracts. The Contractors and Suppliers section includes more information on this matter.

ASSOCIATE DEMOGRAPHICS 

HUMAN RIGHTS  

• Activities are undertaken to help in eradicating unconsented forced labor.

• Priority is given to purchasing from companies compliant with supplier evaluation criteria (accreditation,
certifications, financial backing, reputation, etc.) and which have a history of respect for the Global Compact 
Principles.

• Compulsory safety inductions are carried out with all workers of companies providing services to El Brocal,
including documentation review for any violation of regulations. Any supplier found in violation will be disqualified.

• Lastly, under our adherence to the Global Compact, we promote eradication of forced and/or unconsented labor by
periodically sending the Principles of the Global Compact to suppliers together with their purchase orders.

Measures to Contribute to Effectively Eliminate Forced Labor

4. All of our associates are full-time employees.

Fixed Term

Indefinite Term

Subtotal

TOTAL

Type of Employment4

19
73
21

367
40

440
480

2014
23

235
29

396
52

631
683

2015
25

315
32

423
57

738
795

2016
Women

Men
Women

Men
Women

Men

Sex

Executives
Staff
Employees
Workers
Teachers
Temp workers
TOTAL

Professional Category
72

338
29

229
9

118
795

Total
5

39
2
-
9
2

57

Women
67

299
27

229
-

116
738

Men
1

36
-
2
-
-

39

Lima
17
2
-
7
-
-

26

Huancavelica
54

300
29

220
9

118
730

Pasco

DIRECT ASSOCIATES CLASSIFIED BY TYPE OF EMPLOYMENT, SEX AND PROFESSIONAL CATEGORY
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El Brocal has a training policy based on developing the professional competencies of its associates so that they may 
properly fulfill their functions and enable achievement of corporate objectives and goals. In this effort, every year the 
Company coordinates the development of an annual training matrix with leaders and supervisors, managed by the 
Human Resources area, in the form of a Training Plan. This plan considers the requirements of the various areas, the 
needs arising from projects, and any individual requirements.

During 2016, training focused mainly on:

• Training for Quality Circle leaders

• Crane operator training and certification

• Knowing Our Performance

• Training on use of the Jksimmet software

• Third International Mining Management Congress

• Geotechnical modeling with mining applications

• Feedback Workshop

• Maintenance, troubleshooting and commissioning of PowerFlex 7000 drive family

• Programming and configuration training for REF54X, REM54X, REF61X relays

In addition, the El Brocal Training and Development Center was created in 2016. This a space for training with the main 
purpose of accelerating the learning and development process of our associates in order to achieve the Company’s 
strategic objectives efficiently and safely, thereby creating development opportunities for all of our associates.

El Brocal respects freedom of association and collective bargaining.  Associates are completely free to associate and 
become members of any entity or labor union they wish. Individual freedoms are not curtailed, since it is 
acknowledged that labor unions are formed in order to represent and defend the interests of their members.

El Brocal, in alignment with the Principles of the Global Compact, respects the right to affiliate and acknowledges the 
right to collective bargaining. This practice is supported by the Company in its Internal Work Regulations, its 
Sustainability Report and its Code of Conduct.

As to collective bargaining, representatives of the three labor unions existing in the Company meet on a monthly basis, 
and the Company gives the applicable permissions for this meeting to take place.  Labor representatives meet with the 
Company annually to request any wage increases.  Once approved, such wage increases are effective for one year.  
Likewise, this bargaining agreement also includes any commitments that any of the parties should fulfill during the 
period established therein.

Two hundred and fifty-four (254) associates are members of the three labor unions, representing 37.19% of the total 
number of associates.  However, 256 associates were beneficiaries of the collective bargaining agreement effective in 
2015, a number representing 37.48% of total associates.

TRAINING AND DEVELOPMENT  

RELATIONSHIP WITH UNIONS

Name of Union Number of Members

ASSOCIATES MEMBERS OF LABOR UNIONS

Sindicato de Empleados (Employee Union)
Sindicato de Obreros de Colquijirca (Colquijirca Workers Union)
Sindicato de Obreros de Huaraucaca (Huaraucaca Workers Union)
TOTAL

27
48
173
248
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Preventing work risks is the basis of Occupational Health and Safety management.  El Brocal trains all of its associates 
on compliance with the Company’s Occupational Health and Safety Policy, and has work procedures for identifying 
hazards, as well as evaluating and monitoring any risks in daily activities.

Likewise, the Company has a safety inspection/group meeting program and a safety training program, aligned with the 
legal requirements in Supreme Decree D.S. 024-2016-EM, Regulations for Occupational Health and Safety in Mining.  
This training program includes not only management and risk control courses, but also specifies control and 
preventive measures to prevent occupational injuries and illnesses.

Underground operations have shelters to protect personnel in the event of an accident and to provide them with air, 
drinking water and a communication system suitable to facilitate their rescue.  On the surface, evacuation areas have 
been designated in the event of earthquakes and there is also a trained Rescue Brigade to respond to various 
emergencies.

The SIGMASS system provides the framework for managing risks inherent to mining and related activities in the 
mining unit.  For the past 12 years, El Brocal has maintained its Occupation Health and Safety certification under the 
OHSAS 18001 standard, where the system is subject to internal and external audits.  There are two types of external 
audits: follow-up, which is annual; and re-certification every 3 years with external auditors from the Bureau Veritas 
firm.  Internal audits are carried out once a year in the operations and administrative areas.  In 2016, and external 
follow-up audit ratified our certification under the OHSAS 18001 and ISO 14001 standards.

It is important to note that health care is available to associates through a 24-hour service Medical Unit to assist in any 
emergency that may occur in the Mining Unit.

OCCUPATIONAL HEALTH AND SAFETY PERFORMANCE RESULTS
During the 2016 period, there was one regrettable fatal accident leading to the death of a worker employed by a 
contractor in the Colquijirca Mining Unit.

Work accident, frequency and severity rates are recorded as established in Supreme Decree D.S. 024-2016 EM, 
Occupational Health and Safety in Mining.

OCCUPATIONAL HEALTH AND SAFETY MANAGEMENT

• Occupational Health and Safety must be managed in the same manner as production, quality and costs.

• Occupational Health and Safety is a part of production activities.

• Safety standards must be complied with across the mining unit.

• Leadership by operations and administrative supervisory levels is key to the success of the Occupational Health
and Safety Program.

• Implementation of best practices in the mining industry is part of the continuous improvement process.

Occupational Health and Safety Management Measures

Fatal Accidents
Disabling Accidents
Minor Accidents
Incidents
Lost Days
Man-Hours Worked (thousands)
Frequency Rate
Severity Rate
Accident Rate

1
15
53
72

6,305
6,778
2.21

930.14
2.06

2016
#
#
#
#

Days
MHW/month

#
#
#

U/MItem
0

13
32

129
955

465.19
2.33

171.08
0.40

2015
0

18
33
65

1,011
581.27

2.58
144.94

0.37

2014

ACCIDENT INDICATORS IN EL BROCAL’S OPERATIONS
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For El Brocal, suppliers and contractors are strategic actors in its supply chain, providing the goods and services that 
allow the Company to cover their operational requirements effectively and with the required timeliness, quality and 
quantity. This is why it seeks to build mutually beneficial and long-term relationships with its main suppliers and 
contractors, in order to make continuity in its operations possible and to promote process innovation and integration.

The Company entreats its suppliers and contractors to comply with the laws, regulations and standards applicable to 
the mining industry.  Accordingly, it promotes the use of good practices, as well environmental care and protection.

In order to have suitable suppliers that contribute to achieving the Company’s objectives, the Logistics area prioritizes 
contracting duly accredited suppliers in order to minimize any contingencies in its operations.

Good practices in procurement of goods and services aim to establish norms for the activities, actions and 
responsibilities regulating the Company’s procurement process.

Suppliers located in Pasco and Huancavelica are considered local suppliers, particularly the community enterprises 
located in the direct area of influence of the Colquijirca and Huancavelica mining units.  As part of the Company’s social 
responsibility practices, it seeks to give preference to local suppliers and contractors, always taking into account that 
technical and financial proposals must meet market supply and demand conditions.

In 2016, El Brocal worked with 857 suppliers and contractors, with transactions totaling approximately 248 million 
dollars.  Most of these are located in Lima.

The Company worked with 77 local suppliers, representing 9% of total suppliers.  These transactions amounted to 
US$ 30 million, representing 12% of the amount of approved purchase orders in 2016.

In addition, El Brocal has agreements with its main contractors to hire qualified and unqualified mining workers 
preferably from the communities neighboring the Colquijirca mining unit.

SUPPLIERS

VALUE CHAIN MANAGEMENT 

DESCRIPTION OF
THE SUPPLY CHAIN

04

0305

0107

0206

Identifying
needs - Purchase
Plan

Selecting
suppliers

Supplier
performance

evaluation

Pre-selecting 
suppliers

Receipt
of goods and 
services

Request for 
quotation

Award and 
contracting 
process

THE SUPPLY CHAIN
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The policies and commitments describing management and follow-up on the good labor practices of suppliers 
include:

• We establish general conditions for proper relations with suppliers as part of our purchase orders and/or service 
orders.

• In agreements entered into with service suppliers, compliance with labor laws are stated as part of the contractor’s 
obligations. The Principles of the Global Compact are also included in the annexes to these contracts or agreements.

In addition to requested documentation, reports issued by risk agencies are used in new supplier evaluations.  In the 
specific case of goods and/or services suppliers, this documentation includes an accreditation certificate assessing 
the following items: organization, financial standing, operating capability, quality management, safety and health 
management, environmental management, client management and social responsibility.

Though the Company does not have formally established policies or procedures for evaluating compliance with labor 
practices by its suppliers and contractors, said practices are audited through review and control activities including 
various areas, such as Occupational Health and Safety, Human Resources, and Accounting:

Occupational Health and Safety performs weekly validations of compliance with workers’ minimum age 
requirements and occupational medical exams.

Human Resources reviews the CVs, educational certificates, work certificates, background checks, life insurance 
and employment contracts of new hires in the specialized companies.

Accounting verifies compliance by contractor companies with labor and tax obligations through physical and/or 
digital documentation accrediting statements/returns and payment of their obligations.  Non-compliance with 
delivery of this information calls for preventive withholding of invoice payments until comments/concerns are 
resolved.  Note that, where labor is concerned, the Company is jointly and severally responsible under the law for 
any contingent non-compliance that may take place.

Local suppliers and specialized and outsourcing companies submit monthly evidence of compliance with labor and tax 
obligations in connection with their employees.  Designated persons in the Company monitor this evidence.

El Brocal seeks to prioritize purchases from suppliers meeting the evaluation criteria, which include accreditation, 
certifications, financial standing, reputation, etc.  In addition, since the Company abides by the Global Compact, it 
promotes eradication of forced, compulsory or unconsented labor by periodically sending suppliers, jointly with their 
contracts and purchase or service orders, the Principles of the Global Compact.  The purpose is to establish clearly 
that compliance with these principles is a requirement and an obligation of the supplier while the contractual 
relationship exists.  Violation or non-compliance with these standards is cause for termination of services.

As to significant suppliers, the risk identified lies in the activities carried out outside El Brocal’s facilities.  Within its 
facilities, the risk is practically non-existent, given the existing controls and supervision over performance of the 
various services.  These significant suppliers, since they are established companies in the market, with a history of 
respecting these rights, directly and properly manage these risks.

The Company engages in activities that contribute to eradication of child labor and forced, compulsory or unconsented 
labor through safety inductions, which are compulsory for all workers of the companies providing services to El Brocal.  
These inductions include reviewing documentation that will allow us to detect any situation involving a risk of forced 
labor or child labor.  The requested documentation includes the National Identity Document (DNI), criminal, police and 
court records, the labor contract with the employee, all-risk insurance, and an occupational medical certificate.

All contracts include, as mentioned previously, the Principles of the Global Compact, which incorporate information on 
human rights, labor regulations, environmental care, and the fight against corruption.

LABOR MANAGEMENT 

HUMAN RIGHTS MANAGEMENT 
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All suppliers and contractors providing goods and/or services in the mine must comply with the environmental 
requirements detailed in the purchase and/or service general conditions, as well as in their contract and respective 
annexes.

Critical suppliers for the business are those that perform mine services. They are required, as part of their contract, to 
fully meet all environmental and occupational health and safety obligations.  Likewise, they are required to act with due 
respect for the environment and execute the necessary impact management according to the Principles of the Global 
Compact stated in their general purchase conditions.

In short, every supplier is required to comply with mining health and safety and environmental regulations; Supreme 
Decree D. S. Nº046-2001-EM; the General Environmental Law, Law # 28611, and the Regulations for Environmental 
Protection in Metallurgic-Mining Activities, Supreme Decree, D.S. Nº 016-93-EM.

It is vitally important for El Brocal to establish and maintain transparent and trusting relationships with populations in 
its area of influence, so that they may consolidate themselves as strategic allies for sustainable development.

El Brocal identified the communities in its area of influence according to its major operational impacts, as established 
and approved in the Environmental Impact Study (EIS), document where positive and negative impacts on 
communities are identified, as well as their respective mitigation and control plans.  Therefore, according to the degree 
of direct impact during the operation’s life cycle, they are qualified as Direct Area of Influence (DAI) or Indirect Area of 
Influence (IAI).

Through this mechanism, a baseline environmental and social study was carried out, jointly with a description of 
operations and their impacts on each area of influence described in the EIS. As a prior step before approval by the 
competent authority, the EIS is presented in informational workshops and meetings with the DAI or IAI populations, as 
applicable.  Community members take part asking questions, making comments, and others, which, if pertinent, are 
incorporated into the final document.

The entirety of El Brocal’s operations is taken into account in the process of developing the EIS, the baseline, area of 
influence determination, and the consultation and agreements with stakeholders, as well as in definition of 
development programs and projects, as applicable, and follow up on agreements and issues.

ENVIRONMENTAL MANAGEMENT 

MANAGEMENT WITH COMMUNITIES

COMMUNITIES

Department Community Name

COMMUNITIES IN THE DIRECT AREA OF INFLUENCE 

District

Pasco

Huancavelica

Santa Rosa de Colquijirca
Centro Poblado Colquijirca
Huaraucaca
Smelter
Villa Pasco
Vicco
Santa Bárbara

Tinyahuarco

Vicco
Huancavelica
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We also carry out activities and arrange with local governments in our areas of influence to execute works that benefit 
the community and/or the Company, in the following areas:

- Environment

- Community training

- Drinking water supply

- Road maintenance

- Others

The most common means of communication include email, letters and written notices (two-way), meetings with 
authorities, attending assemblies, presence at cultural, folklore and sports events, census, surveys and discussions.

Dialogue is constant, for example, the process for preparing this report took into account the communities’ opinion.

El Brocal meets every day with community representatives to discuss various matters and respond to their complaints 
and demands.  With a certain frequency, El Brocal is also present at community assemblies or meetings to discuss 
matters of mutual interest.

Department Community Name

COMMUNITIES IN THE INDIRECT AREA OF INFLUENCE

District

Pasco

Racracancha
Lancari
Centro Poblado Shelby
Cochamarca
Ucrucancha
Sacrafamilia

Tinyahuarco

Vicco

Simón Bolívar

• Priority is given to hiring local labor from communities neighboring our operations

• According to their capacity and experience, contracting with community enterprises in the area of influence is
preferred

• Various types of social support are provided, including house repairs; helping with supply of pipes, corrugated steel
roofing sheets, wood and others; financial support with goods and services (portable toilets) for festivities; building 
graves for community members or dwellers in the DAI who pass away; among others

• Local patronage by purchasing products in local businesses and grocery stores, renting rooms, using restaurant
and hotel services, among others

• Building support infrastructure, such as schools and water systems

• Repairing local paths and roads, and helping communities in related work

• Organizing campaigns, including health, pasture improvement, and animal genetic improvement and health
treatment campaigns

• Organizing workshops on family planning, business improvement, and health prevention

Relación con las comunidades

MECHANISMS FOR DIALOGUE 
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In compliance with the law and with the purpose of maintaining suitable relations with the community, El Brocal 
integrates community decisions and information requests into its management.  For this purpose, to meet their 
expectations and forestall possible impacts, the Company: 

1. Ascertains possible claims and complaints related to the operation;

2. Once a complaint or claim is received, organizes a meeting, whether with the community member directly involved
or with community representatives, according to each case and type of problem, to reach a common solution.

3. A certificate of commitment is prepared, establishing mutual responsibilities, actions to take, and performance
dates.

4. The process of compliance with commitments is followed.

5. In the event of non-compliance, with prior evaluation, applicable corrective measures are taken.

In every action undertaken with communities, the Company follows up considering:

• What opinion the stakeholder has about compliance with the commitment; and

• Monitoring by authorities: OEFA, Organismo de Evaluación y Fiscalización Ambiental (Environmental Assessment
and Auditing Agency) and Osinergmin,5 who also verify compliance with agreements.

In 2016, the Company was not subject to any fine or monetary sanction due to unsatisfactory community relations.

An important value provided by El Brocal has been the creation of working community enterprises.  This has 
channeled the entrepreneurial spirit of the community towards a single community representative, so that having 
countless business initiatives within the same community no longer creates an unmanageable situation, which is the 
source of latent conflict in many mining operations in Peru.  These community businesses provide competitive 
services to our operations, creating value and strategically contributing to maintaining the social viability and 
legitimacy of our activities.

Ecosem Huaraucaca, founded on January 14, 2004, has been gradually growing as a business and is diversifying its 
lines of business.  It currently has 350 employees and provides the following services to El Brocal operations:

- Camp maintenance
- Operational services, including:

· Plant electrical maintenance
· Plant mechanical maintenance
· Plant processes
· Mechanical process
· Ore transportation (Concentrate)
· Area remediation (Environment)
· Civil works
· Transportation of personnel in the operations area
· Meal service for workers
· Hotel (employees for contractors)

- Transportation of personnel to and from El Brocal Colquijirca - Lima - Colquijirca
- Interprovincial passenger transportation Lima - Cerro de Pasco - Lima

REGULATORY COMPLIANCE PROGRAM

STRENGTHENING COMMUNITY ENTERPRISES

5. Organismo Supervisor de la Inversión Privada en Minería y Energía (Private Investment in Mining and Energy Supervisory Agency).
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Ecosem Smelter, founded on June 2, 2003, at present with 186 employees, an El Brocal partner providing the following 
services:

- Copper ore transportation
- Rehandling of the Marcapunta Norte transfer yard to the concentrating plant transfer yard
- Ore feeding to the primary crusher
- Various civil works, such as thermo-fusion, sewage works, among others.

Empresa Comunal Santa Rosa de Colquijirca – ECOSARC, founded on March 14, 2004, in 2016 reached 50 employees, 
presently has 10 employees, providing the following services:

- Environmental remediation
- Civil works
- Heavy machinery rental

Empresa Comunal Inmaculada Concepción de Smelter, founded on December 8, 2008, has 54 employees providing 
various services to El Brocal as required, including:

- Cleaning and maintenance of the Colquijirca camp
- Temporary workers for the contractor JRC
- Collection and transportation of solid waste
- Civil works services

Ecoserm Vicco, founded on October 26, 2010, provides the following services to the company:

- Civil works
- Gutter/drainage channel cleaning and area remediation.

It currently has 52 employees and has been providing services to El Brocal in the Vicco community, within the good 
relations that have resumed in order to promote the development of the San Gregorio Project.

The company respects and participates in activities related to celebration of civic festivities that contribute to the 
preservation of age-old community culture and customs.  Consequently, during the year it has participated in activities 
both in the districts of Tinyahuarco and Vicco, and in neighboring communities.

As part of our social support to the Colquijirca community, we have started the repair of fifteen homes that were in 
critical condition – it has been suggested that as a result of blasting at Tajo Norte.  However, it has been demonstrated 
that their condition was mainly due to building defects and high moisture, mostly from rainwater drainage channels. 

Under the EIS and Mine Closure commitments made by El Brocal to the Peruvian government, the following programs 
were undertaken:

• Health drives for children and adults living in our areas of influence (1,305 patients serviced and healthcare provided
to 6,836 patients)

• Vocational counseling campaigns for students (105 beneficiaries)

• Deworming and hydatidosis prevention campaigns for animals (cattle, sheep, Andean camelids [llamas, alpacas]
and dogs)

• Handcrafting project with mothers of the Colquijirca and Shelby communities, with the participation of 186 mothers

• Handcrafting project for Christmas items in the Santa Rosa de Colquijirca rural community, benefitting 70 mothers

SOCIAL SUPPORT AND RESPECT FOR CULTURE AND CUSTOMS
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